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2011 2013 2016 2016 2017

›  Adventages from network effects and procurment power

›  Continuous savings in key cost items

›  Industry-leading utilisation

›  Successful platooning test in September 2017

›  Driving style analysis and other big data solutions

›  Modern fleet, testing alternative drivetrains

›  Link synergies identified and starting to materialise

›  Searching for targets for the regional segment

›  Margins maintained 

›  Significant increase in all bottom-line metrics

SCale

eFFICIenCY

InnovatIon

ConSolIdatIon

proFItabIlItY

largest european Ftl Fleet

Market-leading Fleet utilisation

developing and applying technology Systems

attractive Consolidation prospects

track record of Strong Financial performance

Creation
of the 
Company

aquisition of
volán tefu in a
privatisation
process

aquisition of
Hungarocamion

aquisition of
wHb Insurance

aquisition of
60% stake in
Szemerey

Initial Mep
investment

Mep acquired
remaining 40.3%
from Mr. waberer

aquisition of
link and Ipo

aquisition  
of révész
eurotrans

between orGanIC and InorGanIC GrowtH

revenue growth on Link acquisition and better 
organic growth

›  Recurring Group ebItda increased by 17%

›  link fully consolidated in H2 2017 figures

In eFFICIenCY MetrICS

value CreatIon For SHareHolderS

›  loaded ratio above 91%

›  Improving per unit repair and maintenance costs

›  epS up by 164%

›  net leverage ratio ratio decreased to 2.7

a brIeF HIStorY

balance

1948 1994 2002 2006

Improvement 

Strong 

year-on-year improvement in fuel consumption

recurring net income increase

HIGHlIGHtS / CoMpanY at a GlanCe
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t 
he year 2017 was an eventful one for 

Waberer’s by all standards: an IPO, a 

major international acquisition, and the 

modernisation of our IT systems have all been 

successfully accomplished, while operations and 

results were steered to meet not only our expec-

tations, but also those of the capital market.

Waberer’s took a huge step this year end, after 

lengthy preparations, we successfully com-

pleted an initial public offering that is consid-

ered the largest in Hungary for almost 20 years. 

We immediately put the funds raised to good use: 

just weeks after we had the IPO proceeds at our 

disposal, we closed the transaction to acquire 

Link, a Polish road transportation company. We 

started the integration process right away to de-

velop Link into the main pillar of our further growth 

in a large European market ripe for consolidation.

We also successfully introduced new IT solu-

tions that can more efficiently use our resources 

and enable a larger degree of scalability. Mean-

while, we continued cooperating with our part-

ners to explore, test, and adopt new technolo-

gies in our operations.

Looking at our financial and operative perfor-

mance, we met expectations across the board. 

The revenue and recurring EBITDA performance 

of the Group showed an increase of 18% and 17%, 

respectively. Just as we outlined in our strategy to 

investors in the IPO process, this growth is based 

in part on the effects of acquisitions and in equal 

part on organic growth. Net income develop-

ments are even more encouraging, as 2017 regis-

tered a 58% growth in net earnings. 

and also plan a 3-digit expansion in the number 

of trucks there. Meanwhile, we are also planning 

to expand on our contract logistics business this 

year through a possible acquisition. At the same 

time, we’ll push on enhancing our IT and other 

systems to improve our efficiency and profitabil-

ity even further.

I am confident that our focus on our compet-

itive advantages based on size and efficiency, 

coupled with a turn towards more technolo-

gy-centric operation and an aspiration to lead 

the consolidation of the industry, continues to be 

the right strategy for Waberer’s. In 2018, we will 

continue pushing integration efforts in Poland 

annual report 2017

MeSSaGe FroM tHe Ceo

05

FerenC lajkó
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our vIewpoIntS

MISSIon

vISIon

with one of europe’s largest and youngest fleets, 
our expert team provides our partners quality 
and customer-oriented logistics solutions at 
competitive prices.

our company is the unquestionable  
leader of european road haulage

our valueS
the following core values and norms are 
incorporated into our company as part of  
waberer’s corporate culture

07

relIabIlItY
we keep our promises

adaptatIon
we adapt quickly and efficiently to the  
challenges of a changing environment

CoMMItMent
because we love  it...

SuStaInabIlItY
we think responsibly about our colleagues, our partners, 
and our natural and social environment in the long term

InnovatIon
we are open, we are constantly looking  
for and developing new solutions

annual report 2017



StrateGY

w aberer’s International Nyrt., Eu-

rope’s leading international road 

haulage company is constantly 

looking for further growth opportunities. A fleet 

of more than 4,300 trucks enables our compa-

ny to meet the needs of our blue-chip custom-

ers in any country of the EU and to provide our 

services at a competitive advantage derived 

from economies of scale and optimisation. Fair 

quality for market-leading capacity at compet-

itive prices is the unique selling point by which 

we serve our more than 3000 blue-chip cus-

tomers every day throughout Europe. 

We operate three businesses with different focus-

es. Waberer’s objective in the International Trans-

portation Segment is to maintain and extend its 

leading position as an owned-vehicle operator 

within the European international FTL segment 

of the market. The strategic goal is to convert our 

competitive advantages in technology and net-

work coverage into more efficiency in a market ever 

more driven by large blue chip customers. In the 

Regional Contract Logistics Segment, the objec-

tive is to maintain our position as the largest logis-

tics service provider in Hungary in terms of revenue 

and to extend our market share in the CEE region. 

To achieve these objectives, we strive to continu-

ously increase our market share and expand the 

Group’s blue-chip customer base by offering high 

quality services at competitive prices. Waberer’s is 

set to achieve this through both organic and inor-

ganic growth to consolidate the highly fragmented 

European full-truckload market. This consolidation 

drive is to be executed in a financially profitable 

way so that shareholder returns will always be in 

focus along the road of expansion. 

ContInue to Grow In SCale and 
Market SHare
The Group intends to continue to grow organically 

by expanding and improving its fleet. In 2017, the 

Group increased its number of trucks by 18% and 

an overwhelming majority of the fleet is now in the 

best EURO 6 category. With particular focus on its 

International Transportation Segment, Waber-

er’s aims to outgrow the European international 

transportation market in terms of revenue and to 

support such growth by increasing its fleet asset 

base to strengthen scale efficiencies. Increas-

es in scale will continue to enhance productiv-

ity in terms of mileage, truckload and volume of 

freight, as well as better customer coverage given 

the higher geographical density of the Group’s 

trucks. In order to retain its most valuable clients, 

the Group operates an effective key account CRM 

system with an annual customer retention rate 

target of 99% or higher, which have ensured and 

will continue to contribute to a sustainable in-

crease in the number and quality of customers. 

Also, the utilisation of the cross-selling potential 

offered by Waberer’s broad portfolio of servic-

es is set to strengthen, with particular focus on  

value added services. Finally, a strategic shift in 

the increase in the volume of freight forwarding 

is targeted, in order to be able to maintain a loyal 

and high-quality group of sub-contractors.

ContInue to drIve InnovatIon 
leaderSHIp and operatIonal 
eFFICIenCY
We intend to improve efficiency through the con-

tinuous improvement of our operations, includ-

ing utilisation and per-cost metrics such as fuel 

consumption. To this end, Waberer’s constantly 

strives to improve its proprietary IT system, in 

particular WIRE and WIPE, which help ensure 

high fleet utilisation and reduced idle time and 

fuel costs. We successfully implemented WIPE 

in 2013 and successfully launched WIRE in Janu-

ary 2016, but with the increase in telemetrics and 

telematics information, these and our other pro-

fessional transportation systems will need to be 

made suitable for big data analysis. In 2017, we 

have taken important steps to increase the scal-

ability of these systems, including introducing 

cloud-based solutions and by starting to replace 

the basic environment of our transportation mon-

itoring systems with SAP, which is more flexible 

and scalable. We also intend to upgrade the distri-

bution trucks used by the regional LTL business to 

newer and more modern vehicles as well as mod-

ernise our international fleet to include trailers 

compatible with multimodal transport. Another 

strategic goal is to increase the use of e-invoicing 
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waberer’S reCoGnISeS 
tHat tHe proFeSSIonal 

drIver workForCe IS one 
oF ItS MoSt valuable 

aSSetS and tHat It 
IS eSSentIal to tHe 

GrowtH oF tHe buSIneSS.
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european
preSenCe

annual report 2017

through selected acquisitions in the CEE region 

with a view to focusing on opportunities which are 

coherent with our growth and margin targets, in 

particular on companies which offer similar types 

of services to the Group.

In the International Transportation Segment, 

Waberer’s is focused on potential acquisitions of 

mid-sized operators in high-growth CEE econ-

omies, primarily in Poland, Czech Republic and 

Slovakia, with operational focus on standard-

ised asset-based operations and strategy co-

herent with the Group, with revenue above EUR 

50 million, equity value between EUR 30 and 

50 million and fleet size larger than 300 trucks. 

In its Regional Transport Logistics Segment, the 

Group is focused on potential acquisitions of 

small to mid-sized logistics providers in high-

growth neighbouring economies, in particular in 

Poland, Slovenia and Slovakia, providing ware-

housing, value-added services and distribution 

services in the FMCG, automotive, electronics or 

retail sectors, with revenue between EUR 20 and 

50 million and equity value up to EUR 50 million. 

While in 2017 the purchase of Link affected main-

ly the international operations, in 2018, Waber-

er’s is considering the acqisition of a company 

for the regional segment. 

The acquisition of Link, closed in July 2017, has 

had a substantial effect on the Group’s expan-

sion strategy. In 2018 and probably in the years 

beyond, most of the nominal organic growth to be 

attained by the Group will most likely be located 

in Poland. As the prerequisites for further expan-

sion are being met during the integration process, 

Waberer’s plan is to use Link – and other acquisi-

tions to come – as platforms for further organic 

expansion. 

onGoInG FoCuS on tHe optIMISatIon 
oF tHe Group’S CoSt baSe 
Waberer’s intends to retain its cost leadership in 

the European international FTL segment of the 

transportation market. Further, the Group plans to 

continue to optimise its cost structure, further uti-

lise scale benefits and maintain best-in-class unit 

cost performance. The aforementioned upgrade 

of proprety IT systems will effectively serve this 

purpose and is expected to yield significant sav-

ings in areas such as fuel consumption, driver cost, 

and repairs and maintenance. 

annual report 2017

to reduce days of sales outstanding and to utilise 

other automatisation techniques to lessen ad-

ministrative burdens. Finally, we will also continue 

our eco-driving training programme with a view 

to educating drivers on how to drive in a manner 

which increases fuel efficiency. This connects well 

with the driving style analysis introduced in the 

third quarter of 2017, which provides customised 

driving efficiency data for individual drivers based 

on telematics data and a self-developed algo-

rithm, enabling analysis and monitoring of differ-

ent driving styles and train drivers accordingly to 

maximise efficiency. The resulting data can be 

used to organise various driving technique training 

programmes by fleet operators to enable drivers 

to use their vehicles better and more efficiently, 

for example in terms of fuel efficiency, repair and 

maintenance or toll costs.

Waberer’s recognises that the professional driver 

workforce is one of its most valuable assets and 

that it is essential to the growth of the business. 

We will continue to focus on the recruitment, train-

ing, and retention of qualified and reliable drivers. 

Waberer’s intends to extend its offer of complex 

driver training programmes both in-house and 

through external courses offered by third party 

service providers and/or the Hungarian govern-

ment. Compensation packages play a large part 

in driver retention, so we introduced a significantly 

increased and driver tailored compensation pack-

age in order to mitigate the effects of the driver 

shortage experienced during the second half of 

2015 and to comply with the applicable provisions 

on minimum wage. Waberer’s plans to continue 

to offer non-monetary benefits to its drivers, such 

as providing trucks equipped with the largest pos-

sible cabin size, flexible rest time schemes, legal 

assistance, eco-driving training, and recreation 

allowances for drivers and their families to have 

the opportunity to holiday at the vacation resort 

maintained by the Group for its employees at the 

popular Hungarian vacation resort on Lake Bala-

ton.

expand operatIonS tHrouGH 
SeleCtIve aCquISItIonS and GrowtH 
InItIatIveS 
One of the key pillars of Waberer’s strategy is to be 

a leading consolidator in the transportation and 

logistics market in which it operates. We intend 

to take an opportunistic approach to expanding 

StrateGY
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FY 2016 FY 2017 Increase  
(decrease)

Revenue 572.4 674.4 17.8%

 Direct costs (451.7) (533.8) (18.2%)

Gross profit 120.7 140.6 16.5%

 OPEX (51.5) (57.8) (12.3%)

 Non-recurring items 4.4 3.0   

EBITDA (recurring) 73.6 85.8 16.6%

 Depreciation and amortisation (52.0) (56.0) (7.8%)

EBIT (recurring) 21.6 29.7 37.8%

 Financial result (3.1) (3.6) (13.7%)

 Taxes (4.9) (4.8) 1.8%

Net income (recurring) 13.6 21.4 57.6%  

Gross margin 21.1% 20.8% (0.2 pp)

EBITDA margin (recurring) 12.9% 12.7% (0.1 pp)

EBIT margin (recurring) 3.8% 4.4% 0.6 pp

Net income margin (recurring) 2.4% 3.2% 0.8 pp

Income Statement (eur m)

G 
roup revenue increased by 18% year-

on-year to EUR 674 million. Roughly 

half of this growth was attributable to 

the positive effect of acquisitions, as the Insur-

ance Company joined the Group in April 2016 and 

Link in July 2017. At the same time, there was con-

siderable organic expansion led by the Regional 

Contract Logistics and Other segments, which 

grew by 27% and 59%, respectively. 

In the International Transportation Segment 

(ITS), there were some difficulties in the first half 

of the year as a simultaneous fall in price level 

and demand could be observed in the European 

market. In the second half of the year, however, 

we started to renegotiate our contracts, which 

resulted in an average increase in price per kilo-

metre of 2% year-on-year. At the same time, we 

saw an increase in demand even in the third quar-

ter of the year. The 27% increase in the Regional 

Contract Logistics (RCL) segment was driven by 

important new customers acquired in the second 

half of 2016, two of the largest and most complex 

of which are the Hungarian branches of Audi and 

Tesco. The Other segment, which includes the 

third party business of the Insurance Company 

fully owned by the Group, showed a revenue in-

crease of 59% year-on-year partly because of 

new customers, and partly because the firm was 

acquired only in the second quarter of 2016, dis-

torting year-on-year comparisons positively.

Looking at the functional split, the share of sub-

contracted revenue has increased by 0.7 per-

centage points to 19.6% as the weight of freight 

forwarding increased both as a strategic goal 

and as a technical result of Link’s consolidation 

as Link has a higher share of revenue generated 

by freight forwarding activities. Another notable 

change was the higher share of the non-trans-

portation related “other” revenue, which is at-

tributable mainly to the acquisition and consol-

idation of the Insurance Company in the second 

quarter of 2016.

Group proFIt For tHe perIod

ManaGeMent CoMMentarY
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ebItda and ebIt
Gross profit rose by 17% year-on-year in 2017 to 

EUR 141 million, corresponding to a 0.1 percent-

age point decrease in the gross profit margin to 

20.8%. Among direct costs, the structure reflect-

ed the rise of the share of non-transportation ac-

tivities such as subcontracted activity in the in-

ternational segment, warehousing in the regional 

segment, and insurance. 

Recurring ebItda grew by 17% to EUR 86 million 

as SG&A expenses and other operating income 

and expenditures changed proportionately with 

revenues. Recurring EBIT was 38% larger than in 

2016 at EUR 30 million mainly because of higher 

EBITDA and that the duration of the lease financ-

ing have increased, which was reflected in a rela-

tively low, 8% growth in depreciation.

Recurring EBITDA and recurring EBIT margins in 

2017 were 0.1 percentage points lower and 0.6 pp. 

higher than in 2016, at 12.7% and 4.4%, respec-

tively. The increase in recurring EBITDA margin 

is partly attributable to improving fuel efficiency 

and administrative cost levels that more than 

offset the margin dilution effects of a changing 

business mix in favour of freight forwarding.

direct wages, benefits and allowances grew 

by 20% to EUR 104 million in 2017 compared to 

2016. This increase was broadly in line with the 

13% increase in the total number of drivers, cou-

pled with a single-digit increase in the ITS and 

double-digit growth in the RCL segment’s driver 

wages.

In 2017, fuel costs amounted to EUR 117 million, 

marking a 12% year-on-year increase. It was driv-

en by a 9% average fuel price increase in the EU 

and increased kilometres driven both in the ITS 

and RCL segments, 7% and 19%, respective-

ly. These effects were mitigated by an average 

2% fuel consumption saving year-on-year due 

to successful initiatives of driving style analysis 

based upon telematics data of individual drivers 

started in the second half of the year.

toll fees and transit costs increased by 18% to 

EUR 111 million in 2017 compared to 2016. This is 

 2016 FY  2017 FY  Increase 
(decrease)

Revenue 572.4  674.4  17.8%

 Direct wages, benefits & allowances (86.6)  (103.7)  (19.8%)

 Fuel cost (104.7)  (117.1)  (11.9%)

 Toll fees & transit costs (94.2)  (111.0)  (17.8%)

 Cost of trucking subcontractors (93.1)  (117.8)  (26.4%)

 Reinsurance fee (12.4) (16.0) (29.2%)

 Cost of goods sold (13.6) (10.1) 25.8%

 Repair & maintenance (12.4) (16.0) (29.2%)

 Insurance costs (24.4) (25.5) (4.8%)

 Direct rent (5.4) (5.6) (3.1%)

 Other contracts (1.6) (2.1) (30.3%)

 Vehicle weight tax (1.9) (2.1) (12.7%)

 Net gain on fleet sales 3.7  4.0  6.8%

Gross profit 120.7  140.6  16.5%

 Indirect wages & benefits (27.6)  (34.2)  (23.7%)

 Other services (18.3)  (19.5)  (6.5%)

 Other operating income 5.1  8.9  76.2%

 Other operating expense (10.6)  (13.1)  (22.9%)

 Non-recurring items 4.4  3.0  (32.1%)

Recurring EBITDA 73.6  85.8  16.6%

Group revenue, cost items,  
and ebItda in 2016 and 2017 (eur m)

ManaGeMent CoMMentarY
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Functional split of Group revenue

15

2016 2017

0 0100 100

Own fleet revenue

Subcontractor revenue

Other revenue

Own fleet revenue

Subcontractor revenue

Other revenue

68.9% 66.1%

12.2%

14.4%

18.9% 19.6%

Changes in the income statement reporting structure
As evident from the audited figures on pages 48-123, the structure of the income statement is slightly different when 
compared to the quarterly reports or the IPO Prospectus. This change was a result of discussions with important 
stakeholders, including our stock market investors, and presents a more detailed set of information:
-  Revenue is split between not only segments, but there is also a functional split included so that revenue generated 

by our own asset and subcontractor revenue can be differentiated. Other revenue include hedging in the Interna-
tional Transportation Segment and non-transportation revenue such as warehousing or packaging in the Regional 
Contract Logistics Segment. 

-  The split of direct costs is also different as this Annual Report displays a more detailed analysis of the costs affecting 
the Group.

These changes affect the structure of the income statement, but can be corresponded with the split in the quarterly 
reports (see figure below), although there are certain differences in the correspondence. The change also had minor 
influence on the cost elements below and above gross profit for 2016, but had no effect on EBITDA, EBIT, and other 
IFRS and non-IFRS profit metrics. It is our intention to continue quarterly reporting based on the structure hitherto 
used in our quarterly reports, while annual reports shall include a more detailed split such as the one below. 

link between direct cost structure as presented  
in quarterly and annual reports

Cost of goods sold

Direct wages, benefits & allowances

Fuel costs

Toll fees and transit costs

Cost of subcontractors and reinsurance fee

Other costs

Cost of goods sold

Direct wages, benefits & allowances

Fuel costs

Toll fees and transit costs

Cost of trucking subcontractors

Reinsurance fee

Repair & maintenance

Insurance costs

Direct rent

Other contracts

Vehicle weight tax and other transport related taxes

dIreCt CoSt StruCture  
In 2017 quarterlY reportS

dIreCt CoSt StruCture  
In tHe annual report
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CaSH Flow
Cash from operating activities was EUR 84 

million in 2017 as compared to EUR 71 million in the 

same period last year, mainly due to a significant 

increase in EBITDA that more than compensated 

for a significantly higher demand for working cap-

ital. 

Cash used in investing and financing activi-
ties increased to EUR 57 million for 2017 as a re-

sult of the Link acquisition and higher total lease 

payments on an enlarged fleet, as well as higher 

capital expenditure for IT solutions, which were 

not fully offset by IPO proceeds. Total cash and 

cash equivalents grew by EUR 27 million in 2017. 

Free cash flow, which incorporates cash flow 

from operations, capital expenditures, and ele-

ments of the lease-based financing of the fleet, 

decreased slightly to EUR 75 million in 2017.

debt
Debt figures showed a notable nominal increase 

due to the consolidation of Link in the third quarter 

of 2017, which added EUR 39 million to the Group’s 

leverage. Due to better operations and working 

capital management, debt showed a strong se-

quential decrease in the fourth quarter and de-

creased to EUR 235 million. net leverage ratio, a 

multiple of rolling recurring EBITDA including Link 

only from July 1, 2017, decreased to 2.7 from 2.9 a 

year earlier and 3.4 at end-September. Fleet refi-

nancing costs remained below a 1.7% implied rate.

2016 FY 2017 FY

Net cash flows from (used in)  
operating activities

71.2 84.5

 of which: change in working   
    capital

1.4 (5.0)

Net cash flows from (used in)  
investing and financing 
activities

 (49.9) (57.1)

Change in cash and cash 
equivalents 

 21.2 27.3

Free Cash Flow 75.7 74.8

CAPEX  (4.9) (11.9)

Cash Flow Statement (eur m) 

Indebtedness figures (eur m) 

dec. 31, 
2016

dec. 31, 
2017

Net financial indebtedness 211.4 234.7

Net leverage ratio (recurring 
EBITDA multiple)

2.9 x 2.7 x 

Group CaSH Flow and debt

ManaGeMent CoMMentarY

attributable to a 13% year-on-year rise in distance 

covered, a single-digit rise in the per kilometre 

transit costs for each segment, and the effect of 

Link’s different transportation mix which included 

a higher proportion of intermodal transportation. 

The 26% year-on-year growth in cost of truck-
ing subcontractors to EUR 118 million in 2017 

mainly reflects the change of business mix re-

sulting from the Link acquisition, while the in-

crease in the weight of freight forwarding in the 

Hungarian operations continued in line with the 

overall strategy.

Cost of goods sold fell by 26% to EUR 10 mil-

lion on lower volumes of transit and toll services 

resold to subcontractor partners. The less than 

5% rise in repair and maintenance costs re-

flects the effect of a 12% larger fleet mitigated 

by 5% better per kilometre cost efficiency as a 

result of mainly capitalising on the data from 

the captive insurance company. Similarly, there 

were significant savings in the per truck insur-

ance-related costs that led to a mild 5% rise in 

insurance costs. The rise in direct rent and 
other contracts mainly reflected the expan-

sion in the Regional Contract Logistics segment’s 

non-transportation services. net gain on fleet 
sales improved by 7% due to the slightly more 

vehicle replacements than in 2016. 

Indirect wages and benefits and other ser-
vices increased by 23% and by 7% to EUR 34 

million and EUR 20 million, respectively. other 

operating income marked a 44% increase to 

EUR 9 million, and other operating expense 

increased by 21% to EUR 13 million.

new MeMber In tHe Group: lInk 
We managed to close our latest international ac-

quisition successfully in July 2017. After the take-

over, our Polish operation recorded a consider-

able sequential improvement in performance, 

reflected in the marked growth in EBITDA to EUR 

3.8 million in the final quarter of 2017 (our third 

quarter EBITDA was EUR 1.8 million). The signif-

icant improvement in Link’s operational perfor-

mance was driven by the beneficial effects of 

continued integration, which remains on track 

for completion by the end of 2018. While efforts 

to coordinate procurement and sales have yield-

ed immediate results, full IT integration will be 

achieved in the course of 2018.

net InCoMe
In 2017, financial result deteriorated by EUR 0.5 

million compared to 2016. There was a positive 

one-off effect of EUR 1.4 million*  in 2017 as an 

unrealised FX difference on Link’s leases denom-

inated in EUR but converted to PLN on a favour-

able exchange rate. The interest portion of the 

financial result was nominally lower than that of 

last year as the amount of debt was higher but 

the implied interest rate was lower at 1.7% in 2017 

as compared to 2.2% in 2016. 

Group ebIt, financial result, tax,  
and net income in 2016 and 2017 (eur m)

 2016 FY  2017 FY  Increase  
(decrease)

Recurring EBIT 21.6  29.7  37.8%

 Financial result (3.1)  (3.6)  (13.7%)

Profit before tax 14.0  23.2  65.0%

 Income taxes (4.9)  (4.8)  1.8%

Recurring net income 13.6  21.4  57.6%

 Non-recurring items (4.4)  (3.0)  

Net income 9.2  18.4  100.4%

Attributable to:

 Shareholders of the company 6.2  18.2  192.5%

 Minorities 2.9  0.1  (94.9%)

Number of shares (millions) 14.5  16.0  10.7%

EPS (EUR/share) 0.43  1.14  164.2%

annual report 2017
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Despite significantly higher profit before tax, 

income tax decreased by EUR 0.1 million. The 

main reason was a one-off positive effect in 

2017 amounting to EUR 2.5 million as the re-

covery of deferred tax assets was reviewed 

and more positive outlook enabled some of 

these assets to be recognised. Recurring net 
income increased strongly by 58% compared 

to the previous year. This was mainly due to the 

significant rise in EBIT. diluted earnings per 
share showed a substantial growth of 164% to  

EUR 1.14 in 2017.

*The Group recorded a non-realized foreign exchange gain on the revaluation 
of the leasing liabilities of Link at EUR 1.4 million. IAS 21 paragraph 39 includes 
the general rule on the treatment of foreign exchange differences. Paragraph 40 
provides an opportunity for its simplification and based on that the Group made 
this revaluation on the balance sheet items at the foreign exchange rate at year-
end and the annual profit at the annual average rate. It is in line with the Group’s 
accounting policies and resulted the above gain at EUR 1.4 million.

Basic and diluted earnings per share (net income attributable.to shareholders per share)
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revenue 

International Transportation Segment reve-
nue increased by 13% to EUR 512 million in 2017 

versus 2016. The highest year-on-year revenue 

growth occurred in the third and fourth quarter 

of the year. Although the acquisition effect of 

Link contributed most of the year-on-year rise, 

organic growth was also strong as the initiative 

of price increases that started in the third quar-

ter and continued into the last quarter of 2017, 

raising per kilometre revenue by 2% on a year-

over-year basis and by 5% in the fourth quarter 

of 2017 compared to the same period in 2016. 

Truck numbers increased to 3,304 and total 

kilometres increased by 7% in 2017. 

ebItda
ITS gross profit increased by 9% in 2017 to 

EUR 102 million compared to 2016, marking a 

0.6 percentage point decrease in gross mar-

gin to 19.8%. Recurring ebItda grew by 9% to 

EUR 62 million in the same period with a sta-

ble margin of 12 percentage points. Roughly 

half of the change in EBITDA is attributable to 

the inclusion of Link. Improving EBITDA margin 

reflects the higher price levels achieved in ten-

ders and better cost management that offset 

the margin dilution effect of higher share of 

freight forwarding as a result of the Link acqui-

sition.

Among the key cost lines, direct wages, ben-
efits & allowances showed a 16% rise in 2017 

compared to last year as the number of truck 

drivers rose by 11% and driver wages were 

raised by mid-single digit percentage from the 

beginning of the year. 

Fuel cost rose by 8% in 2017 due to the com-

bination of a rise in fuel prices that averaged 

year-on-year 9% in the European Union, and 

a 7% increase in kilometre run. These effects 

were mainly offset by the implementation of 

efficiency measures and decreasing fuel con-

sumption, thus the fuel price per litre was in-

creased only by 7% compared to the last year.

toll fees and transit costs in 2017 increased 

by 14% compared to the previous year to EUR 

92 million. This effect was mainly the result of 

the combination of 14% higher per kilometre 

International transportation Segment p&l data (eur m)

 
2016 FY 2017 FY Increase 

(decrease)

Revenue 451.4 511.6 13.3%

 Direct costs (358.3) (410.1) (14.5%)

Gross profit 93.1 101.5 9.1%

 OPEX (40.9) (42.9) (4.9%) 

 Non-recurring items 4.4 3.0  

EBITDA (recurring) 56.5 61.6 9.2%

Gross margin 20.6% 19.8% (0.8 pp)

EBITDA margin (recurring) 12.5% 12.0% (0.5 pp)

Average number of truck drivers 4,074 4,524 11.0%

Average number of trucks 2,970 3,304 11.2%

Average age of trucks (years)  2.1 2.3 9.9%

Loaded ratio 91.6% 91.4% (0.2 pp)

Fuel consumption (litres per 100 km) 30.0 29.3 (2.3%)

Transportation days 247.2 242.4 (1.9%)

InternatIonal  
tranSportatIon SeGMent

thanks to high efficiency, waberer’s fuel price  
was 5% below the eu price on average in 2017

Fuel consumption decreased by 2% in 2017 thanks  
to success of driving-style analysis initiatives

Year-over-Year average fuel price percentage change
Source: European Commission Weekly Oil Bulletin, company data

Fuel consumption (litre per 100 km)
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toll fees as a result of higher intermodal activ-

ity and a 7% increase in kilometres driven as a 

result of Link’s inclusion in the Group and more 

orders from clients. 

ItS revenue, cost items,  
and ebItda in 2016 and 2017 (eur m)

Cost of trucking subcontractors increased 

by 29% to EUR 89 million as a result of the 

higher forwarding activities in the Group due to 

acquisition effects and more reliance on freight 

forwarding in the business mix.

reMaInInG well-dIverSIFIed 

ManaGeMent CoMMentarY

Country split

Customer concentration

Industry split

InternatIonal 
tranSportatIon SeGMent 
revenue InCreaSed bY 13%  
to eur 512 MIllIon In 2017, 
verSuS 2016.
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  2016  2017  Increase  
(decrease)

Revenue  451.4  511.6  13.3%

 Direct wages, benefits & allowances  (75.5)  (87.4)  (15.8%)

 Fuel cost  (95.9)  (103.8)  (8.3%)

 Toll fees & transit costs  (80.6)  (91.6)  (13.7%)

 Cost of trucking subcontractors  (69.3)  (89.2)  (28.7%)

 Reinsurance fee  (1.0)  (1.2)  (24.3%)

 Cost of goods sold  (13.7)  (15.9)  (15.9%)

 Repair & maintenance  (10.1)  (12.2)  (20.9%)

 Insurance costs  (12.7)  (9.8)  22.7%

 Direct rent  (1.3)  (1.1)  19.8%

 Other contracts  (0.4)  (0.4)  (17.4%)

 Vehicle weight tax  (1.6)  (1.7)  (9.9%)

 Net gain on fleet sales  3.6  4.2  16.1%

Gross profit  93.1  101.5  9.1%

 Indirect wages & benefits (21.4) (25.0) (16.8%)

 Other services (13.7) (14.9) (8.8%)

 Other operating income 3.7 7.3 95.9%

 Other operating expense (9.6) (10.4) (8.2%)

 Non-recurring items 4.4 3.0 (31.9%)

Recurring EBITDA 56.4 61.6 9.2%
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reGIonal ContraCt loGIStICS

regional Contract logistics p&l data (eur m) 

rCl revenue, cost items, and ebItda in 2016 and 2017 (eur m)

 2016 2017 Increase
(decrease)

Revenue 98.0 124.5 27.1%

Direct costs (73.5) (90.8) (23.4%)

Gross profit 24.5 34.0 38.8%

OPEX (11.4) (16.7) (45.7%)

EBITDA 13.0 17.3 32.7%

Gross margin 25.0% 27.3% 2.3 pp

EBITDA margin 13.3% 13.9% 0.6 pp

Average number of truck drivers 719 869 20.9%

Average number of trucks 580 674 16.2%

Fuel consumption (litres per 100 km) 28.3 28.6 0.9%

Warehousing capacity  
(1,000 square metres)

169 192 14.1%

Revenue per used m2 of warehouse 
capacity (EUR/yr)

28.3 28.6 0.9%

revenue
revenue in the Regional Contract Logistics 

segment increased by 27% to EUR 124 million in 

2017 versus last year. The expansion of the truck 

fleet remained stable in the segment with 16% 

increase compared to the previous year. Growth 

relied mainly on truck fleet expansion and ware-

housing thanks to the robust demand of clients. 

The highest year-on-year growth occurred in the 

first two quarters of 2017. At the same time, year-

on-year growth figures slowed in the last two 

quarters of 2017 as the large wave of expansion 

occurred in the final quarters of 2016 and in the 

beginning of 2017. There is constrained room for 

further growth in the domestic market with typi-

cally 3-year contracts. 

ebItda
Gross profit rose by 37% year-on-year in 2017 to 

EUR 34 million with gross margin increasing by 2.3 

percentage points to 27%. ebItda increased by 

33% year-on-year in 2017 to EUR 17 million, with 

margin increase of 0.6 percentage points to 14%. 

Regarding the main direct cost items, direct 
wages, benefits & allowances rose by 47% 

year-over-year as a result of a 21% increase in 

truck drivers and a 14% rise in per kilometre driv-

er cost. Fuel cost was also significantly higher 

mainly due to the total kilometres run increasing 

by 19% in the RCL segment and a 7% increase in 

fuel prices.

Cost of subcontractors increased mainly in 

line with higher freight forwarding activity. 
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  2016  2017  Increase  
(decrease)

Revenue  98.0  124.5  27.1%

 Direct wages, benefits & allowances  (11.1)  (16.3)  (47.2%)

 Fuel cost  (8.8)  (13.4)  (52.2%)

 Toll fees & transit costs  (13.9)  (19.7)  (41.8%)

 Cost of trucking subcontractors  (25.1)  (29.4)  (17.1%)

 Reinsurance fee  (0.1)  (0.1)  (72.6%)

 Cost of goods sold  (5.1)  (2.8)  45.4%

 Repair & maintenance  (2.7)  (2.8)  (4.7%)

 Insurance costs  (1.1)  0.0  103.2%

 Direct rent  (4.0)  (4.1)  (2.9%)

 Other contracts  (1.4)  (1.7)  (24.6%)

 Vehicle weight tax  (0.3)  (0.4)  (25.4%)

 Net gain on fleet sales  0.0  0.1  (162.5%)

Gross profit 24.5 34.0 (38.8%)

 Indirect wages & benefits (5.4) (8.0) (48.6%)

 Other services (5.9) (7.5) (26.1%)

 Other operating income 0.8 1.4 (63.4%)

 Other operating expense (1.0) (2.6) (163.6%)

EBITDA 13.0 17.3 32.7%
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other segment p&l data* (eur m) 

otHer SeGMent

 
 

FY 2016 FY 2017 Increase
(decrease)

Revenue  31.9 50.6 58.6%

Direct costs  (26.9) (43.3) (61.1%)

Gross profit  5.0 7.3 45.6%

OPEX  (1.0) (0.4) 63.8%

EBITDA  4.0 6.9 74.0%

Gross margin  15.7% 14.4% (1.3 pp)

EBITDA margin  12.4% 13.6% 1.2 pp

Other segment, which includes, among others, 

the third-party customers of the Insurance arm of 

the Group, developed nicely during the year. rev-
enue increased by 59% to EUR 51 million in 2017 

versus 2016. Mainly client acquisitions drove the 

rise in revenue over the course of 2017.

Although other segment profitability showed 

some volatility during the year, mainly in line 

with the pace of damage claim processing, 

ebItda rose significantly to EUR 7 million, and 

the EBITDA margin increased by 1.2 percentage 

points to 13.6%.

The Group’s strategy related to the insurance 

business remains unchanged. The captive insur-

er role was the main reason Waberer’s invested 

in the business and synergies based on damage 

data are being exploited. The third-party busi-

ness continues to be a non-core activity for the 

Group.

damage statements filed online

complaints

annual report 2017
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FaCtS and FIGureS

number of orders increased by 7% compared to the previous year.

Number of orders (total per year)

kilometres run reached 58 milion in 2017, which was a 39%  
increase compared to the previous year.

Kilometres (million per year)

number of orders per day reached 7,900 in the rCl segment.

Orders per day

Weight (tonnes per year)

transported tonnes per year increased by 39% year-on-year.
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*Since the insurance company was consolidated from April 1, 2016, year-to-date figures for 2016 do not include the first quarter results of the Insurance Company. 
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t 
he Group’s business is characterised 

by industry-leading operational perfor-

mance and efficiency. This is largely a 

result of its internally developed bespoke IT sys-

tem, which complements its fully-standardised 

modern fleet, an integrated inhouse maintenance 

and insurance model, and a motivating manage-

ment business model. The Group’s proprietary 

‘‘Waberer’s Intelligent Routing Engine’’ (‘‘WIRE’’) 

system, which was implemented in January 2016, 

calculates the optimal route between pickup 

and delivery points, taking into consideration el-

ements such as costs or the minimum rest time 

requirements for drivers. In addition, the Group’s 

proprietary ‘‘Waberer’s Intelligent Planning En-

gine’’ (‘‘WIPE’’) IT system, which was implement-

ed in 2013, helps to optimally match free truck ca-

pacity with the orders received from customers 

to maximise loaded ratio. These systems were 

finetuned during the course of 2017 and better 

operability was achieved to enhance compliabil-

ity with state-of-the art BI systems like SAP.

aStrata
The International Transportation Segment is sup-

ported by Astrata, a system that combines GPS 

positioning and wireless communications with 

drivers and geographical information technology, 

and enables the Group to monitor, track, trace and 

control the movement and status of its trucks.

webeYe
The Group’s Regional fleet has been supported by 

WebEye’s telematics systems since 2010. All Group 

telematics and monitoring services provided by 

WebEye are integrated into the existing enterprise 

management system. Big data predictive analytics 

help spot trends and deviations to help make im-

mediate decisions on a management level.

e-proCureMent- eleCtool Fluenta
In order to increase the administrative efficiency 

of procurement and to ensure the most favorable 

supplier condition, Waberer’s procurement team is 

working to provide the widest range of product and 

service portfolios thorough framework contracts 

based on competitive tenders.

To further enhance Waberer’s procurement pro-

cess the company has introduced a new IT system  

called Electool Fluenta. This new system will make 

the procurement process more transparent, and 

more regulated. The application provides a unified 

procurement framework to provide high-quality 

service while also enabling through auditing of pro-

curement tenders.

With the introduction of this new electronic tender-

ing system, paper-based administration has been 

significantly reduced. Using Fluenta’s existing and 

continuously expanding database, Waberer’s can 

expand the list of partners invited to tender to al-

about platooning:
Truck platooning is the linking of up to five trucks in a convoy, using connectivity (dedicated short-range communica-
tions) technology and automated driving support systems. These vehicles automatically maintain a set, close dis-
tance between each other when they are connected for certain parts of a journey, for instance on motorways. The 
truck at the head of the platoon acts as the leader (determines speed, direction, etc.), with the vehicles behind reacting 
and adapting to changes in its movement – requiring little to no action from drivers. 
Truck platooning can significantly lower fuel consumption and CO2 emissions, given that trucks can drive closer to-
gether, the air-drag friction is reduced significantly. Platooning also optimizes transport by using roads more effective-
ly, delivering goods faster, and reducing traffic jams and allowing drivers to undertake other tasks or start rest time.

Besides platooning and autonomous driving, Waberer’s strongly believes that alternative powertrains offer great 
potential in domestic and even medium to long distance transportation (both from economic and environmental 
considerations). Therefore, as a next big step, in early 2018, Waberer’s is planning to start third-party discussions with 
major European truck manufacturers and fuel providers about available trucks with alternative powertrains and nec-
essary “fueling” infrastructure. Waberer’s short to medium term plans are to test alternative (LNG, CNG, electric) pow-
ered vehicles in real life scenarios and based on the data/feedback from live tests, establish an alternative fueled pilot 
fleet within the next 12-18 months.

Waberer’s medium-term plans are to participate in the “Logistics 4.0 innovative development program”, in key areas 
such as Smart Warehousing & e-logistic systems development and robotic supported repair & maintenance.

InnovatIon
annual report 2017
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low our company to take advantage of price com-

petition and achieve the lowest possible purchase 

prices, while ensuring the diversity of available 

products and services.

Considering Waberer’s size and its wide range of 

activities, the key features of the new e-procure-

ment system are particularly beneficial. It not only 

enhances procurement processes and supports 

our partners, but it also helps achieve a more trans-

parent tendering system and shorter lead times.

platoonInG
Waberer’s is continuously seeking out innovation 

and cutting-edge solutions in the freight transpor-

tation industry, simply to keep our leading position 

and to give appropriate feedback to dynamic mar-

ket changes as early as possible. In line with our ear-

lier engagement in September 2017, we organised 

the first truck platooning live traffic test in the CEE 

region, in cooperation with Volvo Trucks Europe. 

Sap
The Group has started the process of replacing its 

IRS transportation and forwarding system with

SAP’s Transportation Management system. The 

SAP system uses latest technology and a clear 

functional architecture. The system is out-of-

the-box, with standard functions available in the 

early phase of implementation, and integrates 

with the SAP ERP system. The new system is 

able to process more data with fewer manual in-

puts than the previous system, offers advanced 

analytical tools, allows for integration of newly 

acquired businesses more easily and efficiently, 

and also requires fewer edge applications. Man-

agement expects the new system to enable hu-

man resources to be utilised in a more efficient 

manner, to speed up fuel approval and posting, 

insurance management of the Group’s fleet, and 

to simplify the running of multivariate payroll 

accounting while also making completion and 

transportation administration easier.

As part of the project, the SAP S / 4 HANA system 

adds additional logistical capabilities. It also adds 

the application map of Waberer’s up-to-date SAP 

Cloud Platform based CRM and driver settlement 

applications. SAP BI applications are used to report 

and analyze data quickly and efficiently. The SAP 

TMS project also covers the integration of a stra-

tegic competitive advantage with design and route 

planning engines, as well as telematic and teleme-

tric data which will be exploited in SAP BI systems.

By the end of 2018, after functional testing, the SAP 

TMS system will be ready to go live.

InnovatIon 

EUR million saved on  
140+ million litres of fuel

thousand tyres used

annual report 2017

truCk platoonInG IS 
tHe lInkInG oF up to FIve 
truCkS In ConvoY, uSInG 

ConneCtIvItY teCHnoloGY 
and autoMated drIvInG 

Support SYSteMS.

29



30 // 

I n June 2017, Waberer’s International priced 

its initial public offering (IPO) at 5,100 for-

ints per share, valuing it at HUF 90.2 mil-

lion (EUR 291 million) in Budapest’s biggest 

stock market debut for nearly two decades. 

Citigroup, Berenberg, Erste Group and Renais-

sance Capital acted as advisers on the offering.

EUR 32 million of the EUR 45 million in net new 

capital raised was used to fund the purchase of 

Link, a Polish logistics company, with the remain-

der used for “general corporate purposes”.

InveStor enGaGeMent
During the IPO project in June, the company man-

agement participated in a Road Show which cov-

ered seven cities in Europe and the USA. Subse-

quently, company officials visited 8 events and 

met with a total of more than 100 international 

ainvestors in order to educate the market about 

the Company.

SHareHolder StruCture
The main shareholder is B.V. CEE Transport Hold-

co S. á.r.l. with 72% of the shares. Another portion 

of 16% is held by domestic and foreign institution-

al investors. The share of retail investors is 10%.

analYStS
Waberer’s has analyst coverage from five 

research houses. Citi, Erste, Raiffeisen, 

Reaissance Capital, and Wood & Company, all 

assigned by recommendations.

bét award
The BÉT Legek (Best of BSE 2017) Awards Gala 

is one of the key events for the Hungarian capi-

tal market. This year, outstanding performance 

on the stock exchange in 2017 were recognised 

in 13 categories based on market performance 

and the decisions of a professional panel. 

Waberer’s International Nyrt. was named stock 

issuer of the year.

annual report 2017

 InveStor relatIonS

Share price

Waberer’s share price decreased by 8.27%, from HUF 5,125 on the first day of trading on 6th of 

July 2017 to HUF 4,701 on the last day of trading in 2017. Market capitalisation at the end of the year 

amounted to HUF 83.18 billion.
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Information on waberer’s International nyrt. Series „a” ordinary shares

Markets listed
Trading segment
BSE ticker
Xetra code

Budapest Stock Exchange (BSE)
Equities Prime Market
WABERERS
WABS

ISIN
Reuters ticker
Bloomberg ticker

HU0000120720
WABE.hu
WABERERS HB

05. 2017 06. 2017 07. 2017 08. 2017 09. 2017 10. 2017 11. 2017 12. 2017

5 200

3 900

2 600

1 300

0

(HuF)



32 // 

annual report 2017

 InveStor relatIonS

the shareholder structure of 
waberer’s International nyrt,  
as of october 25, 2017

Treasury shares

Domestic and foreign institutional investors

Domestic retail investors, private individuals

CEE Transport Holding B.V.

1.5%

16.5%

72.0%

10.0%
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Investor relations Contact
The Investor Relations Department is at your disposal:

Márton teremi, CFa
Investor Relations Director

dániel kelemen
Investor Relations Analyst

tel.: +36 1 421 6300 

e-MaIl: investor.relations@waberers.com
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I n 2017, Waberer’s put special emphasis on 

the importance of ensuring and developing 

human resources. As our activities are highly 

HR-related, it is crucial that we succeed in the field 

of recruitment and development of labour and on 

strengthening our position as competitive em-

ployers. We have formulated our processes and 

updated our systems to serve this goal.

In recent years, the expectation to use of tradition-

al methods of personnel management effectively 

has been complemented by the need to retain the 

workforce. Waberer’s strives for an efficient em-

ployment management system that enables their 

employees to create long-term opportunities and 

motivating conditions. A strategic HR goal is now 

to reduce fluctuation and retain employees, since 

finding new staff is becoming more and more dif-

ficult in the ever-shrinking labour market environ-

ment.

In that context, it is a remarkable result that 

the driver churn rate in the International Trans-

portation Segment significantly decreased 

over the past three years, from 52.5% in 2015, 

40.8% in 2016 to 37% in 2017. It is an important 

achievement that this indicator fell by 2.7 per-

centage points compared to the 2016 figure for 

the total driver workforce. For office workers, 

the decrease in churn was even more dramatic 

as the group-level fluctuation index of 34.4% 

fell to 23.2% in 2017, showing a 11.2 percentage 

point year-on-year improvement.

In addition to retaining employees, it is also im-

portant for the company to be intensively and 

efficiently present on the labour market, there-

by recruiting the workforce most tailored to its 

needs. In 2017, many of our HR actions aimed to 

reach the target groups that are relevant to us 

and make the company attractive to them. The 

effectiveness of this work is well demonstrated 

by the fact that, despite the gradual decrease,  

but still relatively high fluctuation, we were able 

to provide the necessary workforce throughout 

the year, even for the highly sought driver and 

other complex logistics positions. In addition, 

our focus was on maintaining and continuously 

improving our valuable staff through our pur-

poseful actions.

Our personnel strategy will continue to follow the 

guideline for our group to adapt quickly and effec-

tively to the accelerated and radical changes in 

the external workforce environment. Our goal is to 

create an employer image that is appealing to all 

of our relevant employee groups. Furthermore, we 

continue to strive to provide our existing employ-

ees with a long-term, attractive perspective, thus 

creating a stable and loyal team in the company.

HuMan reSourCeS
annual report 2017
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w 
aberer’s International Nyrt. 

is committed to sustainable 
development. As part of our 

Sustainability Policy, we focus on social re-
sponsibility and environmental protection, 

environmentally sustainable operation, as 

well as continuous compliance with legisla-

tion in place for the protection of the human 

and natural environment. In addition, for eco-
nomic sustainability we use the latest devel-

opments in haulage, forwarding and logistics 

in our operation.

SuStaInable operatIon For tHe 
proteCtIon oF our envIronMent
An important part of our operation in terms 

of environmental sustainability is the contin-

uous rationalisation of our energy consump-
tion. We strive for energy efficiency through 

the constant renewal of our young vehicle 

fleet, the purchase of vehicles with the most 

up-to-date euro 6 engines and the training 

of our drivers. Waberer’s drivers take part in 

driving technique trainings to promote safe 

and fuel-saving work performance. The 

cost-cutting driving technique also contrib-

utes to achieving one of the main sustaina-

bility goals of Waberer’s, which is the reduc-

tion of the environmental impacts caused by 

its operation. 

The company’s environmental management 

system complies with the EN ISO14001 stand-

ard while its energy management system is in 

compliance with the ISO50001:2011 standard. 
As specified by the standards, we constantly 

monitor and analyse our environmental im-

pacts and energy consumption, as well as 

ensure that the environmental impact of our 

activities is kept to minimum.

For many years, Waberer’s has been a com-

mitted supporter and user of developments 

through which it can reduce its ecological 
footprint. Last year, with the same purpose 

we launched our intermodal project to com-

bine the benefits of truck freight and rail freight 

transport. Special railway wagons designed 

for this purpose can quickly and easily take 

the cargo from fully loaded trucks. Waberer’s 

has the capacity to further increase the num-

ber of intermodal freight transport trips and 

the transported volume in the future. 

We implemented a complex digitisation pro-
cess in 2017, as part of which we introduced a 

self-developed resource optimisation system 

that not only helps with more efficient freight 

transport but also saves on-board informa-

tion data for our entire fleet. This way we can 

optimise the routes of our vehicles, avoiding 

unnecessary mileage. 

Technological developments such as self-driv-
ing truck convoys, e-truck testing and robotics 

development all help to make road haulage 

more secure, greener and more efficient, and 

through cooperation with our partners in this 

activity, we take a pioneering role in imple-

menting the most advanced technologies into 

processes. We believe that, through technolog-

ical advances, we can achieve fuel efficiency 

in road transport that matches or even exceeds 

that in rail transport in the future.

waberer’S SoCIal CoMMItMent
Waberer’s is driven by its corporate values, 
namely innovation, reliability, commitment, 
adaptability and the need for sustainability 

during its CSR activities. Therefore we es-

pecially support communities and initiatives 

that serve the education of disadvantaged, 

children and the preservation of their health, 
as well as the protection of our environment. 

Higher education institutions and founda-

tions also receive regular donations from our 

support funds. We consider it important to 

provide assistance in crisis situations and we 

are happy to participate in animal protection 

initiatives in order to help protect wildlife in 

our surrounding environment.

In addition to creating a CSR Policy, Waberer’s 

established a CSr Group that holds meetings 

on a regular basis, carrying out tasks related 

to environmental protection, business ethics, 

sustainable procurement and social support. 

SuStaInabIlItY
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waberer’S HaS been a  

CoMMItted Supporter and 
uSer oF developMentS 

tHrouGH wHICH It Can  
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FootprInt.
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our work wItH tHe InternatIonal 
CHIldren’S SaFetY ServICe 
In 2017, we supported the activities of the Inter-

national Children’s Safety Service, which works 

to improve the living conditions of physically and 

intellectually impaired, orphaned and disadvan-

taged children in multiple areas. After assessing 

the needs of the International Children’s Safety 

Service, we donated the most modern ambu-

lance in Hungary to the organisation. With our 

support, the service also travels with a special 

cancer screening truck to the furthest corners 

of the country, to provide regular screenings for 

residents with difficult access to health services. 

Waberer’s has assumed all the maintenance and 

running costs of the truck specially converted for 

the performance of gynaecological screenings, 

as well as of its preparations visit to various sites. 

Our company launched its scholarship pro-
gramme in 2007 to support high-performing, 

disadvantaged students with a monthly schol-

arship. The program was created with the aim of 

supporting children and young people who have 

a high level of achievement, but have a disad-

vantaged social background, even until the end 

of their university studies, giving them a better 

start in life. With the help of the International 

Children’s Safety Service, 30 students receive 

financial support throughout the year, which is 

tremendous help to families included in the pro-

gramme, as it contributes, for example, to the 

financing of private lessons, after-school activ-

ities or school supplies. In the case of continued 

good academic achievement, students who 

have been included in the programme will be 

eligible for a scholarship until they receive their 

first diploma. Millions of forints a year have been 

allocated to this cause.

toGetHer wItH tHe Hand In Hand 
FoundatIon For SoCIal InCluSIon
As an independent nGo, the Foundation has 

been working since 1993 to improve the living 

conditions of children and adults with disabilities 

and assist their social inclusion. Waberer’s par-

ticipates as a sponsor for the series of national 

public awareness-raising events of the Hand in 

Hand Foundation and in the implementation 

of the “Accept and Embrace” Campaign, which 

helps ensure that children and adults support-

ed by the organisation can live with dignity in 

our society. In 2017, Waberer’s provided vehicles, 

drivers and fuel, as well as other technical equip-

ment and personnel for the events organised by 

the foundation.

SupportInG talented YoutH
Traditionally, we support Hungarian higher 

education in logistics, traffic engineering and 

transport: every year at the Budapest and Győr 

SuStaInabIlItY

universities, around a dozen students receive 

Waberer’s scholarships as a result of one ap-

plication process per semester (of five months 

each).

waberer’S blood donor truCk In 
Support oF tHe red CroSS
Waberer’s International Nyrt. provides support 

to the blood donation activities of the Red Cross 

within the framework of long-term cooperation. 

We provide the organisation with a truck 

modified specifically for blood donation, and 

also assume the maintenance and running costs 

of the vehicle, thus contributing to the smooth 

implementation of Red Cross activity. 

unIlever–doMeStoS SCHool toIlet 
renovatIon proGraMMe
A charitable cooperation between Waberer’s 

and Unilever was established in 2017, largely 

to benefit schoolchildren. Our company’s 

commitment to social causes is demonstrated 

by our participation in the School Toilet 

Renovation Programme, and by providing the 

building materials needed for renovation works, 

free of charge, for the winning schools.

reCoGnItIon
CSr Hungary awards for Sustainable op-
eration and for work shared with disaster 

Management Waberer’s-Szemerey Logistics 

Kft. received two awards at the end of 2017 at 

the CSR Hungary awards ceremony. By partic-

ipating in the competition the member of the 

Waberer’s Group wanted to draw attention to 

how social responsibility can be a decisive el-

ement on all levels of operation in a domestic 

company. Owing to the receipt of the prestigious 

awards, Waberer’s-Szemerey can now use the 

CSR Hungary volunteer trademark for 2 years.

The award within the category “Environment-

Green Excellence” demonstrates that the 

company can handle sustainability measures 

at a strategic level, thus successfully limiting its 

environmental impacts. 

In addition to sustainability, by its participa-

tion at CSR Hungary Waberer’s-Szemerey also 

wished to draw attention to the fact that coop-

eration with authorities may go beyond compli-

ance with regulations. Disaster Management 

has been a partner of Waberer’s-Szemerey since 

2012, and the partnership includes, among oth-

ers, the Bükk Rescue Team which specialises in 

specific rescue tasks of the Borsod-Abaúj-Zem-

plén County Disaster Management Directorate. 

The company received the CSR Hungary recog-

nition award for “Common Affairs-Common Re-

sponsibility” for that project.

annual report 2017
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t  he management body of the Compa-

ny is the Board of Directors. The Board 

of Directors consists of maximum sev-

en members. The members of the Board of Direc-

tors are elected by the General Meeting for an in-

definite period. The Board of Directors establishes 

its own rules of procedure itself.

The Board of Directors may decide on all issues 

and matters affecting the Company if they do not 

fall under the exclusive competence of the Gener-

al Meeting. The Board of Directors represents the 

Company vis-à-vis third parties, before courts and 

other authorities. The Board of Directors is entitled 

to acquire rights and undertake obligations on be-

half of the Company and to specify the business 

activities of the Company.

The members of the Board of Directors may 

hold senior officer positions in another business 

organisations also engaged in activities iden-

tical with those of the Company only if it has 

been authorised by the Board of Directors of 

the Company. Such authorisations have been 

granted to members of the Board of Directors 

Stefan Delacher and Gerard van Kesteren. In 

addition to his position on the Board of Direc-

tors of the Company, Stefan Delacher has been 

an adviser at Rothschild GFA since 2007 and 

has been a member of the Supervisory Board 

at Raben Logistics since 2006. In addition to 

his position on the Board of Directors of the 

Company, Gerard Van Kesteren is a member 

of the Supervisory Board at the companies Ra-

ben Group and Planzer Holding AG as well as 

a member of the Board of Directors and Chair-

man of the Audit Committee at Janel Corpora-

tion, and an adviser at Astor Place Holdings.

Members of the Board of Directors, their 

independence status and the date of their 

appointment in 2017 (the curriculum vitae of 

current members are available on the Company 

website).

Members of the board of directors

name Status date of appointment

Stefan Delacher
independent non-operational 
(external) member 

31.05.2011– for an indefinite period

Miklós Bethlen
non independent (delegated by 
the main shareholder) non- 
operational (external) member

31.05.2011–21.12.2017 

Csanád Dániel
non independent non-operational 
(external) member

01.08.2013–31.05.2017 

Gerard van Kesteren
independent non-operational 
(external) member

29.07.2016– for an indefinite period 

Ferenc Lajkó
non independent operational 
member

06.03.2017– for an indefinite period

Barna Erdélyi
non independent operational 
member

06.03.2017– for an indefinite period

Dr Péter Lakatos
independent non-operational 
(external) member

06.03.2017– for an indefinite period

Robert Knorr
non independent (delegated by 
the main shareholder) non-opera-
tional (external) member

21.12.2017– for an indefinite period

Corporate GovernanCe
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Of the members of the Board of Directors, Péter 

Lakatos and Lakatos, Köves and Partners Law 

Office, controlled by him, have contracts with 

the Company regarding other legal relationships. 

However, the member of the Board of Directors 

declared that the legal relationship indicated 

above does not represent a conflict of interest 

and would not threaten decision-making serv-

ing the interests of all shareholders. Following 

the admission to the Stock Exchange, member 

of the Board of Directors Stefan Delacher did not 

provide any other expert services to the Compa-

ny separate from his tasks within the Board of 

Directors through PSP Projektenwicklung GmbH, 

controlled by it.   

On December 31, 2017, the members of the Board 

of Directors held the number of shares indicated 

below:

Gerard van Kesteren 3,018 shares

Ferenc Lajkó 11,559 shares

Name Number of meetings Participation rate Notes

Total 7  

Stefan Delacher 7 100%

Miklós Bethlen 6 85.7%

Csanád Dániel 3 100%
He resigned from his 

membership effective 
from May 31, 2017.

Gerard van Kesteren 7 100%

Dr Péter Lakatos 7 100%

Ferenc Lajkó 7 100%

Barna Erdélyi 7 100%

Robert Knorr - -

Appointed as a mem-
ber of the Board of 
Directors effective 

from December 
21, 2017.

CHIeF exeCutIve oFFICer 
According to a decision made on July 29, 2016, 

the work of the Company is organised, led, di-

rected and checked by the CEO elected by the 

General Meeting (previously by the Board of 

Directors from among its own members) sub-

ject to the relevant legislation and the Articles 

of Association, in accordance with the deci-

sions of the General Meeting and the Board 

of Directors. His scope of authority includes 

making decisions on all cases that are not 

referred to the exclusive competence of the 

General Meeting or the Board of Directors. The 

CEO establishes the work organisation of the 

Company, exercises the employer’s rights over 

the employees of the Company (other than 

the deputy CEO), but may delegate this power 

to the employees of the Company. 

Mr Ferenc Lajkó was elected CEO of the Com-

pany by the General Meeting effective from 

July 29, 2016.

The curriculum vitae of the members of the management are available on the Company website (www.waberers.com).

Corporate GovernanCe

Introduction of the Management

FerenC lajkó,  
CEO

erdélYI barna,  
General Deputy CEO

ZSolt barna,  
Managing Director of 
Waberer’s-Szemerey Kft. 
and head of the regional 
contracted logistics  
business line;

benCe nYIlaSY,  
Chief Executive Officer of 
Wáberer Hungária Zrt.;

pawel Moder,  
CEO of Link sp.z.o.o.
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number of shares of the board of directors

In 2017 the board of directors held seven meetings with the 
participation rate detailed below.
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SupervISorY board 
When the corporate form was changed, the 

number of members of the Supervisory Board 

was increased to six. According to the Articles 

of Association adopted on May 11, 2017, the 

members of the Supervisory Board are elect-

ed by the General Meeting for an indefinite 

period. One third of the Supervisory Board 

(two persons) are the employees’ delegates.

The majority of the members of the Supervi-

sory Board must be independent persons. A 

member of the Supervisory Board is consid-

ered independent if he or she does not have 

any legal relationship with the Company other 

than his or her Supervisory Board membership 

and the relationship falling within the usual ac-

tivities of the Company and operations meet-

ing the needs of the member of the Superviso-

ry Board.

tHe CHaIrMan oF 
tHe SupervISorY board:
•  Convenes and chairs the meetings of the Board;

•  Ensures that the minutes of the meeting are 

duly kept;

•  May attend the meetings of the Board of 

Directors;

•  May initiate the convening of a General Meeting;

•  Submits an annual report on the work of the 

Board and the Company to the General Meeting.

audItor 
The auditor for the Company is Ernst&Young

Könyvvizsgáló Korlátolt Felelősségű Társaság

(head office: H-1132 Budapest, Váci út 20.,

Hungary). During the period covered by this

report, the auditor performed certain tax advi-

sory services for the Company, subject to prior

agreement with the Audit Committee. These

activities did not impose any threat to the inde-

pendence of the Auditor.

Members of the Nomination and Remuneration

Committee, their status and dates of appoint-

ment (the curricula vitae of the members are 

available on the Company website):

name Status date and duration of appointment

Peter Michael Vincent Grace independent 15.07.2016– for an indefinite period

Gabriella Beregszászi independent 15.07.2016–31.05.2017

Sándor Székely, employees’ 
delegate

non-independent 11.05.2017– for an indefinite period

Mrs Mária Szalai (née Kazus-
ka), employee delegate

non-independent 31.05.2017– for an indefinite period

Philip Marshall independent
from 31.05.2017– for an indefinite 
period 

Gábor Béla Nagy independent 31.05.2017– for an indefinite period

Dr Zoltán György Bodnár independent 31.05.2017– for an indefinite period

In the 2017 financial year, the Supervisory Board held five meetings with 100% participation rate and 

adopted all resolutions with 100% support. The Supervisory Board adopted resolutions without hold-

ing a meeting on two occasions in relation to the agenda items of the General Meeting. 

name Status date of appointment 

Peter Michael Vincent Grace independent
upon admission to the stock 
exchange, for the mandate of 
Supervisory Board membership

Philip Marshall independent
upon admission to the stock 
exchange, for the mandate of 
Supervisory Board membership

Dr Zoltán György Bodnár independent
upon admission to the stock 
exchange, for the mandate of 
Supervisory Board membership

name Status date of appointment 

Peter Michael Vincent Grace independent
15.07.2017 – for the mandate of 
membership in the Supervisory Board

Gábor Béla Nagy independent
15.07.2017 – for the mandate of 
membership in the Supervisory Board

Gerard van Kesteren independent
15.07.2017 – for the mandate of 
membership in the Board of Directors

Corporate GovernanCe
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Members of the Supervisory board, their  
independence status and dates of appointment in 2017:

audit committee

nomination and remuneration committee
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The General Meeting elects a three member 

Audit Committee from the members of the 

Supervisory Board qualifying as independent 

for the same period as that of the Supervisory 

Board membership of the individual members. 

The Audit Committee was established with 

regard to the admission of the shares of the 

Company to the stock exchange on the date 

of listing of the shares on the Budapest Stock 

Exchange. 

Members of the Audit Committee, their status 

and dates of appointment (the curriculum vi-

tae of the members are available on the Com-

pany website):
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u 
ndersigned, authorised representatives 

of WABERER’S INTERNATIONAL Nyrt., 

the issuer of WABERER’S INTERNA-

TIONAL Nyrt. ordinary shares, hereby declare that 

WABERER’S INTERNATIONAL Nyrt. takes respon-

sibility for the 2017 Annual Report of WABERER’S 

Group, which has been prepared to the best of our 

knowledge in accordance with the applicable fi-

nancial reporting standards, giving a true and fair 

view of the assets, liabilities, financial position, 

and profit of WABERER’S INTERNATIONAL Nyrt. 

and its subsidiaries, and presents a fair review of 

the position, development and performance of 

WABERER’S INTERNATIONAL Nyrt. and its sub-

sidiaries together with a description of principal 

risks and uncertainties.

Budapest, March 23, 2018

FerenC lajkó
Chief Executive Officer

barna erdélYI
Chief Financial Officer



48 // 

annual report 2017

Independent audItor’S report
49

to tHe SHareHolderS oF waberer’S 
InternatIonal nYrt.

Report on the audit of the consolidated annual 

financial statements

opInIon
We have audited the accompanying 2017 con-

solidated annual financial statements of WA-

BERER’S INTERNATIONAL Nyrt. (“the Com-

pany”) and its subsidiaries (altogether “the 

Group”), which comprise the consolidated sta-

tement of financial position as at December 31, 

2017 –, (showing a balance sheet total of EUR 

681,357,378 and a total comprehensive income 

for the year of EUR 18,390,852) –, the related 

consolidated statement of comprehensive in-

come, consolidated statement of changes in 

equity, consolidated statement of cash flows 

for the year then ended and notes to the conso-

lidated annual financial statements, including a 

summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion the consolidated annual finan-

cial statements give a true and fair view of the 

consolidated financial position of the Group as 

at December 31, 2017, and of its consolidated fi-

nancial performance and its consolidated cash 

flows for the financial year then ended in accor-

dance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards as adopted by the EU (“EU IFRSs”) 

and has been prepared, in all material respects, 

in accordance with the supplementary require-

ments of Act C of 2000 on Accounting (“Hunga-

rian Accounting Law”) relevant for consolidated 

annual financial statements prepared in accor-

dance with EU IFRSs. 

baSIS For opInIon 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the 

Hungarian National Auditing Standards and 

with applicable laws and regulations in Hunga-

ry, including Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014 of the 

European Parliament and of the Council of Ap-

ril 16, 2014, on specific requirements regarding 

statutory audit of public-interest entities (“Reg-

ulation (EU) No. 537/2014“). Our responsibilities 

under those standards are further described in 

the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 

the consolidated annual financial statements” 

section of our report. 

We are independent of the Group in accordance 

with the applicable ethical requirements accor-

ding to relevant laws in effect in Hungary and 

the policy of the Chamber of Hungarian Audi-

tors on the ethical rules and disciplinary procee-

dings and, concerning matters not regulated by 

any of these, with the International Ethics Stan-

dards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for 

Professional Accountants (IESBA Code). We 

have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in 

accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have ob-

tained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 

basis for our opinion. 

keY audIt MatterS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 

professional judgment, are of most significance 

in our audit of the consolidated annual finan-

cial statements of the current period. These 

matters were addressed in the context of our 

audit of the consolidated annual financial sta-

tements as a whole, and in forming our opinion 

thereon, and we do not provide a separate opi-

nion on these matters. For each matter below, 

our description of how our audit addressed the 

matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described 

in the “Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of 

the consolidated annual financial statements” 

section of our report, including in relation to 

these matters. Accordingly, our audit inclu-

ded the performance of procedures designed 

to respond to our assessment of the risks of 

material misstatement of the consolidated 

annual financial statements. The results of 

our audit procedures, including the procedu-

res performed to address the matters below, 

provide the basis for our audit opinion on the 

accompanying consolidated annual financial 

statements.
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Cut-oFF oF SaleS tranSaCtIonS and 
revenue reCoGnItIon
The Group’s consolidated third-party revenue 

amounted to EUR 674 million in 2017. The Group 

focuses on revenue as a key performance 

measure which might create an incentive for 

revenue to be recognised before the risks and 

rewards have been transferred. Based on this 

we consider the recognition of revenue in the 

correct period significant to our audit and a key 

audit matter.

Our audit procedures included understanding 

of key controls over revenue recognition which 

are designed to ensure proper timing and rec-

ognition, of revenues when risk and rewards 

are transferred to customers. We analysed the 

Group’s revenue through entire populations of 

journal entries of sales transactions including 

correlations between revenue, accounts re-

ceivables, value added tax and cash inflows. 

On a sample basis we circularized outstanding 

debtor balances and tested subsequent cash 

inflows. We tested a sample of significant sales 

transactions closed around the balance sheet 

date as well as credit notes issued after the 

balance sheet date to assess whether revenue 

was recognised in the correct period. We per-

formed analytical review procedures on reve-

nue comparing actual data to our expectations 

developed based on our prior experience of the 

Group’s business. We assessed the adequacy 

of the Group’s disclosures in respect of revenue 

in accordance with the EU IFRSs. 

The Group’s disclosures about revenue are in-

cluded in Note 3. (n); Note 5 and Note 23. 

aCCountInG For tHe lInk Sp. Z.o.o. 
aCquISItIon
In July 2017 Waberer’s International Nyrt. ac-

quired Link sp.z.o.o. (“Link”). A new goodwill 

relating to the acquisition of this company has 

been recorded for an amount of EUR 35 mil-

lion in the consolidated annual financial state-

ments. The goodwill was ultimately determined 

as a difference between the consideration 

transferred and the fair value of the acquired 

Link’s identifiable net assets. We considered 

the audit of accounting for this acquisition to be 

a key audit matter as this is a significant trans-

action during the year which requires significant 

management judgement regarding the alloca-

tion of the purchase price to the assets and lia-

bilities acquired and adjustments made to align 

accounting policies of the newly acquired enti-

ty. This exercise also requires management to 

determine the fair value of the assets and liabil-

ities acquired and to identify intangible assets 

acquired in the acquisition. 

We have, inter alia read the sales and purchase 

agreements to obtain an understanding of 

the transaction and the key terms, assessed 

whether the appropriate accounting treatment 

was applied to this transaction and assessed 

the valuation for the considerations paid. We 

tested the identification and fair valuation of 

the acquired assets, including intangible as-

sets acquired and liabilities by corroborating 

this identification based on our discussion with 

management and understanding of the busi-

ness of Link We involved a specialist to assist us 

in reviewing the valuation methodologies used 

by management. 

We also assessed the adequacy of the related 

disclosures in the consolidated annual finan-

cial statements regarding these acquisitions in 

Note 7. (a).

GoodwIll MeaSureMent – annual 
IMpaIrMent teStInG
Goodwill amounting to EUR 53 million as at 

December 31, 2017, represents 8% of the con-

solidated balance sheet total. EUR 35 million 

from this amount was recorded in 2017 related 

to acquisition of Link. The previously recognised 

goodwill is EUR 18 million. Management is re-

quired to test goodwill for impairment yearly 

on the basis of the accounting policies used. 

We considered the audit of goodwill measure-

ment to be a key audit matter due to the signif-

icant judgement and assessment made by the 

management at this impairment assessment, 

including mainly management estimates of fu-

ture results of the cash-generating units. These 

assumptions are affected by expectations of 

future market or economic conditions.  

We involved valuation specialists in our audit 

to support our assessment of the assumptions 

and methods that were used by the Group in 

the cash flow model. We evaluated the project-

ed growth rate and associated cash flows and 

determined whether these were aligned with 

the business plan drawn up by management. In 

addition, we performed procedures relating to 

the disclosures on impairment testing includ-

ed in the consolidated annual financial state-

ments, looking specifically at the disclosure of 

key assumptions that have the most significant 

effect on the determination of the recoverable 

amount of the goodwill. In connection with this, 

we verified whether these disclosures are ad-

equate and provide sufficient insight into the 

assumptions disclosed and sensitivities of the 

assumptions underlying the valuation.

Disclosure of goodwill and other intangible as-

sets are included Note 3. (e) and Note 7. (a) of 

the consolidated annual financial statements.

otHer InForMatIon

Other information consists of the 2017 consoli-

dated business report of the Group and consoli-

dated annual report. Management is responsible 

for the other information, including preparation of 

the consolidated business report in accordance 

with the Hungarian Accounting Law and other 

relevant legal requirements, if any. Our opinion 

on the consolidated annual financial statements 

does not cover the other information. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated 

annual financial statements, our responsibility 

is to read the other information and, in doing 

so, consider whether 1) the other information is 

materially inconsistent with the consolidated 

annual financial statements or our knowledge 

obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 

materially misstated and 2) the consolidated 

business report has been prepared in accord-

ance with the Hungarian Accounting Law and 

other relevant legal requirements, if any. 

Our opinion on the consolidated business report 

should include the information required accord-

ing to Subsection (2) e) and f) of Section 95/B 

of the Hungarian Accounting Law and we are re-

quired to confirm also whether the information 

prescribed in Subsection (2) a)-d) and g)-h) of 

Section 95/B of the Hungarian Accounting Law 

has been made available and whether the con-

solidated business report includes the non-fi-

nancial statement as required by Subsection (5) 

of Section 134 of the Hungarian Accounting Law.

In our opinion, the consolidated business report 

of the Group, including the information required 

according to Subsection (2) e) and f) of Section 

95/B of the Hungarian Accounting Law for 2017 

is consistent, in all material respects, with the 

2017 consolidated annual financial statements 

of the Group and the relevant requirements of 

the Hungarian Accounting Law. 

Since no other legal regulations prescribe fur-

ther requirements for the Group with regard to 

its consolidated business report, we do not ex-

press an opinion in this regard.

We also confirm that the Group have made 

available the information required according 

to Subsection (2) a)-d) and g)-h) of Section 

95/B of the Hungarian Accounting Law and 

that the consolidated business report includes 

the non-financial statement as required by 

Subsection (5) of Section 134 of the Hungarian 

Accounting Law.
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Further to the above, based on the knowledge 

we have obtained about the Group and its en-

vironment in the course of the audit, we are re-

quired to report whether we have identified any 

material misstatement in the other informa-

tion, and if so, the nature of the misstatement 

in question. We have nothing to report in this 

regard.

reSponSIbIlItIeS oF ManaGeMent and 
tHoSe CHarGed wItH GovernanCe For 
tHe ConSolIdated annual FInanCIal 
StateMentS
Management is responsible for the preparation 

and fair presentation of the consolidated annu-

al financial statements in accordance with the 

EU IFRSs, and for such internal control as man-

agement determines is necessary to enable the 

preparation of consolidated annual financial 

statements that are free from material mis-

statement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated annual financial 

statements, management is responsible for as-

sessing the Group’s ability to continue as a go-

ing concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters 

related to going concern and using the going 

concern basis of accounting unless manage-

ment either intends to liquidate the Group or to 

cease operations, or has no realistic alternative 

but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsi-

ble for overseeing the Group’s financial report-

ing process.

audItor’S reSponSIbIlItIeS For tHe 
audIt oF tHe ConSolIdated annual 
FInanCIal StateMentS 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assur-

ance about whether the consolidated annual 

financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud 

or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 

includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 

is a high level of assurance, but is not a guar-

antee that an audit conducted in accordance 

with Hungarian National Auditing Standards 

and with applicable laws and regulations in 

Hungary, including also Regulation (EU) No. 

537/2014 will always detect a material mis-

statement when it exists. Misstatements can 

arise from fraud or error and are considered 

material if, individually or in the aggregate, 

they could reasonably be expected to influ-

ence the economic decisions of users taken 

on the basis of these consolidated annual fi-

nancial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Hungari-

an National Auditing Standards and with appli-

cable laws and regulations in Hungary, including 

Regulation (EU) No. 537/2014, we exercise pro-

fessional judgment and maintain professional 

scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

>  Identify and assess the risks of material 

misstatement of the consolidated annual fi-

nancial statements, whether due to fraud or 

error, design and perform audit procedures 

responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 

evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 

to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk 

of not detecting a material misstatement 

resulting from fraud is higher than for one 

resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, mis-

representations, or the override of internal 

control. 

>  Obtain an understanding of internal control 

relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the cir-

cumstances, but not for the purpose of ex-

pressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 

the Group’s internal control. 

>  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting 

policies used and the reasonableness of ac-

counting estimates and related disclosures 

made by management. 

>  Conclude on the appropriateness of man-

agement’s use of the going concern basis of 

accounting and, based on the audit evidence 

obtained, whether a material uncertainty ex-

ists related to events or conditions that may 

cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability 

to continue as a going concern. If we con-

clude that a material uncertainty exists, we 

are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 

report to the related disclosures in the con-

solidated annual financial statements or, if 

such disclosures are inadequate, to modify 

our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 

the audit evidence obtained up to the date of 

our auditor’s report. However, future events 

or conditions may cause the Group to cease 

to continue as a going concern. 

>  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure 

and content of the consolidated annual fi-

nancial statements, including the disclo-

sures, and whether the consolidated annual 

financial statements represent the underly-

ing transactions and events in a manner that 

achieves fair presentation. 

>  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence 

regarding the financial information of the en-

tities or business activities within the Group 

to express an opinion on the consolidated 

annual financial statements. We are re-

sponsible for the direction, supervision and 

performance of the group audit. We remain 

solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with gov-

ernance regarding, among other matters, the 

planned scope and timing of the audit and sig-

nificant audit findings, including any significant 

deficiencies in internal control that we identify 

during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with govern-

ance with a statement that we have complied 

with relevant ethical requirements regarding 

independence, and to communicate with them 

all relationships and other matters that may 

reasonably be thought to bear on our inde-

pendence, and where applicable, related safe-

guards. 

From the matters communicated with those 

charged with governance we determine those 

matters that were of most significance in the 

audit of the consolidated annual financial 

statements of the current period and are there-

fore the key audit matters. 

report on otHer leGal and 
reGulatorY requIreMentS 

Reporting requirements on content of auditor’s 

report in compliance with Regulation (EU) No. 

537/2014:

appoIntMent and approval oF 
audItor 
We were appointed as the statutory auditor by 

the General Assembly of Shareholders of the 

Company on March 31, 2016. The total uninter-

rupted engagement period, including previous 

renewals (extension of the period for which we 

were originally appointed) and reappointments 

for the statutory auditor, has lasted for 7 years.

ConSIStenCY wItH addItIonal report 
to audIt CoMMIttee
Our audit opinion on the consolidated annual 

financial statements expressed herein is con-

sistent with the additional report to the audit 

committee of the Company, which we issued 

in accordance with Article 11 of the Regulation 

(EU) No. 537/2014 on the same date as the date 

of this report.

non-audIt ServICeS
Except for a minor breach that was reported to 

the audit committee, prohibited non-audit ser-

vices referred to in article 5(1) of the Regulation 

(EU) No. 537/2014 were not provided.  The audit 

firm remained independent of the audited enti-

ty in conducting the audit. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting 

in this independent auditor’s report is Tamás 

Lelkes.

Budapest, March 19, 2018

tamás lelkes
engagement partner 

Ernst & Young Kft.

1132 Budapest, Váci út 20.

Registration No. 001165

Zsuzsanna bartha
Registered auditor

Chamber membership No.: 005268

Independent audItor’S report
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description note january 1, 2016 december 31, 2016 december 31, 2017

modified modified

non-Current aSSetS

Property 8 16 758 671 19 937 753 21 420 882

Fixed assets not yet capitalised 8 4 940 740 1 811 283 1 093 544

Vehicles 8 235 625 070 233 302 656 294 384 349

Other equipment 8 5 708 837 6 619 085 7 009 613

total property, plant and 
equipment 263 033 318 261 670 777 323 908 389

Intangible assets 7 1 889 352 4 056 980 8 993 815

Goodwill 7 18 502 088 18 502 088 53 379 212

Other financial investments - debt 
instruments - long term

11 - 26 306 728 37 705 654

Other financial investments - equity 
instruments - long term

11 - 17 994 385  5 663 729 

Other non-current financial assets 10 812 467 931 022 130 447

Reinsurance amount of technical 
reserves

21,27 - 14 584 004 20 571 689

Deferred tax asset 33 462 926 401 939 2 189 410

total non-Current aSSetS 284 700 151 344 447 923 452 542 346

Current aSSetS

Inventories 12 2 877 932 3 314 497 3 788 470

Current income taxes 32 1 615 659 2 537 435 1 510 400

Trade receivables 13 87 621 441 88 126 518 119 341 477

Other current assets and 
derivatives

14 48 423 174 41 039 802 45 025 864

Cash and cash equivalents 16 10 439 523 31 665 305 58 997 190

Assets classified as held for sale 15 4 550 122 2 068 319 151 631

total Current aSSetS 155 527 851 168 751 876 228 815 032

total aSSetS 440 228 002 513 199 799 681 357 378

SHareHolderS’ equItY 17

Share capital 5 128 910 5 037 513 6 179 206

Reserves and retained earnings 96 298 609 102 091 184 162 748 792

Translation difference (137 140) (736 505) (1 719 822)

total equity attributable to the 
equity holders of the parent 
company

101 290 379 106 392 192 167 208 176

non-controlling interest 4 729 127 7 855 965 8 269 420

total SHareHolderS’ equItY 106 019 506 114 248 157 175 477 596

ConSolIdated FInanCIal StateMentS

ConSolIdated StateMent  
oF FInanCIal poSItIon 

data in EUR
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description note january 1, 2016 december 31, 2016 december 31, 2017

lIabIlItIeS

lonG-terM lIabIlItIeS

Long-term portion of long-term 
loans

8 622 375 0 -

Long-term portion of leasing 
liabilities

18 146 852 798 162 244 189 206 756 628

Deferred tax liability 33 3 800 415 2 022 876 1 297 159

Provisions 19 949 920 16 868 591 21 660 029

Other long-term liabilities 20 6 311 990 0 6 448 045

Other insurance technical provision 
- long term

21 - 30 229 923 41 640 209

total lonG-terM lIabIlItIeS 166 537 498 211 365 579 277 802 071

Current lIabIlItIeS

Short-term loans and borrowings 35 29 910 880 14 981 432 5 209 370

Short-term portion of leasing 
liabilities

19 51 153 118 65 872 100 81 428 866

Trade payables 35 70 329 330 83 999 380 114 439 260

Current income taxes 32 238 293 195 461 618 291

Provisions 19 4 603 025 2 771 753 3 351 274

Other current liabilities and 
derivatives

22 11 436 352 12 802 827 19 165 853

Other insurance technical provision 
- short term

21 - 6 963 110 3 864 798

total Current lIabIlItIeS 167 670 998 187 586 063 228 077 712

total lIabIlItIeS 334 208 496 398 951 642 505 879 783

total equItY and lIabIlItIeS 440 228 002 513 199 799 681 357 378

ConSolIdated FInanCIal StateMentS
annual report 2017
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ConSolIdated FInanCIal StateMentS

ConSolIdated StateMent  
oF CoMpreHenSIve InCoMe 

description note  International 
transportation 

 regional Con-
tract logistics  other  Inter-segment 

transfers  2016 1-12  International 
transportation 

 regional Con-
tract logistics  other  Inter-segment 

transfers  2017 1-12 

Continuing activities

Revenue

 Own-fleet revenue 23  354 820 645     39 724 144    (140 035)     394 404 754     391 401 548     54 235 668     -      (71 000)     445 566 216    

 Subcontractor revenue 23  79 796 027     29 318 710    (1 036 314)     108 078 423     98 080 908     34 670 716     -      (740 762)  132 010 862    

 Other revenue 23  16 784 764     28 927 323     31 911 271    (7 754 723)     69 868 635     22 145 076     35 630 926     50 621 242    (11 592 821)  96 804 423    

 INTER-SEGMENT (-) 23 (7 979 410) (951 662)     8 931 072     -      (11 463 535)    (941 048ó)                        -        12 404 583     -      

NET REVENUE 23  443 422 026     97 018 515     31 911 271     -       572 351 812     500 163 997     123 596 262     50 621 242     -       674 381 501    

Cost of trucking subcontractors 23 (69 272 325)    (25 115 082)     1 255 071    (93 132 336)    (89 161 787)    (29 399 699)     -       809 931    (117 751 554)

Cost of goods sold 23 (13 734 186)    (5 087 734)     -       5 172 282    (13 649 638)    (15 921 157)    (2 779 680)     -       8 571 336    (10 129 501)    

Direct wages, benefits & allowances 24 (75 534 340)    (11 055 658)  -       -      (86 589 998)    (87 445 497) (16 270 963)     -       -      (103 716 460)    

 Direct wages 24 (29 195 695)    (7 808 816)     -       -      (37 004 511)    (32 613 791) (11 322 508)     -       -      (43 936 299)

  Fixed salaries 24 (21 505 660)    (4 381 788)     -       -      (25 887 448)    (25 557 328) (7 229 219ó)  -       -      (32 786 547)

  Variable wages 24 (7 690 035)    (3 427 029)     -       -      (11 117 063)    (7 056 463)    (4 093 289)     -       -      (11 149 752)

 Direct allowances and related contributions 24 (46 338 645)    (3 246 842)     -       -      (49 585 487)    (54 831 706)    (4 948 455)     -       -      (59 780 162)

Fuel cost 25 (95 890 574)    (8 774 123)     -       10 956    (104 653 741    ) (103 811 121) (13 351 619)     -       41 419    (117 121 320)

Toll fees & transit costs 26 (80 584 906)    (13 884 460)     -       240 365    (94 229 000)    (91 648 045)    (19 694 323)     -       380 568    (110 961 800)

 Toll fees 26 (60 570 239)    (5 224 108)     -      (65 794 347)    (64 160 378)    (8 142 615)     -      (6 791) (72 309 784)    

 Crossing 26 (21 967 856)    (36 777)     36 447    (21 968 186)    (26 078 689) (5 725)     -       5 233    (26 079 181)    

 Cost of rented services 26 (193 568) (8 122 935)  184 771    (8 131 733)    (403 146) (11 032 475ó)  -       335 470    (11 100 150)    

 Other transit 26  2 146 759    (500 640)     19 147     1 665 266    (1 005 831) (513 509)     -       46 655    (1 472 685)    

Repair & maintenance 28 (10 060 907)    (2 708 377)     -       384 066    (12 385 218)    (12 164 593)    (2 835 745)     -      (996 859)    (15 997 198)    

 Material costs 28 (3 592 367)    (1 427 770)  -       7 870    (5 012 267)    (4 542 677) (1 556 138)     -       13 073    (6 085 743)    

 Services 28 (6 468 540) (1 280 607)     -       376 196    (7 372 951) (7 621 916)    (1 279 608)     -      (1 009 931) (9 911 455)    

Insurance costs 28 (12 703 002)    (1 135 101) (10 530 271)     -      (24 368 374)    (9 823 033)     35 882    (18 006 428)     2 264 485    (25 529 094)    

Reinsurance fee 27 (959 771) (78 271) (16 378 651) (17 416 693)    (1 192 587)    (135 094)    (25 360 535)     -      (26 688 216)    

Direct rent 28 (1 323 567)    (3 978 462)     -      (127 883)    (5 429 912)    (1 062 112)    (4 092 230)     -      (443 765)    (5 598 107)

Other contracts 28 (357 292)    (1 353 880)     -       95 295    (1 615 877)    (419 336) (1 686 765)     -       1    (2 106 100)    

Vehicle weight tax and other transport related 
taxes

28 (1 555 310)    (335 784)  -       -      (1 891 094)    (1 708 713) (421 186)    (1 197     -      (2 131 096)    

Total direct costs (361 976 180)    (73 506 932)    (26 908 922)     7 030 152    (455 361 882)    (414 357 979)    (90 631 423)    (43 368 160)     10 627 116    (537 730 446)    

Net gain on fleet sales 15  3 647 367     30 820     22 068     -       3 700 255     4 233 148     80 917     28 486    (389 872)     3 952 679    

Gross profit  93 072 623     24 494 065     5 024 417    (1 900 920)     120 690 185     101 502 701     33 986 804     7 281 567    (2 167 339)  140 603 734    

as % of revenue 20,99% 25,25% 15,74% 21,09% 20,29% 27,50% 14,38% 20,85%

Indirect wages & benefits 29 (21 382 813)    (5 397 595)    (845 570) (27 625 978)    (24 983 841) (8 022 400)    (1 156 006)     -      (34 162 248)    

Other services 29 (13 667 243)    (5 920 381) (567 853)     1 834 492    (18 320 985)    (14 866 339) (7 466 601)  38 848     2 773 636    (19 520 456)    

 Property maintenance, utilities and rent 29 (1 685 915)    (2 187 780)    (71 939)     110 303    (3 835 331) (1 990 361)    (3 279 166) (164 502)     602 860    (4 831 169)

 Professional fees 29 (4 612 346)    (1 300 221) (158 329)     917 721    (5 153 175)    (3 681 003) (1 310 253)    (454 344)     855 217    (4 590 384)

 IT 29 (1 524 300)    (819 317)    (189 808)     390 480    (2 142 945) (1 770 399)    (942 320)    (458 554)  355 503    (2 815 770)    

 Communications 29 (362 639)    (105 181) (103 783)     2 800    (568 803)    (386 774) (130 672)    (205 499)  812    (722 134)

 Company cars 29 (421 905)    (340 938)    (9 801)     161 730    (610 914) (1 228 725) (200 251)    (11 198)  748 560    (691 613)    
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ConSolIdated FInanCIal StateMentS

description note  International 
transportation 

 regional Con-
tract logistics  other  Inter-segment 

transfers  2016 1-12  International 
transportation 

 regional Con-
tract logistics  other  Inter-segment 

transfers  2017 1-12 

 Marketing 29 (894 270)    (97 370) (72 726)     43 487    (1 020 879)    (424 627)    (75 864)    (164 920)  29 728    (635 684)    

 Others 29 (4 165 867)    (1 069 574)  38 532     207 972    (4 988 937)    (5 384 449)    (1 528 074)     1 497 865     180 955    (5 233 703)

Selling, general and administrative costs (35 050 056)    (11 317 976) (1 413 423)  1 834 492    (45 946 963)    (39 850 180) (15 489 001) (1 117 158)     2 773 636    (53 682 703)    

as % of revenue (7,90%) (11,67%) (4,43%) (8,03%) (7,97%) (12,53%) (2,21%) (7,96%)

Other operating income 30  3 727 583     841 292     456 276     33 186     5 058 337     7 301 785     1 374 938     840 172    (606 297)  8 910 598    

Other operating expense 31 (9 606 344)    (973 131) (73 272)     33 241    (10 619 506)    (10 391 091) (2 565 058)    (96 076)     0    (13 052 225)    

Profit before interest, tax, depreciation and 
amortisation (EBITDA)

 52 143 806     13 044 250     3 993 998    (0)     69 182 054     58 563 215     17 307 684     6 908 505     0     82 779 404    

as % of revenue 11,76% 13,45% 12,52% 12,09% 11,71% 14,00% 13,65% 12,27%

Depreciation 7,8 (45 389 840)    (6 570 726) (51 564) (52 012 130)    (48 074 362)    (7 861 742)    (113 461)  -      (56 049 566)    

Profit before interest (EBIT)  6 753 966     6 473 524     3 942 434    (0)  17 169 924     10 488 852     9 445 942     6 795 044     0     26 729 838    

Interest 32 (2 346 235)    (728 998) (51 138)  -      (3 126 371) (2 637 204) (585 006) (332 386)  -      (3 554 597)

 Interest income 32  322 621     6 287     -      (95 008)     233 900     173 254     11 148     479    (87 028)     97 853    

 Interest paid 32 (3 702 587)    (842 979)     -       95 008    (4 450 559)    (4 246 235)    (576 977)     -       87 028    (4 736 183)    

 Other financials 32  1 033 731     107 694    (51 138)     1 090 288     1 435 776    (19 177) (332 865)     -       1 083 734    

Profit(loss) before income tax  4 407 731     5 744 526     3 891 296    (0)  14 043 553     7 851 648     8 860 935     6 462 658     0     23 175 241    

Income tax 33 (2 325 615)    (1 368 748) (1 175 263)    (4 869 626)    (1 716 810)    (1 513 479)    (1 554 101)  -      (4 784 390)    

Profit after tax  2 082 116     4 375 778     2 716 033    (0)  9 173 927     6 134 838     7 347 457     4 908 557     0     18 390 852    

DISCOUNTINUED OPERATION

Profit/loss from discountinued operation 
(decreased with deferred tax)

CURRENT YEAR PROFIT/LOSS  2 082 116     4 375 778     2 716 033    (0)     9 173 927     6 134 838     7 347 457     4 908 557     0     18 390 852    

Attributable to:

 Equity holders of the parent company  833 490     2 686 079     2 716 033    (0)     6 235 602     8 286 951     5 046 379     4 908 557     0     18 241 888    

 Non-controlling interest  1 248 626     1 689 699     2 938 325    (2 152 114)  2 301 077     -       148 964    

 2 082 116     4 375 778     2 716 033    (0)  9 173 927     6 134 838     7 347 457     4 908 557     0     18 390 852    

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Items to be reclassified subsequently to profit 
or loss

Fair-value of cash-flow hedge transaction 
(fuel and FX) - less deferred tax

 1 795 726     1 795 726    (672 684)    (672 684)    

Translation difference from foreign entities  41 683    (641 047) (599 364) (666 068)  47 676    (364 925)    (983 317)    

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  1 795 726     41 683    (641 047)  -       1 196 362    (1 338 752)     47 676    (364 925)     -      (1 656 001)

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME  3 877 842     4 417 461     2 074 986    (0)     10 370 289     4 796 086     7 395 133     4 543 632     0     16 734 851    

Attributable to: 

 Equity holders of the parent  2 629 216     2 727 762     2 074 986    (0)     7 431 964     6 948 199     5 094 055     4 543 632     0     16 585 887    

 Non-controlling interest  1 248 626     1 689 699     -       -       2 938 325    (2 152 114)     2 301 077     -       -       148 964    

Earnings per share

 Number of shares  14 469 149     16 023 885    

 Basic and diluted EPS (EUR/share)  0,43  1,14
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ConSolIdated StateMent  
oF CaSH FlowS

description note 2016 2017

proFIt/loSS beFore tax 14 043 553 23 175 241

Non-realised exchange loss/gain 
on leases (-)

32 (14 710) -

Non-realised exchange loss/gain 
on other FX assets and liabilities 
(-)

32 (694) (1 149 376)

Booked depreciation and 
amortisation

8 52 012 130 56 049 566

Impairment 12,13,14 507 239 (5 109)

Interest expense 32 4 311 568 4 736 183

Interest income 32 (94 945) (97 853)

Difference between provisions 
allocated and used

19 706 848 5 370 959

Changes of Insurance technical 
reserves

2 288 375 5 422 601

Result from sale of tangible 
assets

(6 166) (25 305)

Result from sale of non-current 
assets held for sale

(4 031 643) (3 952 679)

net CaSH FlowS FroM 
operatIonS beFore 
CHanGeS In workInG 
CapItal

69 721 555 89 524 230

Changes in inventories 12 (665 026) (473 973)

Changes in trade receivables 13 (806 734) (6 401 265)

Changes in other current 
assets and derivative financial 
instruments

14 (7 453 261) (5 369 531)

Changes in trade payables 15 012 872 16 042 898

Changes in other current 
liabilities and derivative financial 
instruments

22 3 722 499 1 363 476

Changes in Insurance technical 
liabilites

(1 645 817) (3 098 312)

Income tax paid 33 (6 720 589) (7 112 961)

I. Net cash flows from operations 71 165 499 84 474 562

Tangible asset additions 7,8 (4 867 393) (11 864 305)

Income from sale of tangible 
assets

8 1 089 376 689 352

Income from sale of non-current 
assets held for sale

15 33 265 547 30 497 994

Changes in other non-current 
financial assets

10 (118 555) 800 575

Changes in financial investments 
(equity and debt instruments)

(2 885 850) 931 729

data in EUR
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ConSolIdated FInanCIal StateMentS

description note 2016 2017

Cash and cash equivalents 
acquired

16 1 251 583 399 290

Interest income 32 94 945 97 853

Borrowing repayment from 
related company

820 000 -

Borrowing from related company (820 000) -

II. Net cash flows from investing 
activities

27 829 653 21 552 488

Borrowings 34 - (7 691 941)

Repayment of loans, borrowings 35 (7 552 115) -

Lease payment 35 (40 473 715) (58 898 134)

Lease payment related to sold 
assets

(24 948 811) (21 260 048)

Interest paid 32 (4 311 568) (4 736 183)

Dividend paid (483 161) (635 779)

Capital increase - 46 850 305

Acqisition of related company - (32 323 386)

III. Net cash flows from financing 
activities

(77 769 370) (78 695 165)

IV. Changes in cash and cash 
equivalents

21 225 782 27 331 885

Cash and cash equivalents as at 
the beginning of the year

35 10 439 523 31 665 305

Cash and cash equivalents as at 
the end of the year

35 31 665 305 58 997 190
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ConSolIdated StateMent  
oF CHanGeS In equItY

note Share capital reserves and retained 
earnings translation difference

total equity attrib-
utable to the equity 

holders of the par-
ent company

non-controlling interest total shareholders’ 
equity

Opening value as at January 1, 2015 5 128 910 85 590 301 (228 713) 90 490 498 4 303 430 94 793 928

Fair-value of cash-flow hedged transaction 
(FX) - less deferred tax

22, 30 0 (1 383 057) 0 (1 383 057) 0 (1 383 057)

Exchange difference on foreign operations 0 0 131 554 131 554 0 131 554

Other comprehensive income 0 (1 383 057) 131 554 (1 251 503) 0 (1 251 503)

Profit/loss for the year 0 11 267 883 0 11 267 883 1 152 006 12 419 889

Total comprehensive income 0 9 884 826 131 554 10 016 380 1 152 006 11 168 386

Increase due to business combination 0 0 0 0 240 079 240 079

Correction of errors from previous years 0 773 349 0 773 349 0 773 349

Dividend paid to non-controlling interest 0 0 0 0 (959 602) (959 602)

Other movements 0 50 134 -39 981 10 153 (6 786) 3 367

Closing value as at December 31, 2015 5 128 910 96 298 610 (137 140) 101 290 380 4 729 127 106 019 507

Opening value as at January 1, 2016 5 128 910 96 298 610 (137 140) 101 290 380 4 729 127 106 019 507

Fair-value of cash-flow hedged transaction 
(FX) - less deferred tax

22, 30 0 1 795 726 0 1 795 726 0 1 795 726

Exchange difference on foreign operations 0 0 (599 365) (599 365) 0 (599 365)

Other comprehensive income 0 1 795 726 (599 365) 1 196 361 0 1 196 361

Profit/loss for the year 0 6 235 602 0 6 235 602 2 938 325 9 173 927

Total comprehensive income 0 8 031 328 (599 365) 7 431 963 2 938 325 10 370 288

Dividend paid to non-controlling interest 0 0 0 0 (483 161) (483 161)

Translation difference (445 949) 0 (445 949) (445 949)

Acquisition of treasury shares (91 397) (1 130 479) (1 221 876) (1 221 876)

Changes in non-controlling interest (669 890) (669 890) 669 890 0

Other movements 0 7 564 0 7 564 1 784 9 348
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note Share capital reserves and retained 
earnings translation difference

total equity attrib-
utable to the equity 

holders of the par-
ent company

non-controlling interest total shareholders’ 
equity

Closing value as at December 31, 2016 5 037 513 102 091 184 (736 505) 106 392 192 7 855 965 114 248 157

Opening value as at January 1, 2017 5 037 513 102 091 184 (736 505) 106 392 192 7 855 965 114 248 157

Fair-value of cash-flow-hedged transaction 
(FX) - less deferred tax

22, 30 0 (672 684) 0 (672 684) 0 (672 684)

Exchange difference on foreign operations 0 0 (983 317) (983 317) 0 (983 317)

Other comprehensive income 0 (672 684) (983 317) (1 656 001) 0 (1 656 001)

Profit/loss for the year 0 18 241 888 0 18 241 888 148 964 18 390 851

Total comprehensive income 0 17 569 204 (983 317) 16 585 887 148 964 16 734 850

Capital increase with new shares issued 1 063 897 49 155 083 0 50 218 980 0 50 218 980

Direct cost related to capital increase 0 (3 355 071) 0 (3 355 071) 0 (3 355 071)

Transfer of treasury shares to ESOP organ-
isation

77 796 0 0 77 796 0 77 796

Change in equity as a result of acquisitions 0 (1 931 998) 0 (1 931 998) 0 (1 931 998)

Dividend paid to non-controlling interest 0 0 0 0 (635 779) (635 779)

Diversion of dividend paid to minorities 0 (877 497) 0 (877 497) 877 497 0

Changes in non-controlling interest 0 (26 998) 0 (26 998) 26 998 0

Other movements 0 124 885 0 124 885 (4 225) 120 661

Closing value as at December 31, 2017 6 179 206 162 748 792 (1 719 822) 167 208 176 8 269 420 175 477 596
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1. reportInG  
entItY
Waberer’s International Nyrt. (hereafter: 

“Company”) is an enterprise based in Hungary. 

Registered office: 1239 Budapest Nagykőrösi 

út 351. The consolidated financial statements 

as at and for the year ended December 31, 

2017 comprise the Company and its subsidi-

aries (hereinafter collectively referred to as: the 

“Group”, and separately as “Group entities”) 

as well as the Group’s interests in associates 

and jointly controlled entities. The Group’s core 

activity is transportation, forwarding and logis-

tics services.

2. baSIS oF 
preparatIon
(a) Statement of compliance
The Group’s consolidated financial statements 

were prepared in accordance with Interna-

tional Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 

adopted by the European Union.

The IFRS comprise accounting standards issued 

by the IASB and its predecessor, as well as inter-

pretations issued by the International Financial 

Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) 

and its predecessor.

The consolidated financial statements were 

approved by the Board of Directors on March 19, 

2018.

(b) basis of measurement
Except for  certain financial instruments, which 

were measured at fair value, the consolidated 

primary financial statements were prepared on 

a historic cost basis.

The methods used for fair value measurement 

are detailed in Note 36.

(c) Functional and presentation currency
On December 31, 2012, management decided to 

change the Group’s presentation currency. The 

Group’s sales revenues are generated and its 

costs incur predominantly in EUR and changes 

in the local Hungarian economy have very little 

effect on EUR rates. 95% of the Group’s business 

is done within the European Union. The Group is 

financed in EUR and, owing to the special and 

EU-wide nature of the Group’s business, the 

CDS rates for Hungary are barely considered by 

the Group’s funders and creditors when estab-

lishing their interest premiums. Accordingly, the 

consolidated financial statements are prepared 

in EUR which has been the Group’s presentation 

currency since January 1, 2013. 

The change in the presentation currency 

according to IAS 8 qualifies as a change in the 

accounting policy. Therefore items shown in 

the notes for prior periods are presented as if 

the currently used currency has always been in 

place.

The functional currencies of the Group entities 

are summarised in the table below, where the 

functional currency is not EUR:

Company dec. 31, 2016 dec. 31, 2017

Waberer’s - Szemerey Logisztika Kft. HUF HUF

Waberer’s Románia SA RON RON

Waberer’s Polska PLN PLN

Waberer’s UK Limited GBP GBP

Wáberer Hungária Biztosító Zrt. HUF HUF

Közdűlő Invest Kft. HUF HUF

Link Sp. z o.o. – PLN

Link Services Sp. z o.o. – PLN

(d) use of estimates and judgments 
The preparation of financial statements in 

accordance with the following accounting 

policies requires management to make judg-

ments, estimates and assumptions that affect 

the application of accounting policies and the 

reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income 

and expenses. Actual results may differ from 

these estimates.

Estimates and underlying assumptions are 

reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to 

accounting estimates are recognised in the 

period in which the estimate is revised and in 

any future periods affected.

Information about significant areas of esti-

mation uncertainty and critical judgments in 

applying accounting policies that have the most 

significant effect on the amounts recognised in 

the financial statements are described in the 

notes below:
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to the functional currency at the exchange rate 

at the date that the fair value was determined. 

Gains and losses arising on remeasurement are 

included in the consolidated profit or loss for the 

period, with the exception of gains and losses on 

the remeasurement of available-for-sale equity 

instruments.

(ii) Foreign operations
The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, 

including goodwill and fair value adjustments 

arising on acquisition, are translated to EUR 

at exchange rates at the reporting date. The 

income and expenses of foreign operations are 

translated to EUR at exchange rates at the dates 

of the transactions.

Foreign currency differences are recognised 

directly in equity, in the foreign currency trans-

lation reserve (translation reserve). When a 

foreign operation is disposed of, in part or in full, 

the relevant amount in the translation reserve is 

transferred to profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from 

a monetary item receivable from or payables 

to a foreign operation, the settlement of which 

is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable 

future, are considered to form part of a net 

investment in a foreign operation and are recog-

nised directly in equity in the foreign currency 

translation reserve. 

 

(c) Financial instruments
 

(i) non-derivative financial instruments 
Non-derivative financial instruments comprise 

investments in equity and debt securities, trade 

and other receivables, cash and cash equiv-

alents, loans and borrowings, and trade and 

other payables.

Non-derivative financial instruments are recog-

nised initially at fair value plus, for instruments 

not at fair value through profit or loss, at fair 

value adjusted for any directly attributable 

transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recog-

nition non-derivative financial instruments are 

measured as described below. 

available-for-sale financial assets 
The Group’s investments in equity securities 

and certain debt securities are classified as 

available-for-sale financial assets. Subsequent 

to initial recognition they are measured at fair 

•  measurement of recoverable amount of 

cash-generating unit containing goodwill (see 

Note 7. a)

•  provisions and contingent items (see Notes 20 

and 36)

•  measurement of financial instruments (Note 

35. d)

•  classification of leases (Note 3. g)

•  recording of gain on fleet sales (Note 3. h).

3. SIGnIFICant 
aCCountInG 
polICIeS
The accounting policies set out below have 

been applied consistently to all periods 

presented in these consolidated financial 

statements and have been applied consist-

ently by Group entities.

(a) basis of consolidation

(i) Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. 

Control exists when the Group has the power to 

govern the financial and operating policies of an 

entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 

In assessing control, potential voting rights that 

presently are exercisable are taken into account. 

The financial statements of subsidiaries are 

included in the consolidated financial state-

ments from the date that control commences 

until the date that control ceases. The accounting 

policies of subsidiaries were amended if this was 

necessary to ensure consistency with the poli-

cies applied by the Group.

(ii) associates and jointly-controlled 
entities (equity accounted investees)
Associates are those entities in which the 

Group has significant influence, but not control, 

over financial and operating policies. Signifi-

cant influence is presumed to exist when the 

Group holds between 20% and 50% of the 

voting power of another entity. Jointly-con-

trolled entities are those entities over whose 

activities the Group has joint control, estab-

lished by contractual agreement and where 

unanimous consent is required for strategic 

financial and operating decisions.
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Associates and jointly-controlled entities are 

accounted for using the equity method (equity 

accounted investees), and are initially recog-

nised at cost. The Group’s investments include 

goodwill identified on acquisition, net of any 

accumulated impairment losses. The consoli-

dated financial statements include the Group’s 

share of the income and expenses and equity 

movements of equity-accounted investees, 

after adjustments to align the accounting 

policies with those of the Group, from the 

date that significant influence or joint control 

commences until the date that significant influ-

ence or joint control ceases. When the Group’s 

share of losses exceeds its interest in an equity 

accounted investee, the carrying amount of that 

interest (including any long-term investments) 

is reduced to nil and the recognition of further 

losses is discontinued except to the extent 

that the Group has an obligation or has made 

payments on behalf of the investee.

(iii) transactions eliminated on 
consolidation
Intra-group balances, and any unrealised 

income and expenses arising from intra-group 

transactions are eliminated in preparing the 

consolidated financial statements. Unreal-

ised gains arising from transactions with equity 

accounted investees are eliminated against 

the investment to the extent of the Group’s 

interest in the investee. Unrealised losses are 

eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, 

but only to the extent that there is no evidence 

of impairment. 

(b) Foreign currency

(i) Foreign currency transactions
Transactions in foreign currencies are trans-

lated to the respective functional currencies of 

Group entities at exchange rates at the dates 

of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabil-

ities denominated in foreign currencies at the 

reporting date are retranslated to the functional 

currency at the exchange rate at that date. The 

foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items 

is the difference between amortised cost in the 

functional currency at the beginning of the period, 

adjusted for effective interest and payments 

during the period, and the amortised cost in 

foreign currency translated at the exchange rate 

at the end of the period. Non-monetary assets 

and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies 

that are measured at fair value are retranslated 

value, and changes therein, other than impair-

ment losses, and foreign exchange gains and 

losses on available-for-sale monetary items, 

are recognised directly in equity. When an 

investment is derecognised, the cumulative gain 

or loss in equity is transferred to profit or loss.

other
Other non-derivative financial instruments are 

measured at amortised cost using the effective 

interest method, less any impairment losses.

 

(ii) borrowing costs 
Borrowing costs that are directly attributable 

to the acquisition or construction of a quali-

fying asset are capitalised as part of the cost 

of the given asset. Other borrowing costs are 

expensed when incurred. 

(iii) derivative financial instruments 
The Group holds derivative financial instru-

ments to hedge its foreign currency risk expo-

sures. 

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value; 

attributable transaction costs are recognised 

in profit or loss when incurred. Subsequent to 

initial recognition, derivatives are measured at 

fair value and changes therein are recognised 

through profit and loss.

Derivatives are recognised initially at fair value; 

attributable transaction costs are recognised 

in profit or loss when incurred. Subsequent to 

initial recognition, derivatives are measured at 

fair value at year-end; the effective part of the 

fair value is recognised directly in other compre-

hensive income while the ineffective part is 

recognised through profit or loss. 

In the case of hedging transactions closed in 

the reporting period and in accordance with the 

Group’s accounting policies, any realised profit 

or loss is recognised in the same way as for the 

hedged item, i.e. under direct costs: raising the 

incomes in the case of a gain and lowering the 

income in the case of a loss.

(iv) Share capital

ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incre-

mental costs directly attributable to the issu-

ance of new ordinary shares are recognised as 

a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.
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acquisition of non-controlling interests
Acquisitions of non-controlling interests 

in subsidiaries are treated as transactions 

between equity holders and as such the results 

are recorded at fair value directly in equity upon 

the acquisition.

Subsequent measurement
Goodwill is measured at cost less accumu-

lated impairment losses. In respect of equity 

accounted investees, the carrying amount of 

goodwill is included in the carrying amount of 

the investment. 

(ii) other intangible assets
Other intangible assets acquired by the Group 

which have definite useful lives are recognised 

at cost less accumulated amortisation and 

accumulated impairment losses.

(iii) Subsequent expenditure
Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only 

when it increases the future economic benefits 

embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. 

All other expenditure, including expenditure 

on internally generated goodwill and brands, is 

recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

(iv) amortisation
Amortisation is recognised in profit or loss on a 

straight-line basis, except for goodwill, over the 

estimated useful lives of intangible assets, from 

the date that they are available for use. The esti-

mated useful lives for the current and compara-

tive period are as follows:

• software – 10 years

• rights and concessions – 6 years

(f) Investment property
Investment property is held to earn rentals or for 

capital appreciation or both, and is therefore not 

held for sale in the ordinary course of business, or 

for use for the production or supply of goods or 

services, or for administrative purposes. Invest-

ment property is measured at cost less accumu-

lated depreciation.  The Group does not own any 

investment properties.

(g) leased assets
Leases in terms of which the Group assumes 

substantially all the risks and rewards of owner-

ship are classified as finance leases. When lease 

transactions are classified the risk derived from 

the change in the residual value of the leased 

assets is taken into account.

repurchase of share capital  
(treasury shares)
When share capital recognised as equity is 

repurchased, the amount of the considera-

tion paid, including directly attributable costs, is 

recognised as a deduction from equity net of any 

tax effects. Repurchased shares are classified as 

treasury shares and are presented as a deduc-

tion from total equity. When treasury shares 

are sold or subsequently reissued, the amount 

received is recognised as an increase in equity, 

and the resulting surplus or deficit on the trans-

action is transferred to/from retained earnings.

(d) property, plant and equipment 

(i) recognition and measurement
Items of property, plant and equipment are 

measured at cost less accumulated depreciation 

and impairment losses. The cost values of indi-

vidual assets in the categories of property, plant 

and equipment were determined on January 1, 

2007, when the Group adopted IFRS reporting, 

based on their fair values as of January 1, 2006.

Cost includes expenditures that are directly 

attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The 

cost of self-constructed assets includes the 

cost of materials and direct labour, any other 

costs directly attributable to bringing the asset 

to a working condition for its intended use, 

and the costs of dismantling and removing the 

assets and restoring the site on which they are 

located. Borrowing costs related to the acqui-

sition, construction or production of qualifying 

assets are capitalised to the cost of the asset.

When parts of an item of property, plant and 

equipment have different useful lives, they are 

accounted for as separate items (major compo-

nents) of property, plant and equipment.

Gains and losses on the disposal of an item of 

property, plant and equipment are determined by 

comparing the proceeds from the disposal with 

the carrying amount of the item and are recog-

nised net in profit or loss among other income.

(ii) Subsequent costs
The cost of replacing part of an item of prop-

erty, plant and equipment is recognised in the 

carrying amount of the item if it is probable that 

the future economic benefits embodied within 

the part will flow to the Group and its cost can 

be measured reliably. The carrying value of the 

replaced part is derecognised. The costs of the 
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day-to-day servicing of property, plant and 

equipment are recognised in profit or loss as 

incurred.

(iii) depreciation
Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss on 

a straight-line basis over the estimated useful 

lives of each part of an item of property, plant 

and equipment and based on the amount of 

the depreciable asset value. The depreciable 

amount of an asset is its cost less any residual 

value. Leased assets are depreciated over the 

shorter of the lease term and their useful lives, 

unless it is reasonably certain that the Group will 

obtain ownership by the end of the lease term. 

Land is not depreciated. 

The estimated useful lives for the current and 

comparative period are as follows:

• buildings – 30 years

• plant and equipment – 7 years

• vehicles – 4-5 years

• other fixtures and fittings – 7 years

The average useful life of the Group’s leased 

trucks is four years during which their acquisition 

cost is written off on a straight line basis to a 48% 

residual value, in case of trailers, the useful life is 

five years. If the lease term is prolonged for two 

more years, the residual value changes accord-

ingly so that straight line depreciation applies for 

two more years to the new residual value.

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual 

values are reassessed at each reporting date. 

(e) Intangible assets

(i) Goodwill
Goodwill (negative goodwill) arises on the 

acquisition of subsidiaries, associates and joint-

ly-controlled entities.

 

Cost of goodwill
On January 1, 2007, the Group decided to apply 

IFRS 3 Business Combinations retrospectively 

for business combinations occurring on or after 

January 1, 2006. The carrying value on January 1, 

2006, of the goodwill from business combina-

tions pre-dating January 1, 2006 is the carrying 

value as at January 1, 2006 determined on the 

basis of Hungarian accounting standards. For 

subsequent business combinations the Group 

determines the goodwill as the difference 

between the consideration paid and the fair 

value of net assets acquired.

Upon initial recognition the leased asset is 

measured at an amount equal to the lower of its 

fair value and the present value of the minimum 

lease payments. Subsequent to initial recogni-

tion, the asset is accounted for in accordance 

with the accounting policy applicable to that 

asset.

Other leases are operating leases and are not 

recognised on the Group’s statement of finan-

cial position. 

(h) Gain on fleet sales 
The net result of the sale of the fixed assets held 

for sale (mainly vehicles purchased from the 

financial lease contract) is recognised in other 

income or other expenses.

(i) Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and 

net realisable value. The cost of spare part inven-

tories is determined at average price and the cost 

of tank inventories is based on the FIFO principle, 

and includes expenditure incurred in acquiring 

the inventories, their production or transforma-

tion costs, and other costs incurred in bringing 

them to their existing location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling 

price in the ordinary course of business, less 

the estimated costs of completion and selling 

expenses. 

(j) Impairment loss

(i) Financial assets
A financial asset is assessed at each reporting 

date to determine whether there is any objective 

evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is 

considered to be impaired if objective evidence 

indicates that one or more events have had a 

negative effect on the estimated future cash 

flows of that asset.

An impairment loss in respect of a financial 

asset measured at amortised cost is calculated 

as the difference between its carrying amount 

and the present value of the estimated future 

cash flows discounted at the original effec-

tive interest rate. Impairment losses for avail-

able-for-sale financial assets are calculated at 

fair value.

Individually significant financial assets are tested 

for impairment on an individual basis. The 
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ance with the Group’s accounting policies. 

Impairment losses related to the initial classifi-

cation as held for sale and any subsequent gains 

or losses following re-measurement are recog-

nised in profit or loss. Gains are recognised up to 

the amount of any cumulative impairment loss.

When classifying the assets back the Group 

compares the carrying value less impairment 

of the assets held for sale with the value that 

would have prevailed if the assets had been 

depreciated when carried as held for sale, 

before proceeding to use the lower figure, if this 

was not higher than the recoverable amount of 

the asset. 

(l) employee benefits

(i) defined contribution plans
Defined contribution plans are post-employ-

ment benefit plans under which an enterprise 

pays fixed contributions into a separate entity 

but has no legal or constructive obligation to 

pay further contributions. Payments to defined 

contribution pension-benefit plans are recog-

nised in profit and loss as employee benefit 

related expenses when incurred.

(ii) termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised as expense 

when the Group is demonstrably committed 

to a detailed formal plan to terminate employ-

ment before the normal retirement date or to 

provide termination benefits as a result of an 

offer made in order to encourage voluntary 

redundancy, without a realistic possibility of 

withdrawal. Termination benefits for voluntary 

redundancies are recognised as expenses if the 

Group has made an offer encouraging voluntary 

redundancy, it is probable that the offer will be 

accepted and the number of acceptances can 

be estimated reliably.

(iii) Short-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefit obligations are 

measured on an undiscounted basis and are 

expensed as the related service is provided.

A liability is recognised for the amount expec-

 ted to be paid under short-term cash bonus or 

pro fit-sharing plans if the Group has a present 

legal or constructive obligation to pay this 

amount as a result of past service provided by 

the employee and the obligation can be esti-

mated reliably.

remaining financial assets are assessed collec-

tively in groups that share similar credit risk char-

acteristics.

All impairment losses are recognised in profit 

or loss. If impairment must be recognised, any 

cumulative loss that had been recognised 

directly in equity in relation to available-for-sale 

financial assets is recognised in the statement 

of comprehensive income.

An impairment loss is reversed if the reversal 

can be related objectively to an event occur-

ring after the impairment loss was recognised. 

For financial assets measured at amortised 

cost and available-for-sale financial assets that 

are debt securities, the reversal is recognised 

in profit or loss. For available-for-sale financial 

assets that are equity securities, the reversal is 

recognised directly in equity.

(ii) non-financial assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-finan-

cial assets, other than inventories and deferred 

tax assets, are reviewed at each reporting date 

to determine whether there is any indication of 

impairment. If any such indication exists then 

the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. 

For goodwill and intangible assets that have 

indefinite useful lives or that are not yet avail-

able for use, the recoverable amount is esti-

mated at each reporting date.

The Group examines on an annual basis whether 

there are any indications of impairment, and 

reviews whether the recording of impairment 

may be justified for goodwill. Accordingly, the 

recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit 

to which the goodwill is related must be esti-

mated. To determine the recoverable amount 

the Group assesses the future cash flows of the 

cash-generating unit, and selects an appropriate 

discount rate to calculate the present value of 

the cash flows.

The recoverable amount of an asset or 

cash-generating unit is the greater of its value 

in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In 

assessing value in use, the estimated future 

cash flows are discounted to their present 

value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 

current market assessments of the time value 

of money and the risks specific to the asset. 

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets 

are grouped together into the smallest group of 

assets that generates cash inflows from contin-

uing use that are largely independent of the 

cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets 

(“cash-generating unit”). The goodwill acquired 

in a business combination, for the purpose of 

impairment testing, is allocated to cash-gener-

ating units that are expected to benefit from the 

synergies of the combination.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying 

amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit 

exceeds its recoverable amount. All impairment 

losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impair-

ment losses recognised in respect of cash-gen-

erating units are allocated first to reduce the 

carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the 

units and then to reduce the carrying amount of 

the other assets in the unit (group of units) on a 

pro rata basis. 

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not 

reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment 

losses recognised in prior periods are assessed 

at each reporting date for any indications that 

the loss has decreased or no longer exists. An 

impairment loss is reversed if there has been 

a change in the estimates used to determine 

the recoverable amount. An impairment loss 

is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s 

carrying amount does not exceed the carrying 

amount that would have been determined, net 

of depreciation or amortisation, if no impair-

ment loss had been recognised. 

(k) non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets (or disposal groups 

comprising assets and liabilities) whose 

carrying amount will be recovered principally 

through a sale transaction rather than through 

continuing use are considered to be non-cur-

rent assets classified as held for sale. Immedi-

ately prior to the classification as held for sale 

the assets (or components of the disposal 

group) are re-measured in accordance with 

the Group’s accounting policies. Thereafter, the 

assets (or disposal group) are measured at the 

lower of the carrying value and the fair value 

less cost to sell. 

Impairment losses related to a disposal group 

are allocated initially to goodwill and then 

proportionally to the other assets, apart from 

inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets, 

employee-benefit related assets and invest-

ment properties, to which losses are not allo-

cated, and which are still measured in accord-
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(m) provisions 
A provision is recognised if, as a result of a past 

event, the Group has a present legal or construc-

tive obligation that can be estimated reliably, 

and it is probable that an outflow of economic 

benefits will be required to settle the obliga-

tion. Provisions are determined by discounting 

expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate 

that reflects current market assessments of the 

time value of money and the risks specific to the 

liability. 

(n) revenues 
Net sales revenues include amounts billed to 

customers for products or services delivered 

during the financial year. Net sales revenues 

are recognised when the amount of revenues 

becomes evident or when it is probable that the 

Group will be able to realise the billed amount. 

Sales revenues include the billed amounts less 

VAT and any applicable discounts.

 

(i) Services
Revenues from services rendered are recog-

nised in profit and loss in accordance with 

the percentage of completion of the transac-

tion on the reporting date. The percentage of 

completion is determined by assessing the work 

performed.

(ii) rental revenue
Revenue from renting investment property is 

recognised evenly in profit and loss over the 

term of the rental. Rental incentives provided 

are recognised as an integral part of the total 

rental revenue over the term of the rental. The 

Group did not realise such revenue.

(o) lease payments
Lease payments made under operating leases 

are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line 

basis over the term of the lease. Lease incen-

tives received are recognised as an integral part 

of the total lease expense, over the term of the 

lease.

Minimum lease payments made under finance 

leases are apportioned between finance 

expense and the reduction of the outstanding 

liability. The finance charge is allocated to each 

period during the lease term so as to produce 

a constant periodic rate of interest on the 

remaining balance of the liability.
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on empirical data and current assumptions 

that may include a margin for adverse devia-

tion. The liability is not discounted for the time 

value of money. No provision for equalisation 

or catastrophe reserves is recognised. The 

liabilities are derecognised when the obliga-

tion to pay a claim expires, is discharged or is 

cancelled.

(u) Insurance revenue

Gross premiums 
Gross recurring premiums on life and invest-

ment contracts with DPF are recognised as 

revenue when payable by the policyholder. For 

single premium business, revenue is recog-

nised on the date on which the policy is effec-

tive. Gross general insurance written premiums 

comprise the total premiums receivable for the 

whole period of cover provided by contracts 

entered into during the accounting period. They 

are recognised on the date on which the policy 

commences. Premiums include any adjust-

ments arising in the accounting period for 

premiums receivable in respect of business 

written in prior accounting periods. Rebates that 

form part of the premium rate, such as no-claim 

rebates, are deducted from the gross premium; 

others are recognised as an expense. Premiums 

collected by intermediaries, but not yet received, 

are assessed based on estimates from under-

writing or past experience and are included in 

premiums written. Unearned premiums are 

those proportions of premiums written in a year 

that relate to periods of risk after the reporting 

date. Unearned premiums are calculated on a 

daily pro rata basis. The proportion attributable 

to subsequent periods is deferred as a provision 

for unearned premiums.

(v) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash 

balances and call deposits.

(w) IFrS and IFrIC interpretations adopted 
in current year 
The Group has adopted the following new or 

amended IFRS and IFRIC interpretations during 

the year. Apart from the description below, 

the new amendments did not have significant 

impact on the Group’s financial statement, 

however, it resulted in additional disclosure 

requirements. 

(p) Finance income and expense
Finance income comprises the following: 

interest income on investments (including avail-

able-for-sale financial assets), dividend income, 

gains from the sale of available-for-sale finan-

cial assets and changes in the fair value of finan-

cial assets at fair value through profit or loss. 

Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using 

the effective interest method. Dividend income 

is recognised on the date that the Group’s right 

to receive payment is established, which in the 

case of quoted securities is the ex-dividend date.

Finance expenses comprise the following: 

interest expense on borrowings, unwinding of 

the discount on provisions, changes in the fair 

value of financial assets at fair value through 

profit or loss, and impairment losses recognised 

on financial assets.

Exchange gains and losses are recognised net. 

(q) Income tax
Income tax expense comprises current and 

deferred income taxes. Income tax expense is 

recognised in profit or loss except to the extent 

that it relates to items recognised directly in 

equity, in which case it is recognised in equity. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable on 

the taxable income for the year, using tax 

rates enacted or substantively enacted at 

the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax 

payable in respect of previous years. Hungarian 

municipal business tax payable is also 

presented as an income tax.

Deferred tax is recognised using the balance 

sheet method, providing for temporary differ-

ences between the carrying amounts of assets 

and liabilities for financial reporting purposes 

and the amounts used for taxation purposes. 

Deferred tax is not recognised for the following 

temporary differences: the initial recognition of 

assets or liabilities in a transaction that is not a 

business combination and that affects neither 

accounting nor taxable profit, and differences 

relating to investments in subsidiaries and jointly 

controlled entities to the extent that they prob-

ably will not reverse in the foreseeable future. 

In addition, deferred tax may not be recognised 

for temporary taxable differences related to 

the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred tax 

is measured at the tax rates that are expected 

to be applied to the temporary differences 

when they reverse, based on the laws that have 
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been enacted or substantively enacted by the 

reporting date. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabili-

ties should be offset on the statement of finan-

cial position only if the entity has the legal right 

to offset current tax assets with current tax 

liabilities, and they are related to income taxes 

levied by the same taxing authority on the same 

taxable entity, or on different entities that intend 

to realise their current tax assets and settle their 

current tax liabilities either on a net basis or at 

the same time.

A deferred tax asset is recognised to the extent 

that it is probable that future taxable profits 

will be available against which the temporary 

difference can be utilised. Deferred tax assets 

are reviewed at each reporting date and are 

reduced to the extent that it is no longer prob-

able that the related tax benefit will be realised. 

(s) Insurance receivables 
Insurance receivables are recognised when due 

and measured on initial recognition at the fair 

value of the consideration received or receiv-

able. Subsequent to initial recognition, insur-

ance receivables are measured at amortised 

cost, using the effective interest rate method. 

The carrying value of insurance receivables 

is reviewed for impairment whenever events 

or circumstances indicate that the carrying 

amount may not be recoverable, with the 

impairment loss recorded in the income state-

ment. Insurance receivables are derecognised 

when the derecognition criteria for financial 

assets have been met.

(t) Insurance contract liabilities
Non-life-insurance contract liabilities include 

the outstanding claims provision, the provi-

sion for unearned premiums and the provi-

sion for premium deficiency. The outstanding 

claims provision is based on the estimated ulti-

mate cost of all claims incurred but not settled 

at the reporting date, whether reported or not, 

together with related claims handling costs 

and reduction for the expected value of salvage 

and other recoveries. Delays can be experi-

enced in the notification and settlement of 

certain types of claims, therefore, the ultimate 

cost of these cannot be known with certainty 

at the reporting date. The liability is calculated 

at the reporting date using a range of standard 

actuarial claim projection techniques, based 

IaS 12: recognition of deferred tax assets 
for unrealised losses (amendments)
The objective of the Amendments is to clarify the 

requirements of deferred tax assets for unreal-

ised losses in order to address diversity in prac-

tice in the application of IAS 12 Income Taxes. 

The specific issues where diversity in prac-

tice existed relate to the existence of a deduct-

ible temporary difference upon a decrease in 

fair value, to recovering an asset for more than 

its carrying amount, to probable future taxable 

profit and to combined versus separate assess-

ment. The Amendments were not applicable for 

the Group.

IaS 7: disclosure Initiative (amendments)
The objective of the Amendments is to provide 

disclosures that enable users of financial 

statements to evaluate changes in liabilities 

arising from financing activities, including both 

changes arising from cash flows and non-cash 

changes. The Amendments specify that one 

way to fulfil the disclosure requirement is by 

providing a tabular reconciliation between the 

opening and closing balances in the state-

ment of financial position for liabilities arising 

from financing activities, including changes 

from financing cash flows, changes arising 

from obtaining or losing control of subsidiaries 

or other businesses, the effect of changes in 

foreign exchange rates, changes in fair values 

and other changes. The Amendments were not 

applicable to the Group.

the IaSb has issued the annual Impro-
vements to IFrS  Standards – 2014–2016 
Cycle, which is a collection of amendments to 

IFRSs. This improvement did not have an effect 

on the Group’s financial statements.

•  IFrS 12: disclosure of Interests in other 
entities The amendments clarify that the 

disclosure requirements in IFRS 12, other than 

those of summarised financial information 

for subsidiaries, joint ventures and associ-

ates, apply to an entity’s interest in a subsid-

iary, a joint venture or an associate that is 

classified as held for sale, as held for distribu-

tion, or as discontinued operations in accord-

ance with IFRS 5.

(x) Standards issued but not yet effective 
At the date of authorisation of these financial 

statements, the following standards and inter-

pretations were in issue but not yet effective.
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Based on preliminary assessment the group 

believes that the adoption of the following 

standards will not have significant impact on its 

consolidated results and financial position:

IFrS 9: Financial Instruments: 
Classification and Measurement 
The standard is effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early 

application permitted. The final version of IFRS 

9 Financial Instruments reflects all phases of 

the financial instruments project and replaces 

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition 

and Measurement and all previous versions of 

IFRS 9. The standard introduces new require-

ments for classification and measurement, 

impairment, and hedge accounting. The Group 

has assessed the effects of the standard and 

considers that the classification and measure-

ment of such instruments has been prepared in 

accordance with IAS 39.

IFrS 15: revenue from Contracts with 
Customers
The standard is effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2018. IFRS 15 

establishes a five-step model that will apply 

to revenue earned from a contract with a 

customer (with limited exceptions), regard-

less of the type of revenue transaction or the 

industry. The standard’s requirements will 

also apply to the recognition and measure-

ment of gains and losses on the sale of some 

non-financial assets that are not an output 

of the entity’s ordinary activities (e.g., sales 

of property, plant and equipment or intangi-

bles). Extensive disclosures will be required, 

including disaggregation of total revenue; 

information about performance obligations; 

changes in contractual asset and liability 

account balances between periods and key 

judgments and estimates. The Group has 

assessed the requirements of the standard 

and decided not to early adopt it.

IFrS 15: revenue from Contracts with 
Customers (Clarifications)
The Clarifications apply for annual periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2018 with 

earlier application permitted. The objective 

of the Clarifications is to clarify the IASB’s 

intentions when developing the require-

ments in IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts 

with Customers, particularly the accounting 

of identifying performance obligations 

amending the wording of the “separately 

identifiable” principle, of principal versus 

agent considerations including the assess-

ment of whether an entity is a principal or an 

agent as well as applications of control prin-

ciple and of licensing providing additional 

guidance for accounting of intellectual prop-

erty and royalties. The Clarifications also 

provide additional practical expedients for 

entities that either apply IFRS 15 fully retro-

spectively or that elect to apply the modi-

fied retrospective approach. The Group has 

assessed the requirements of the standard 

and decided not to early adopt it.

IFrS 16: leases
The standard is effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2019. IFRS 

16 sets out the principles for the recogni-

tion, measurement, presentation and disclo-

sure of leases for both parties to a contract, 

i.e. the customer (‘lessee’) and the supplier 

(‘lessor’). The new standard requires lessees 

to recognise most leases on their finan-

cial statements. Lessees will have a single 

accounting model for all leases, with certain 

exemptions. Lessor accounting is substan-

tially unchanged. The Group has assessed the 

requirements of the standard and decided 

not to early adopt it.

IFrS 17: Insurance Contracts
The standard is effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2021, with 

earlier application permitted if both IFRS 15 

Revenue from Contracts with Customers and 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments have also been 

applied. IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts estab-

lishes principles for the recognition, meas-

urement, presentation and disclosure of 

insurance contracts issued. It also requires 

similar principles to be applied to reinsurance 

contracts held and investment contracts with 

discretionary participation features issued. 

The objective is to ensure that entities provide 

relevant information in a way that faithfully 

represents those contracts. This information 

gives a basis for users of financial statements 

to assess the effect that contracts within the 

scope of IFRS 17 have on the financial posi-

tion, financial performance and cash flows 

of an entity. The standard has not been yet 

endorsed by the EU. The Group has assessed 

the requirements of the standard and decided 

not to early adopt it.

amendment to IFrS 10 Consolidated 
Financial Statements and IaS 28 
Investments in associates and joint 
ventures: Sale or Contribution of assets 
between an Investor and its associate or 
joint venture
The amendments address an acknowledged 

inconsistency between the requirements of IFRS 

10 and those in IAS 28 in dealing with the sale or 

contribution of assets between an investor and 

its associate or joint venture.  The main conse-

quence of the amendments is that a full gain or 

loss is recognised when a transaction involves a 

business (whether it is housed in a subsidiary or 

not). A partial gain or loss is recognised when a 

transaction involves assets that do not consti-

tute a business, even if these assets are housed 

in a subsidiary. In December 2015 the IASB post-

poned the effective date of this amendment 

indefinitely pending the outcome of its research 

project on the equity method of accounting. 

The amendments have not yet been endorsed 

by the EU. The Group has assessed the require-

ments of the standard and evaluated that it will 

not have any impact on the Group.

IFrS 2: Classification and Measurement 
of Share-based payment transactions 
(amendments)
The Amendments are effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with 

earlier application permitted. The Amendments 

provide requirements on the accounting for the 

effects of vesting and non-vesting conditions on 

the measurement of cash-settled share-based 

payments, for share-based payment transac-

tions with a net settlement feature for with-

holding tax obligations and for modifications 

to the terms and conditions of a share-based 

payment that changes the classification of the 

transaction from cash-settled to equity-settled. 

These Amendments have not yet been endorsed 

by the EU. The Group has assessed the require-

ments of the standard and evaluated that it will 

not have any impact on the Group.

IFrS 4: applying IFrS 9 Financial 
Instruments with IFrS 4 Insurance 
Contracts (amendments)
The Amendments are effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after January 1, 2018.  The amend-

ments address concerns arising from imple-

menting the new financial instruments Standard, 

IFRS 9, before implementing the new insurance 

contracts standard that the Board is developing to 

replace IFRS 4. The amendments introduce two 

options for entities issuing insurance contracts: a 

temporary exemption from applying IFRS 9 and 

an overlay approach, which would permit enti-

ties that issue contracts within the scope of IFRS 

4 to reclassify, from profit or loss to other compre-

hensive income, some of the income or expenses 

arising from designated financial assets. The 

Group has assessed the requirements of the 

standard and decided not to early adopt it.

IaS 40: transfers to Investment property 
(amendments)
The Amendments are effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018 with 

earlier application permitted. The Amendments 

clarify when an entity should transfer property, 

including property under construction or devel-

opment into or out of investment property. The 

Amendments state that a change in use occurs 

when the property meets, or ceases to meet, 

the definition of investment property and there 

is evidence of the change in use. A mere change 

in management’s intentions for the use of a 

property does not provide evidence of a change 

in use. These Amendments have not yet been 

endorsed by the EU. The Group has assessed 

the requirements of the standard and evaluated 

that it will not have any impact on the Group.

IFrS 9: prepayment features with negative 
compensation (amendment)
The Amendment is effective for annual reporting 

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019 with 

earlier application permitted. The Amendment 

allows financial assets with prepayment features 

that permit or require a party to a contract either 

to pay or receive reasonable compensation for 

the early termination of the contract (so that, 

from the perspective of the holder of the asset 

there may be ‘negative compensation’), to be 

measured at amortized cost or at fair value 

through other comprehensive income. These 

Amendments have not yet been endorsed by the 

EU. The Group has assessed the requirements of 

the standard and evaluated that it will not have 

any impact on the Group.

IaS 28: long-term Interests in associates 
and joint ventures (amendments)
The Amendments are effective for annual 

reporting periods beginning on or after January 

1, 2019, with earlier application permitted. The 

Amendments relate to whether the meas-

urement, in particular impairment require-
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ments, of long-term interests in associates and 

joint ventures that, in substance, form part of 

the ‘net investment’ in the associate or joint 

venture should be governed by IFRS 9, IAS 28 

or a combination of both. The Amendments 

clarify that an entity applies IFRS 9 Finan-

cial Instruments before it applies IAS 28, to 

such long-term interests for which the equity 

method is not applied. In applying IFRS 9, the 

entity does not take account of any adjust-

ments to the carrying amount of long-term 

interests that arise from applying IAS 28. These 

Amendments have not yet been endorsed by 

the EU. The Group has assessed the require-

ments of the standard and decided not to early 

adopt it.

IFrIC interpetation 22: Foreign Currency 
transactions and advance Consideration
The Interpretation is effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, 

with earlier application permitted. The Interpre-

tation clarifies the accounting for transactions 

that include the receipt or payment of advance 

consideration in a foreign currency. The Inter-

pretation covers foreign currency transactions 

when an entity recognises a non-monetary 

asset or a non-monetary liability arising from 

the payment or receipt of advance consider-

ation before the entity recognises the related 

asset, expense or income. The Interpreta-

tion states that the date of the transaction, 

for the purpose of determining the exchange 

rate, is the date of initial recognition of the 

non-monetary prepayment asset or deferred 

income liability. If there are multiple payments 

or receipts in advance, then the entity must 

determine a date of the transactions for each 

payment or receipt of advance consideration. 

This Interpretation has not yet been endorsed 

by the EU. The Group has assessed the require-

ments of the standard and evaluated that it 

will not have any impact on the Group.

the IaSb has issued the annual Impro-
vements to IFrS Standards – 2014-2016 
Cycle, which is a collection of amendments to 

IFRS standards. The amendments are effec-

tive for annual periods beginning on or after 

January 1, 2018, for IFRS 1 First-time Adoption 

of International Financial Reporting Standards 

and for IAS 28 Investments in Associates and 

Joint Ventures. Earlier application is permitted 

for IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint 

Ventures. These annual improvements have 
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not yet been endorsed by the EU. The Group 

has assessed the requirements of the standard 

and evaluated that it will not have any impact 

on the Group.

•  IFrS 1 First-time adoption of Internati-
onal Financial reporting Standards: This 

improvement deletes the short-term exemp-

tions regarding disclosures about financial 

instruments, employee benefits and invest-

ment entities, which are applicable for first 

time adopters.

•  IaS 28 Investments in associates and 
joint ventures: The amendments clarify 

that the election to measure at fair value 

through profit or loss an investment in an 

associate or a joint venture that is held by an 

entity that is a venture capital organisation, 

or other qualifying entity, is available for each 

investment in an associate or joint venture 

on an investment-by-investment basis, upon 

initial recognition.

IFrIC interpetation 23: uncertainty over 
Income tax treatments 
The Interpretation is effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, 

with earlier application permitted. The Inter-

pretation addresses the accounting for 

income taxes when tax treatments involve 

uncertainty that affects the application of IAS 

12. The Interpretation provides guidance on 

considering uncertain tax treatments sepa-

rately or together, examination by tax authori-

ties, the appropriate method to reflect uncer-

tainty, and accounting for changes in facts and 

circumstances. This Interpretation has not 

yet been endorsed by the EU. The Group has 

assessed the requirements of the standard 

and evaluated that it will not have any impact 

on the Group.

the IaSb has issued the annual Improve-
ments to IFrS Standards – 2015-2017 Cycle, 
which is a collection of amendments to IFRSs. 

The amendments are effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, 

with earlier application permitted. These annual 

improvements have not yet been endorsed by 

the EU. The Group has assessed the require-

ments of the standard and evaluated that it will 

not have any impact on the Group.

•  IFrS 3 business Combinations and IFrS 
11 joint arrangements: The amendments 

to IFRS 3 clarify that when an entity obtains 

control of a business that is a joint operation, 

it remeasures previously held interests in that 

business. The amendments to IFRS 11 clarify 

that when an entity obtains joint control of a 

business that is a joint operation, the entity 

does not remeasure previously held interests 

in that business.

•  IaS 12 Income taxes: The amendments 

clarify that the income tax consequences of 

payments on financial instruments classified 

as equity should be recognised according to 

The issued share capital of Waberer’s Inter-

national Nyrt. comprises 17,693,734 registered 

dematerialised ordinary shares of a nominal 

value of EUR 0.35 each. 

The issued share capital of Waberer’s Interna-

tional Nyrt. was EUR 5,128,910 at December 31, 

2016. On July 6, 2017, upon the first floatation 

of the Group’s shares, new shares were issued 

where the past transactions or events that 

generated distributable profits has been 

recognised.

•  IaS 23 borrowing Costs: The amend-

ments clarify paragraph 14 of the standard 

that, when a qualifying asset is ready for 

its intended use or sale, and some of the 

specific borrowing related to that qualifying 

asset remains outstanding at that point, 

that borrowing is to be included in the funds 

that an entity borrows generally.

4. earnInGS per SHare

earnings per share 2016 2017

Net profit after tax EUR 6,235,602 18,241,888

Weighted average of ordinary shares 14,469,149 16,023,885

Earnings per share EUR 0.43 1.14

Diluted earnings per share EUR 0.43 1.14

and the Group’s issued capital increased to EUR 

6,192,807. EPS is calculated based on the net 

profit for the year and the weighted average 

number of ordinary shares.

As there is no diluting effect on earnings, diluted 

earnings per share was the same as normal EPS 

in both 2016 and 2017.
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5. SeGMent InForMatIon

Item International  
transport 

 regional 
contract  
logistics 

 other
 Inter- 

segment 
offsetting

 total

Own-fleet transport 
revenues

354,820,645 39,724,144 – (140,135) 394,404,754

Subcontracting  
revenues 

79,796,027 29,318,710 – (1,036,314) 108,078,423

Other revenues 16,784,764 28,927,323 31,911,271 (7,754,723) 69,868,635

Inter-segment  
offsetting (–)

(7,979,410) (951,662) – 8,931,072 –

Net revenues 443,422,026 97,018,515 31,911,271 – 572,351,812

EBITDA 52,143,806 13,044,250 3,993,998 – 69,182,054

Depreciation (45,389,840) (6,570,726) (51,564) – (52,012,130)

EBIT 6,753,966 6,473,524 3,942,434 – 17,169,924

2016

Item International  
transport 

 regional 
contract  
logistics 

other
Inter- 

segment 
offsetting

total 

Own-fleet transport 
revenues

391,401,548 54,235,668 – (71 000) 445 566 216 

Subcontracting  
revenues

98,080,908 34,670,716 – (740,762) 132 010 862 

Other revenues 22,145,076 35,630,926 50,621,242 (11,592,820) 96,804,423 

Inter-segment  
offsetting (–)

(11,463,535) (941,048) – 12,404,583 – 

Net revenues  500,163,997 123,596,262 50,621,242 0 674,381,501 

EBITDA 58,563,215 17,307,684 6,908,505 – 82,779,404 

Depreciation (48,074,362) (7,861,742) (113,461) – ( 56,049,566) 

EBIT 10,488,852 9,445,942 6,795,044 – 26 729 838

2017

revenues and key oCI items:

actual income taxes:

non-current assets:

Item

2016 2017

International  
transport 

 regional 
contract  
logistics 

other International  
transport 

 regional 
contract  
logistics 

other

Actual income taxes (2,325,615) (1,368,748) (1,175,263) (1,716,810) (1,513,479) (1,554,101) 

– Income taxes paid (3,881,906) (1,150,055) (830,238) (4,216,814) (1,357,709) (1,554,101) 

– Deferred tax 1,556,292 (218,694) (345,025) 2,500,004 (155,770) – 

Item

dec. 31, 2016 dec. 31, 2017

International  
transport 

 regional 
contract  
logistics 

other International  
transport 

 regional 
contract  
logistics 

other

Properties 13,983,371 5,954,382 – 13,357,567 8,063,315 –

AICC 757,129 1,054,154 – 250,466 843,078 –

Vehicles 203,932,793 30,667,833 – 257,394,217 36,990,132 –

Other equipment 2,560,074 2,366,604 394,437 5,218,686 1,413,809 377,118

Intangibles 3,361,508 415,281 289,191 7,720,781 968,390 304,644

Goodwill 15,925,167 2,576,921 – 50,802,291 2,576,921 –

Other long-term 
financial assets

930,765 257 – 114,268 3,644 12,535

Deferred tax assets 203,714 2,054 196,171 2,188,642 768 –

Other Financial invest-
ments - Debt instru-
ments - Long term

– – 26,306,728 – – 37,705,654

Other Financial invest-
ments - Equity instru-
ments - Long term

– – 17,994,385 – – 5,663,729

Reinsurance amount 
of technical reserves

– – 14,584,004 – – 20,571,689

events with no material cash movement:

Item

2016 2017 

International  
transport 

 regional 
contract  
logistics 

other International  
transport 

 regional 
contract  
logistics 

other

Unrealised FX gain or 
loss on FX assets and 
liabilities

39,082 (72,026) – (1,498,522) 4,796 344,351

Impairment loss 135,694 62,483 – (193 963) 81,666 –

Difference between 
provisions made/used

(1,766,527) (431,665) – 4,073,905 356,833 –

IFRS 8 Operating Segments requires listed enti-

ties to disclose appropriate information to the 

investors for the sake of transparency. The Group 

has created an international, domestic and an 

other segment based on its business lines. The 

operations of the Group are governed by Group 

management along these three segments:

International transportation: International 

FTL transportation and forwarding, and interna-

tional collective transportation

regional contractual logistics: Domestic 

FTL and LTL transportation, warehousing and 

vehicle repairs to third parties

other: Insurance services

details of the Group’s business segments 
are presented below.
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85

At the start of the year the Group imple-

mented a new suite of accounting systems for 

all its reporting needs. As part of the migration 

process, errors in the opening amortisation of 

properties and intangible assets recorded during 

the IFRS adoption process in 2007 were identi-

fied and adjusted by the Group. 

In Q2 2017, the Group revised its deferred tax 

calculation process and identified a permanent 

difference between its tax and IFRS balance 

7. IntanGIble aSSetS

sheets originating from the company’s adop-

tion of IFRS in 2007. Deferred tax liabilities 

related to goodwill were incorrectly recognised 

at that time. The Group has identified this error 

and adjusted it this year in both reserves and 

deferred taxes. 

The above adjustments had no impact on the 

consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income or on EPS, only on equity as per below:

opening at january 1, 2016 Intangible assets Goodwill total

Gross value 15,631,731 18,502,088 34,133,819

Cumulative amortisation and im-
pairment

13,742,379 – 13,733,379 

Net value 1,889,352 18,502,088 20,400,440

Changes in 2016

Additions and capitalisations 3,105,608 – 3,105,608

FX changes shown in foreign cur-
rencies

2,789 – 2,789

Additions from acquisitions 196,595 – 196,595

Amortisation (1,137,364) – (1,137,364)

Disposals – – –

Net closing value 4,065,980 18,502,088 22,568,068

Closing at december 31, 2016

Gross value 18,778,339 18,502,088 37,289,427

Cumulative amortisation  
and impairment

14,721,359 – 14,721,359

Net value 4,065,980 18,502,088 22,568,068

6. CorreCtIon oF prIor Year 
errorS

Impact on equity

jan. 1, 2016 dec. 31, 2016 dec. 31, 2017

Properties (1,237,220) (1,237,220) (1,237,220)

Intangible assets 745,320 745,320 745,320

Assets, net impact (491,900) (491,900) (491,900)

Deferred tax liability (1,265,248) (1,265,248) (1,265,248)

Liabilities, net impact (1,265,248) (1,265,248) (1,265,248)

Equity, net impact 773,348 773,348 773,348

Changes in 2017

Additions and capitalisations 5,833,804 – 5,833,804

FX changes shown in foreign  
currencies

2,308 – 2,308

Additions from acquisitions 973,594 34,877,124 35,850,718

Amortisation (1,872,871) – (1,872,871)

Disposals – – –

Net closing value 8,993,815 53,379,212 62,373,027

Closing at december 31, 2017

Gross value 23,604,112 53,379,212 76,983,324

Cumulative amortisation  
and impairment

14,610,297 – 14,610,297

Net value 8,993,815 53,379,212 63,373,027

(a) Goodwill
Goodwill generated by means of business 

combinations is allocated at the time of the 

acquisition to cash-generating units that are 

likely to benefit from the impacts of the busi-

ness combination. Most of the carrying value 

of goodwill is allocated to the international 

transportation and forwarding cash-generating 

unit in its entirety and totalled EUR 15,925,167 

at the end of 2014. On April 26, 2013, Waber-

er’s Logisztika Kft. acquired 60%, and there-

fore controlling influence, in Szemerey Trans-

port Zrt. in a share swap transaction. In line 

with the Group’s accounting policies goodwill 

of EUR 2,576,921 is presented in the consoli-

dated balance sheet. In 2016, the goodwill on 

Szemerey Transport was adjusted. 

After the acquisition of Wáberer Hungária 

Biztosító Zrt. and its subsidiary Közdűlő Invest 

Kft. in April 2016, the Group evaluated the busi-

ness combination in accordance with IFRS and 

the assessment concludes that goodwill is not 

identified.

In July 6, 2017, Waberer’s International Nyrt. 

acquired Link Sp. z o.o., a Polish international 

transportation and forwarding company and 

Link Services Sp. z o.o., a Polish workforce 

letting agency. The acquisition was funded 

from share floatation by Waberer’s Interna-

tional Nyrt. The Group identified goodwill of 

EUR 34,877,124. No goodwill has been identi-

fied for Link Service Sp. z o.o.

aSSetS
Properties 259,569

AICC 5,572

Vehicles 38,597,505

Other equipment 478,676

Intangible assets 26,752

Deferred tax asset 596,787

Receivables from related 
parties

55,540

Trade receivables 35,257,385

Other current assets  
and derivatives

529,191

Cash and cash equivalents 399,290

76,206,266

lIabIlItIeS
Leases payable 39,924,617

Short-term loans 4,278,936

Trade payables 16,466,878

Other current liabilities  
and derivatives

17,450,514

78,120,945

Total identifiable net assets 
at fair value

(1,914,679)

Goodwill 34,877,124

Purchase price 32,962,445
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Initially, the Group identified that the fair 

values of the assets at the date of acquisi-

tion exceeded the purchase price. However 

the Group reassessed the fair values of Link 

Sp.z o.o. and Link Service Sp. z o.o. Based on 

IFRS 3.36 the acquirer shall, at the acquisition 

date, allocate the cost of a business combina-

tion by recognising the acquiree’s identifiable 

assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that 

satisfy the recognition criteria. 

The basis of the recoverable amount calcu-

lation is a three-year plans approved by 

management, on which basis the cash flows 

are projected for the purpose of determining 

the value in use.

After the merger of Szemerey Transport Zrt. 

and Waberer’s Logisztika Kft. the separation 

of the two units for the goodwill impairment 

test is based on the arithmetic middle point 

of revenue and asset value. The value of the 

goodwill is based on multiplication of future 

cash-flow and the previously determined 

arithmetic middle point.

The goodwill of Link Sp. z o.o., as it is a sepa-

rate legal entity, is derived from its future cash 

flows plans.

The method for the determination of the value 

of Hungarocamion goodwill is similar to the 

method employed at Szemerey.

The impairment tests performed by the mana-

gement are based on the following assess-

ments:

1. Recoverable amount is calculated with the 

assumption of using the assets long-term in 

the future.

2. Discount rates: the value-in-use calculations 

take into account the time value of money, 

the risks specific to the asset and the rate of 

return that would be expected by market for 

an investment with similar risk, cash flow and 

timing profile. The Group uses the following 

discount rate: 2.5%.

3. The management expects increasing revenue. 

For goodwill associated with Sze merey and 

Hungarocamion the expected growth rate is 

7%, in the case of Link Sp. z o.o. the expected 

growth rate is 8%.

The plan for the years 2017 to 2020 was 

prepared in EUR. Where necessary, items incur-

ring in HUF were translated to EUR at a 310 HUF/

EUR rate. The basis year is 2017 which was only 

forecast at the time of planning. Compared to 

2016, fleet size increased by 3.5% in 2017 and 

will increase by an average of 100 trucks per 

year. The goal is to have a fleet of 3,430 trucks 

in the international segment and 730 trucks in 

the domestic segment by the end of 2020. Fuel 

prices are planned to be 5.8% higher in 2017 

than in the ensuing years when it is budgeted to 

remain unchanged. Transit costs are planned 

to increase by 2.7% in the first year, after which 

no significant change is forecast. Driver costs 

are planned to increase by an average of 5% 

each year, but maintenance costs are fore-

cast to decline after 2016 by an annual average 

of 2.6% as the fleet is planned to be rapidly 

modernised to an average age below two 

years. Insurance costs are planned to decrease 

as mandatory liability insurance rates fall due 

to an improved accidental damage rate. All 

other costs are planned to increase between 

0.5% and 1.5%. Payroll costs are planned to 

increase by 10% in the first year then by 3% in 

every ensuing year.

The plans predict a considerable increase in 

the number of kilometres driven (120 km/truck 

per month each year), and cargo capacity 

levels are also expected to increase by 0.05% 

over the year.

The plans were based on the existing company 

structure without the acquisition of the Link 

entities.

The plans were compiled in a KPI-driven model 

in which the three main factors – influencing 

cash flows – were the fuel price, the number of 

kilometres driven and the fee level.

Changes in main factors at EBIT level: 

•  an increase in fuel prices by 1 euro cent would 

cause a cash decrease of EUR 1.4 million.

•  an increase in the number of kilometres 

driven by 1 million kilometres would raise the 

cash generating ability by EUR 0.22 million

•  one euro cent increase in fees would improve 

the cash generating ability by EUR 4.7 million

The main changes expected at Group level in 

comparison to 2016 and used for 2017 plan-

ning:

•  3.5% growth in fleet 

•  2.3% increase in the number of kilometres 

driven

•  1.1% increase in fees

•  5.8% increase in fuel prices (in EUR)

•  1.4% reduction in driving cost

•  0.2% increase in truck load

(b) Intangible assets with indefinite useful 
lives
Other than goodwill, the Group has no assets 

with indefinite useful lives recorded under intan-

gible assets.

8. tanGIble aSSetS

properties
Fixed assets 

not yet  
capitalised

vehicles other 
equipment total

opening  
at january 1, 2016

Gross value 27,855,352 4,940,740 352,889,141 19,008,618 404,693,851

Cumulative  
depreciation and  
impairment loss

11,096,681 – 117,264,071 13,299,781 141,660,533

Net value 16,758,671 4,940,740 235,625,070 5,708,836 263,033,317

properties
Fixed assets 

not yet  
capitalised

vehicles other  
equipment total

Changes in 2016

Additions and  
capitalisations

1,955,419 74,714,394 72,976,699 2,911,733 152,558,246

FX effect on assets 
carried in FX

25,501 – 171,565, 15,992 213,058

Acquisition 3,076,656 – – 229,832 3,306,488

Depreciation,  
impairment

(1,179,197) – (47,830,851) (1,864,718) (50,874,766)

Derecognition (699,297) – – (382,590) (1,081,887)

Capitalisation – (77,843,851) – – (77,843,851)

Reclassification  
to non-current assets 
held for sale

– – (27,639,827) – (27,639,827)

Closing net value 19,937,753 1,811,283 233,302,656 6,619,085 261,670,777

Closing  
at december 31, 2016

Gross value 33,204,419 1,811,283 329,889,518 18,907,427 383,812,647

Cumulative  
depreciation and  
impairment loss

13,266,666 – 96,586,862 12,288,342 122,141,870

Net value 19,937,753 1,811,283 233,302,656 6,619,085 261,670,777
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properties
Fixed assets 

not yet  
capitalised

vehicles other  
equipment total

Changes in 2017

Additions and  
capitalisations

3,190,380 95,807,331 94,711,261 893,420 194,602,392

FX effect on assets 
carried in FX

(44,365) 2,851 2,310,869, 33,698 2,303,052

Acquisition 162,333 2,240,146 39,922,317 658,975 42,983,771

Depreciation,  
impairment

(1,807,286) – (51,680,430) (1,062,774) (54,176,695)

Derecognition (263,616) – – (132,791) (396,406)

Capitalisation – (98,768,067) – – (98,768,067)

Reclassification  
to non-current assets 
held for sale

– – (24,182,324) – (24,182,324)

Closing net value 21,420,882 1,093,544 294,384,349 7,009,613 323,908,389

Closing  
at december 31, 2017

Gross value 34,763,969 1,093,544 416,693,664 20,108,182 472,659,359

Cumulative 
depreciation and 
impairment loss

13,343,087 – 122,309,315 13,098,568 148,750,970

Net value 21,420,882 1,093,544 294,384,349 7,009,613 323,908,389

(a) properties

The following table includes the Group’s most 

significant properties as at December 31, 2017. 

property location Country usage net value

Budapest, Nagykőrösi út 
349-351

Hungary Head office 7,451,216,

PILK (Pestszentlőrinc 
Logisztika Centrum)

Hungary Logistics warehouse 2,963,514,

Balatonvilágos Hotel Hungary Hotel 2,474,254,

Miercurea Ciuc Hargita Románia
Office and rented  

warehouse
1,591,271,

Mosonmagyaróvár Hungary Business site – workshop 1,260,748,

BILK – improvement on 
rented property

Hungary
Logistics warehouse/ 

head office
4,359,644,

Pécs Hungary Logistics warehouse 312,123,

Balatonszárszó Hungary Logistics warehouse 136,063,

Győr Hungary Logistics warehouse 298,831,

Miskolc Hungary Logistics warehouse 296,817,

(b) Movements in tangible assets
Properties increased by EUR 1.5 million in 2017. 

Most of this increase was due to the construc-

tion of a cooling warehouse and scaffolding 

built on a site rented from BILK for a total value 

of EUR 2.6 million. The rest of the increase was 

due to office building works of EUR 340,000 at 

the Group’s site in Nagykőrösi út, Budapest, and 

capital projects carried out in previous years on 

properties rented by the acquired Link Sp. z o.o.

(c) Mortgaged assets
The Group’s property in Romania has been 

mortgaged by the Romanian tax authority 

(ANAF)  on the grounds of a tax audit launched 

in 2017 (decision 6/22.05.2017). Doing so is 

ANAF’s mandatory routine for tax audits that 

cover a number of years. The mortgage will be 

cancelled once the tax audit is over.

(d) leased assets
Tangible assets contain assets acquired by 

the Group as a result of financial leases. At 

December 31, 2016, the gross value of leased 

assets totalled EUR 312,728 thousand, with an 

accumulated depreciation of EUR 84,172 thou-

sand and a book value of EUR 228,556 thou-

sand. At December 31, 2017, the gross value 

of leased assets totalled EUR 406,797 thou-

sand, with an accumulated depreciation of 

EUR 142,524 thousand and a book value of EUR 

264,273 thousand.

As in 2016, the Group continued its vehicle 

acquisition practice also in 2017 and replaced 

four-year old vehicles with ones equipped with 

EURO 6 engines under a financial lease and an 

export enhancing development loan totalling 

EUR 96 million.

(e) Commitments as at the reporting date 
to purchase assets 

The Group has general agreements for asset 

purchases for three years, which relate only to 

recommended quantities but do not imply any 

future obligations. 

(f) deemed cost of properties
The initial cost of the BILK property acquired 

during the acquisition of Közdűlő Invest Kft. in 

2016 was determined during the calculation 

of the business combination in the acquisition 

process. 
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9. InveStMentS In SubSIdIarIeS  
and joInt ventureS

Company Country Scope of activities ownership 
ratio 2016

ownership 
ratio 2017

Waberer’s – Szemerey 
Logisztika Kft.

Hungary
Inland transportation and 

forwarding, logistics
60.00% 60.00%

Delta Rent Kft. Hungary Vehicle trade 100.00% 100.00%

Waberer’s Romania SA Romania
International transportation 

and forwarding
100.00% 100.00%

Waberer’s Deutschland 
GmbH

Germany International transportation 100.00% 100.00%

Waberer’s Espana Spain International transportation 100.00% 100.00%

Waberer’s Polska Poland International transportation 100.00% 100.00%

Waberer’s Slovakia Slovakia Logistics 100.00% 100.00%

Waberer’s France France Trading agent 100.00% 100.00%

Waberer’s UK Limited UK Trading agent 100.00% 100.00%

Waberer’s Benelux B.V. Hollandia Trading agent 100.00% 100.00%

Waberer’s Italia SRL Italy Trading agent 100.00% 100.00%

Cseri Intertrans Kft. Hungary International transportation 51.00% 100.00%

Simon Intertrans Kft. Hungary International transportation 51.00% 70.00%

Molnár S Intertrans Kft. Hungary International transportation 51.00% 51.00%

Kovács Á Intertrans Kft. Hungary International transportation 51.00% 51.00%

Molnár N Intersped Kft. Hungary International transportation 51.00% 51.00%

Réthi Intertrans Kft. Hungary International transportation 51.00% 51.00%

Vágenhoffer  
Intertrans Kft.

Hungary International transportation 51.00% 51.00%

VT Intertrans Kft. Hungary International transportation 100.00% 100.00%

Pálinkás Intertrans Kft. Hungary International transportation 51.00% 51.00%

Székely Intertrans Kft. Hungary International transportation 51.00% 51.00%

Szabó Intertrans Kft. Hungary International transportation 51.00% 100.00%

Kerekes Intertrans Kft. Hungary International transportation 100.00% 100.00%

Veres Intertrans Kft. Hungary International transportation 51.00% 51.00%

Zsemlye Intertrans Kft. Hungary International transportation 51.00% 51.00%

Bódi Intertrans Kft. Hungary International transportation 51.00% 51.00%

S Tóth Intertrans Kft. Hungary International transportation 51.00% 100.00%

Vándor Intertrans Kft. Hungary International transportation 100.00% 100.00%

Transpont Hungária Kft. Hungary International transportation 100.00% 100.00%

Kanczler Intertrans Kft. Hungary International transportation 100.00% 100.00%

TT Intertrans Kft. Hungary International transportation 100.00% 100.00%

Euro-Unió Trans Kft. Hungary International transportation 100.00% 100.00%

Rapid Teherautószerviz  
Kft.

Hungary Vehicle repairs 51.00% 51.00%

Waberer’s Network Kft. Hungary
International groupage 

forwarding
99.00% 99.00%

Gervin Trans Kft. Hungary International transportation 51.00% 51.00%

Company Country Scope of activities ownership 
ratio 2016

ownership 
ratio 2017

MIS Transport Kft. Hungary International transportation 51.00% 100.00%

Crossroad Transport Kft. Hungary International transportation 51.00% 51.00%

Cosmos-Transport Kft. Hungary International transportation 51.00% 51.00%

Lean Logistic Kft. Hungary International transportation 51.00% 100.00%

Del af Europa  
Transp. Kft.

Hungary International transportation 51.00% 100.00%

PM Intersped Kft. Hungary International transportation 100.00% 100.00%

Return Transport Kft. Hungary International transportation 100.00% 100.00%

VB-Transport Kft. Hungary International transportation 100.00% 100.00%

JIT Euro Trans Kft. Hungary International transportation 51.00% 51.00%

Tracking Transport Kft. Hungary International transportation 51.00% 100.00%

Mojo Trans Kft. Hungary International transportation 51.00% 51.00%

WM Log Kft. Hungary International transportation 51.00% 51.00%

SZ-M Cargo Kft. Hungary International transportation 51.00% 51.00%

SOLID Transport Kft. Hungary International transportation 100.00% 100.00%

Cargo Hungária Kft. Hungary international transportation 100.00% 100.00%

Szala Transport Kft. Hungary international transportation 51.00% 51.00%

TMT International Kft. Hungary International transportation 100.00% 100.00%

Wáberer Hungária 
Biztosító Zrt.

Hungary Insurance 100.00% 100.00%

Közdűlő Invest Kft. Hungary Property rental 98.55% 98.55%

WB Station et Services Belgium Vehicle repairs 100.00% 100.00%

Link Sp. z o.o. Poland International transportation 0% 100.00%

Link Services Sp. z o.o. Poland Workforce agency 0% 100.00%

In 2014, the Group decided to open trade agen-

cies across Europe, with the first in Paris, the 

second in Warsaw and the third in London 

successfully commencing operations. Further 

trading agencies were opened in 2016 in 

Amsterdam and in Milan. In Q1 2017, the Group 

discontinued the operations of the trading 

offices abroad but the legal entity has been 

maintained.

On December 28, 2015, Waberer’s Interna-

tional Nyrt. entered into a sales contract with 

the owners of Wáberer Hungária Biztosító Zrt. 

As per the sales contract the sale of shares 

was bound to approval of the Hungarian and 

Slovakian regulators, and the MNB (Hungarian 

National Bank). After undergoing the approval 

procedure on May 4, 2016, the HUF 4 billion 

advance already paid in previous years was 

used to purchase the ownership for HUF 4 

billion by the Group.

In August 2016 the Group established WB 

Station at Services in Belgium. Its main activi-

ties cover repairs to the international fleet, and 

ensuring parking and fuel supplies. In 2017, the 

parent company’s management discontinued 

the vehicle repair workshop in Belgium due to 

market changes in 2017, as a result of which the 

location of the workshop was no longer optimal 

for the Group’s transportation services. 

Owing to the available funds raised from the 

floatation of shares in July 2017, Waberer’s Inter-

national Nyrt. was able to continue its strategic 

inorganic growth plan and acquired a Polish 

transportation company along with its work-

force agent partner.
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december 31, 2016 december 31, 2017 

Loan to franchise owners 661,204 492,332

Hungaroring Zrt. interest 139,380 –

Other 130,438 (361,885)

Total 931,022 130,447

Inventories december 31, 2016 december 31, 2017

Fuel 2,445,956 3,179,036

Spare parts, tyres, lubricants, other materials 545,476 433,373

Other materials 323,065 176,061

Total 3,314,497 3,788,470

In 2017, the Group sold its shares of HUF 40 

million (EUR 139,380) at face value held in 

Hungaroring Zrt. and realised a gain of EUR 

230,680 on the sale.

Other non-current financial assets include 

shares allotted to Waberer’s International 

10. otHer non-Current FInanCIal 
aSSetS

Nyrt’s employee share scheme organisation 

and benefits in kind other than capital contri-

butions less the discounted redemption value 

of bonds. 

For information on the market value of other 

non-current assets refer to section 34.

11. otHer non-Current  
FInanCIal aSSetS – lonG-terM  
debt and equItY SeCurItIeS

12. InventorIeS

Fuel inventories as at the reporting date show 

fuel in lorries and at the filling station. The 

values of these inventories were determined as 

follows:

•  inventory at filling station by means of a phys-

ical stock count

•  fuel in lorries using an estimate based on data 

in the route registration system.

The held-to-maturity investments of Wáberer 

Hungária Biztosító Zrt, a subsidiary acquired 

in 2016, typically include government bonds 

and T-bills that are considered risk-free invest-

ments in terms of credit risk. The Group’s  

investments are transacted through three 

securities brokers and also held self-managed 

term deposits. The book value of non-current 

financial assets totalled EUR 43,369,384 at the 

end of 2017. The term deposits cover the insur-

ance company’s technical liabilities.

On December 31, 2016 the Group inspected 

the inventories of the repair shop on the basis 

of the technology description of the vehi-

cles purchased in the previous two years. As 

a result of this inspection the Group’s vehicle 

parts in the amount of EUR 217,334 were 

written off as impairment loss. During 2017, 

the Group examined the possibility of selling 

impaired spare parts in the secondary market 

and managed to sell nearly 50% of already 

impaired inventories as a result and reversed 

impairment losses in a total of EUR 107,523.

Impairment

January 1, 2016 28,858

Increase 217,334

Decrease 28,858

December 31, 2017 217,334

Increase –

Decrease 107,523

December 31, 2017 109,811

 december 31, 2016 december 31, 2017

Trade receivables 90,024,540 121,913,777

Impairment loss on doubtful receivables (1,898,022) (2,572,300)

Total 88,126,518 119,341,477

13. reCeIvableS

The balance of receivables at December 31, 2017 

was significantly higher than at the end of 2016 

as a result of the debtors of the acquired enti-

ties (EUR 26.471 thousand) and an EUR 4.743 

thousand increase due to the Group’s organic 

growth. 

The Group realised a 15.3% increase in revenues 

on the previous year (net of the insurance line). 

Of this, the impact of the Link acquisition was 

9.3%, the remaining 5.5% increase was from the 

Group’s organic growth. The turnover of debtors 

turned for the worse after years of improve-

ment and increased from 59.6 days to 62 days. 

This was due to the acquisition of Link, where 

the turnover of debtors was 90 days, although 

receivables from key accounts were factored 

with recourse. As a result, the actual collec-

tion period was 72 days, yet it was much worse 

than that of the acquiring company. Without the 

effect of the Link acquisition, average debtor 

turnover dropped from 59.6 days to 59 days. 

In view of these facts, in Q4 2017, the Group 

developed the process of implementing the 

electronic document management systems 

(CMRs, shipping confirmations, forwarding and 

processing parcel tracking records, e-billing) 

used by the parent and the group members at 

the new Polish subsidiaries. The implementa-

tion project is expected to end in 2018. 

Impairment

January 1, 2016 2,786,708

Increase 288,133

Decrease 1,176,820

December 31, 2017 1,898,022

Increase 553,807

Decrease 513,535

FX gain or loss 38,340

Opening increase due to acquisition 595,666

December 31, 2017 2,572,300
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Most other current assets include Foreign VAT 

and excise tax, which is derived from VAT and 

excise tax receivables from foreign tax author-

ities. As of 2012, excise tax can be reclaimed not 

only on fuel purchased abroad but also on fuel 

purchased inland.

Import VAT assets totalled EUR 11,793,751 at 

December 31, 2017 as opposed to EUR 11,723,397 

at the end of 2016. The turnover of import VAT 

assets increased as a result of the Group’s organic 

and inorganic growth, but the year-end balance is 

only 0.6% higher than at the end of 2016. 

Excise tax assets (receivable from both domes- 

tic and foreign tax authorities) totalled EUR 

14,297,846 at December 31, 2017 as opposed to 

EUR 10,252,293 at the end of 2016. The signifi-

cant increase is due to the fact that more fuel-

ling is happening in Belgium and France, where 

the average yearly tax refund exceeded the 

previous year’s demands by 60%. 

The Group switched to group VAT payment as 

of August 1, 2013 and the taxes payable and 

reclaimed by the Group members are netted off 

as a result.

The value of derivatives at the reporting date 

is determined using a measurement technique 

based solely on market inputs. Accordingly, any 

gain on the year-end revaluation of derivative 

contracts open at the year-end was recognised 

among other current assets, while any revalua-

tion loss was recognised among other current 

liabilities.

Among the technical receivables interest are 

Wáberer Hungária Biztosító Zrt’s reinsurance 

receivables from the Hungarian Insurance Asso-

ciation (MABISZ) and other non-client related 

receivables.

As a result of the Group’s rigorous credit rating 

and collection processes, the impairment 

loss on doubtful debts did not increase on the 

previous year net of the effect of the Link acqui-

sition. 

Impaired receivables increased by only EUR 42 

thousand on the previous year. A total impair-

ment loss of EUR 631 thousand was recog-

nised during the Link acquisition, mostly as a 

result of the above mentioned process inef-

ficiencies. From 2018 onwards, new billing 

processes will be introduced and, in Q4 2017, the 

parent company’s closed central credit limit and 

partner records management system was intro-

duced.

The increase in the accumulated value of 

impairment recorded on receivables in 2017 is 

due to the described acquisition. The increase in 

impairment was EUR 553,807 which is 0.082% 

of the total revenue. The decrease in impair-

ment is EUR 513,535 which is the result of the 

successful work of the collection group.

december 31, 2016 december 31, 2017

Foreign VAT and excise tax 21,975,690 26,091,597

Tax receivables 2,534,498 3,343,342 

Loans granted 1,469,896 1,460,282 

Receivables from employees 1,293,059 402,436 

Prepayments 0 0 

Accruals 5,601,952 7,178,572 

Other 1,788,246 801,172 

Derivative transactions 3,140,287 1,756,682

Technical insurance receivables 3,236,174 3,991,933

Total 41,039,802 45,025,864

As at December 31, 2017, the Company had the following open derivative contracts:

As at December 31, 2016, the Group had the following open derivative contracts:

Market value information related to the derivatives is detailed in note 34. The above open deriva-

tive contracts mature within one year.

Impairment

January 1, 2016 2,293,661

Increase 83

Decrease 0

December 31, 2016 2,293,744

Increase 72,359

Decrease 488,326

FX gain or loss 598

December 31, 2017 1 877 179

partner bank Contract type Currency amount of trade

ING Bank N.V Forward – purchase thousand HUF 7 647 575

K&H Bank. Forward – sale thousand HUF 28 856 159

UniCredit Bank. Forward – purchase EUR 4 814 040

Citibank Plc Forward – sale EUR 3 534 405

K&H Bank.
Commodity swap –  

diesel – purchase
Mt 2 000 Mt

partnerbank Contract type Currency amount of trade

ING Bank N.V Forward – sale thousand HUF 10 698 565

Citibank Plc Forward – sale thousand HUF 17 449 473

Other impairment loss was recorded on other 

current assets, including debts of former 

employees, receivables from insurance compa-

nies, receivables related to guarantees and 

loans disbursed. Other impairment losses 

changed significantly compared to last year, 

which is due to the decrease in the fluctuation 

of drivers as well as the improvement in the effi-

ciency of the credit management procedures.

15. non-Current aSSetS Held  
For Sale

Non-current assets held for sale include vehi-

cles, the lease contract of which has expired 

and the Group intends to sell them. The Group 

acquires the vehicles from the lessor at their 

residual value specified in the lease contract, 

then upon the sale it realises the difference 

between the sales price and the carrying 

value as profit or loss: this resulted in a gain 

of EUR 3,700,255  in 2016 and EUR 3,952,679  

in 2017.

 december 31, 2016 december 31, 2017

Amount 2,068,319 151,631

Number of assets 233 7
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Movements in non-current assets held for sale were as follows:

december 31, 2015 4,550,122

Reclassified from tangible assets 27,639,827

Disposals (30,121,630) 

December 31, 2016 2,068,319

Reclassified from tangible assets 24,182,324

Disposals (26,099,012)

December 31, 2017 151,631

16. CaSH 
and CaSH 
equIvalentS
Cash and cash equivalents include the Group’s 

petty cash and bank balances as well as 

Wáberer Hungária Insurer’s demand and short-

term deposits that exceed the coverage for 

reserves. Cash and cash equivalent totalled 

EUR 58,997,190 at December 31, 2017. The EUR 

27 million increase in cash flows in 2017 was due 

to a positive difference of EUR 14.527 thousand 

between the Group’s enhanced cash-generating 

ability (EUR 12.784 thousand), the gain on floata-

tion less related costs and the price paid for the 

acquired Polish subsidiaries. 

17. equItY
The share capital of Waberer’s International 

Nyrt. at December 31, 2017, comprised 17,693,734 

dematerialised shares each with a face value 

of EUR 0.35. The Group had 38,860 redeemed 

treasury shares at the end of 2017. 

On June 29, 2017, the Group’s Board of Directors 

decided to increase the Group’s share capital 

which thus increased from EUR 5,128,910 to EUR 

6,192,807. The capital increase was funded from 

the gains on an initial public offering at the Buda-

pest Stock Exchange as the Group was trans-

formed into a public limited Group by shares 

(Nyrt.). The subscription period closed on June 

29, 2017, and the shares involved in the capital 

increase were printed on July 5, 2017, then trading 

with the Group’s shares started on the Budapest 

Stock Exchange in the premium category on July 

6, 2017. The related gain of HUF 15,502,500 thou-

sand (3,039,706 new shares at an issue rate of 

HUF 5,100 each, presented in the financial state-

ments in a total of EUR 50,218,980) was used, 

further to management decision, to fund acquisi-

tions and, to a lesser extent, to improve operating 

efficiency. 

The costs of transformation into a public 

company and the related floatation expenses are 

presented as an EUR 3,355,071 decrease in equity 

in accordance with the applicable IFRS stand-

ards. 

On June 20, 2017, Waberer’s International Nyrt. 

gained full control over Link Sp. z o.o. and Link 

Services Sp. z o.o., Poland, by buying out all the 

previous owners. The value of the acquisitions, 

including transaction costs, was EUR 32,962,445 

and was funded from the net income from the 

public floatation of Waberer’s shares. The Group 

gained a controlling interest in the new subsidi-

aries on July 1, 2017 and has included these enti-

ties in the consolidation as of that date. The 

Impairment

January 1,2016 22,891

Increase 0

Decrease 22,891

December 31, 2016 0

Increase 0 

Decrease 0 

December 31, 2017 0 

Group identified a business combination under 

IFRS  3 and presented goodwill in the consolidate 

financial statements as described in Note 6. 

Reserves include the profits and losses of previous 

years, the reporting year profit or loss, and the 

results of transactions with equity holders, as 

presented in the statement of changes in equity. 

The reserves row does not represent the distribut-

able earnings because the dividend is determined 

based on the figures presented in the stand-

alone statutory financial statements prepared 

in accordance with Hungarian accounting law.  In 

the consolidated financial statements, the divi-

dends payable based on the Hungarian statu-

tory annual report to the minority shareholders 

are disclosed in the changes in equity in the year 

when the disbursement was made.

Main rights and obligations of the 
shareholders
Only those shareholders are entitled to exer-

cise shareholder rights who were entered into 

the register of shareholders. The conditions and 

method of exercising of the voting rights at the 

General Meeting are set in the Articles of Associ-

ation paragraph 5.6. The register of shareholders 

shall be updated by KELER Központi Értéktár 

Zártkörűen Működő Részvénytársaság (herein-

after: KELER) on a monthly basis in accordance 

with the respective provisions of the agreement, 

made public by the Group, entered into between 

the Group and KELER with respect to the keeping 

of the register of shareholders. No certificate of 

ownership is required for the exercising of share-

holder rights, if entitlement is verified by way of 

the shareholder identification procedure.

1. Right to receive dividends

The shareholders are entitled to receive a share of 

the Group’s profit that is available and has been 

ordered for distribution by the General Meeting 

in the percentage consistent with the nominal 

value of their shares. Dividends shall be paid to 

the shareholders that are listed in the register 

of shareholders at the date of the shareholder 

identification relating to the dividend payment 

date announced by the Group. The date of the 

shareholder identification relating to the divi-

dend payment date cannot be earlier than the 

fifth trading date following the general meeting 

resolving on the dividend payment. Dividends 

may be paid by means other than cash. 

The Group shall pay dividends to the shareholders 

by way of bank transfer as of the date specified 

by the relevant resolution of the General Meeting. 

The dividend payment period shall commence 

on the date determined in the resolution of the 

General Meeting on the approval of the annual 

financial statement prepared in accordance with 

the Accounting Act and the utilisation of after-tax 

profit. However, at least ten business days shall 

expire between the date of the first publication of 

the communication containing the resolution of 

the General Meeting on the amount of dividend to 

be paid and the date of commencement of divi-

dend payment and the date of commencement 

of the distribution of dividend.

Shareholders may claim the dividend as of the 

date of commencement of dividend payment 

until the expiry of the limitation period specified 

by law (five years). Thereafter any claim for divi-

dend shall lapse.

The General Meeting, and pursuant to Section 

3:263 (3) of the Civil Code, the Board of Direc-

tors shall also be entitled to adopt a decision 

on the payment of interim dividends between 

the approval of two consecutive financial state-

ments if:

•  according to the interim balance sheet, the 

Group has funds sufficient to cover such 

interim dividends;

•  the amount distributed does not exceed the 

amount of available profit reserves supple-

mented with the after-tax profit shown in the 

interim financial statement; and

•  the payment of such interim dividends may not 

result in the Group’s adjusted equity capital 

falling below its share capital.

If according to the annual financial statements 

prepared after the distribution of interim divi-

dends there was no justification for the payment 

of dividends, such distribution must be returned 

by the shareholder when so requested by the 

Group.

Dividends payable in respect of treasury shares 

shall be considered as distributions due to the 

shareholders entitled to receive dividends in 

proportion to the nominal value of their shares.

Shareholders shall be entitled to receive divi-

dends based on the capital contributions they 

have already paid up.
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2.  Right to information and to attend the General 

Meeting 

The Board of Directors shall provide informa-

tion to the shareholders with respect to the 

Group, as well as access to the documents and 

records concerning the Group, provided that the 

shareholder requesting such access has made a 

written confidentiality statement. The Board of 

Directors may refuse to provide information and 

access to documents, if the foregoing request 

would harm the confidential business informa-

tion of the Group, the person requesting such 

information abuses his right to information, or 

fails to make a confidentiality statement despite 

request to this effect. If the person requesting 

information considers the refusal of such request 

unjustified, he may request that the competent 

court of registration obligate the Group to provide 

such information.

The Board of Directors shall provide informa-

tion to all shareholders which are necessary for 

the discussions held in connection with the items 

placed on the agenda of the General Meeting 

in such a manner that, upon written request 

submitted by the shareholder at least eight days 

before the date set for the General Meeting, the 

relevant information is provided to the share-

holder at the latest three days before the date set 

for the General Meeting.

The Board of Directors shall disclose to the share-

holders the key data of the financial statements 

and the key data of the report of the Board of 

Directors and the Supervisory Board prepared in 

connection with the financial statements at least 

twenty-one (21) days before the General Meeting.

Each shareholder shall be entitled to partici-

pate, request information and make comments 

and proposals, as well as to vote at the General 

Meeting, if it holds shares with voting rights. 

Shareholders may exercise their voting rights, 

only if they have made their capital contribu-

tion. Shareholders may also exercise their share-

holder rights through authorised proxy. Share-

holders may not be represented by a member of 

the Board of Directors, a member of the Super-

visory Board or the statutory auditor. If a share-

holder is represented by several proxies and such 

proxies vote or make statements differently, all 

votes cast or statements made thereby shall be 

deemed null and void.

The authorisation for representation shall be 

prepared in the form of a notarial deed or a 

private deed of full evidentiary force. The proxy 

shall contain clearly and expressively at least: 

•  the shareholder’s statement for authorisation 

for the representative, 

•  the shareholder as Principal and the repre-

sentative as Proxy, 

•  the proxy is valid for one General Meeting or 

a determined period of time, but not a period 

exceeding 12 months, 

•  whether it covers the resumption of the 

suspended General Meeting and the recon-

vened General Meeting convened due to the 

lack of quorum, 

•  any further possible limitation of the proxy.

Only those shareholders or shareholder proxies 

may attend the General Meeting who were 

entered into the register of shareholders on the 

second business day preceding the date of the 

General Meeting based on the shareholder iden-

tification in accordance with KELER’s then appli-

cable General Business Conditions. In order to 

be registered in the Register of Shareholders for 

the General Meeting the Group will request from 

KELER a statement of ownership without encum-

brance of the ordinary shares issued by the Group. 

Based on the shareholders’ instructions regis-

tration of shareholders in the Register of Share-

holders shall be ensured by the shareholders’ 

securities account managers who shall forward 

the shareholders’ data to KELER. The Group 

shall not be responsible for the consequences 

of any failure on behalf of the securities account 

manager. Each share with a nominal value of EUR 

0.35 shall carry one vote. Each shareholder must 

cast all of his votes in the same way.

The General Meeting shall have a quorum if it 

was convened in accordance with the relevant 

rules and regulations, and if Shareholders repre-

senting more than 50% of the registered capital 

of the Group are present. If the General Meeting 

fails to have a quorum within one (1) hour from 

the time designated for commencement thereof, 

the Chairman of the General Meeting shall 

announce the date of the reconvened General 

Meeting as set out in the invitation to the General 

Meeting. The reconvened General Meeting may 

be called for a date following the date of the orig-

inal General Meeting by not less than at least ten 

(10) days and not more than twenty-one (21) 

days. The reconvened General Meeting may be 

held at the same venue, or any other venue spec-

ified in the invitation to the General Meeting. The 

reconvened General Meeting shall have a quorum 

for the issues of the original agenda irrespective 

of the voting rights represented by those present.

The General Meeting adopts its resolutions by 

a simple majority of the votes considered upon 

the establishment of a quorum, except for the 

matters indicated by the law and specified in 

Paragraphs (a)-(d) of Section 5.9.1, in respect 

of which the General Meeting adopts its resolu-

tions by a three-quarters majority of the votes. 

Any resolution of the General Meeting which 

discriminates against the rights attached to a 

certain series of shares may only be passed if the 

shareholders of the share series in question grant 

their explicit consent. Prior to the adoption of 

the resolution of the General Meeting the share-

holders of the share series concerned present 

at the meeting deliver a decision in respect of 

each series of shares by the simple majority of 

the votes represented by the shares pertaining 

to a particular series. In the course thereof, the 

provisions on the restriction or exclusion of the 

voting rights attached to such shares may not be 

applied, not including the prohibition of exercising 

voting rights attached to treasury shares.

3. Minority rights

Those shareholders who control at least 1% of 

the voting rights may at any time request that 

the General Meeting be convened, indicating the 

reason and purpose thereof. If the Board of Direc-

tors fails to take measures for convening the 

General Meeting for the earliest date possible 

within eight days from receipt of the request, the 

General Meeting shall be convened, upon the 

request of the shareholders making the proposal, 

by the court of registry, or the court of registry 

shall empower the requesting shareholders to 

convene the meeting. The expected costs of such 

meeting shall be advanced by the requesting 

shareholders. At the meeting convened upon 

the request of minority shareholders the General 

Meeting shall resolve whether the costs incurred 

are to be borne by the shareholders making the 

proposal or the Group.

If the General Meeting has refused to consider or 

put to vote a proposal that the last annual finan-

cial statement or any financial event or under-

taking which occurred in relation to the activity 

of the Group in the past two years be examined 

by an auditor to be specifically entrusted with 

this task, upon request by the shareholder or 

shareholders controlling at least 1% of the voting 

rights, which request is to be submitted within 

thirty days from the date of the relevant General 

Meeting under penalty of forfeiture of rights, 

the court of registry shall order such examina-

tion at the cost of the Group and appoint the 

auditor. The court of registry shall refuse to grant 

the request, if the shareholders submitting such 

request abuse their minority rights.

If the General Meeting has refused to consider 

or put to vote a proposal that a claim by the 

Group against any shareholder, Board member, 

member of the Supervisory Board, or the stat-

utory auditor be enforced, the shareholders 

controlling at least 1% of the voting rights may 

also enforce such claim themselves on behalf 

of and to the benefit of the Group within thirty 

(30) days from the date of the relevant General 

Meeting under penalty of forfeiture of rights.

If shareholders controlling at least 1% of voting 

rights in the Group make a proposal to the Board 

of Directors regarding additions to the agenda 

in accordance with the provisions on setting 

the items of the agenda, or a draft resolution 

concerning any item already on the agenda or to 

be put on the agenda within eight (8) days from 

the publication of the notice on the convening of 

the General Meeting, the Board of Directors shall 

publish a communication on the supplemented 

agenda and the draft resolutions submitted 

by the shareholders upon being notified of the 

proposal. The issues indicated in the notice shall 

be deemed to have been put on the agenda. 

Shareholders of the Group controlling at least 

1% of voting rights and any creditor of the Group 

with a claim which is not yet due at the time of 

distribution and reaches 10% of the registered 

capital until the expiry of the one-year limita-

tion period as from the date of distribution may 

request, with the simultaneous advancing of 

costs, that the court of registry appoint an auditor 

to examine whether such disbursement is lawful. 

Any payment to the shareholders made in cash 

or otherwise shall be construed as a distribution, 

with the exception of employee shares provided 

without compensation or at a discounted price, 

as well as shares provided without compensation 

from the share capital increased by the conver-

sion of assets which do not form part of the share 

capital into share capital.
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The Group acquires the vehicles it needs for its 

basic operations using finance leases.  For trucks, 

the maturity of the Group’s lease contracts 

increased from 4 years to 5 years, while for trailers 

The table shows the maturity and interest 

payments of lease liabilities as at 2016 and 

2017 year-end, but it does not take into account 

that as the assets are continuously replaced 

the maturing lease agreements are constantly 

18. leaSInG lIabIlItIeS

19. provISIonS

it remained 5 years. The Group acquires the vehi-

cles directly from the manufacturers, who provide 

a repurchase guarantee not only for the end of the 

term but also during the term.

replaced with new ones. The interest charges 

on the lease liabilities are calculated based 

on the EURIBOR valid on the current year 

at December 31, and the increased interest 

premiums.

The following table shows the break-down of future lease payments (capital and interest) by maturity.

within  
6 months

6-12  
months 1-2 years 2-5 years over  

5 years total

december 31, 2016

Finance lease 
liabilities, capital

31,227,490 34,644,610 52,644,966 108,621,453 977,770 228,116,289

Finance lease 
liabilities, interest

1,724,936 1,362,809 1,997,224 1,836,029 28,616 6,949,614

Total 32,952,426 36,007,419 54,642,190 110,457,482 1,006,386 235,065,903

december 31, 2017

Finance lease 
liabilities, capital

40,774,940 40,653,926 91,871,107 112,343,857 2,541,665 288,185,494

Finance lease 
liabilities, interest

2,049,403 1,708,036 2,309,722 2,415,817 20,652 8,503,630 

Total 42,824,342 42,361,962 94,180,828 114,759,674 2,562,317 296,689,124    

litigations Insurance 
claims other bonus total

Opening at January 1, 2016 949,920 0 1,997,142 2,605,883 5,552,945

Allocation and review of 
previous estimates

710,515 4,425,637 971,580 2,276,983 8,384,715

Opening due to acquisition 0 10,843,058 0 0 10,843,058

Interest impact 14,216 0 0 0 14,216

FX gain/loss 225 0 0 0 225

Release (452,153) 0 0 0 (452,153)

Use (99,637) 0 (1,997,142) (2,605,883) (4,702,662)

Closing at December 31, 2016 1 123 086 15,268,695 971,580 2,276,983 19,640,344

Allocation and review  
of previous estimates

1,050,690 5,311,869 612,610 2,269,898 9,245,067

Opening due to acquisition 100,761 0 0 0 100,761

Interest impact 0 0 0 0 0

FX gain/loss 6,063 0  (240) 485 6,307

Release (780,879) 0 0 (733 591) (1,514,470)

Use (420,256) 0 (972,317)  (1,074,133) (2,466,706)

Closing at December 31, 2017 1,079,464 20,580,565 611 633 2,739,641 25,011,303
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litigations Insurance 
claims other bonus total

Short-term portion 2016 0 0 971,580 1,800,173 2,771,753

Long-term portion 2016 1,123,086 15,268,695 0 476,810 16,868,591

Short-term portion 2017 0 0 611,633 2,739,641 3,351,274

Long-term portion 2017 1,079,464 20,580,565 0 0 21,660,029

As at December 31, 2017, the Group had made 

provisions of EUR 1,123,086 for contingent liabilities 

from ongoing litigations. In most of these cases, 

the insurance company paid compensation to 

the Group’s customers based on a CMR policy. As 

a result, provisions of EUR 781,000 were released 

and EUR 420,000 was used from the provision 

made for uninsured claims during the year. The 

Group reviewed the progress of its legal cases 

on a quarterly basis and a total provision of EUR 

1,050,690 was made for brought forward and new 

cases in 2017. Any contingent liability is expected to 

incur after more than one year, therefore these are 

presented among long-term liabilities.

In 2017, the Group made a technical insurance 

provision of EUR 5,311,869 in addition to EUR 

15,268,695 provisions made in 2016 as presented 

among long-term provisions in the Group finan-

cial statements for compensation payable 

by   Wáberer Hungária Biztosító Zrt., acquired 

in 2016. Wáberer Hungária Biztosító Zrt. is the 

Group’s exclusive insurer and offers comprehen-

sive insurance solutions,  including indemnity, 

vehicle, asset and CMR insurance services.

In view of the Group’s performance in 2016, 

management approved an employee bonus 

payment totalling EUR 1,457,630. Accordingly, 

a provision of EUR 1,800,173 was made for this 

amount plus related taxes. The bonuses were 

paid in the first half of 2017.  In 2017, the Group 

made a provision of EUR 1,055,262 for employee 

bonuses plus related taxes. 

The owners of the Group started an Employee 

Share Option Program (ESOP) organisation 

with the aim of handling the financial instru-

ments according to the remuneration policy 

framework following the acquisition of the 

leading influence in the acquired subsidiary.

ESOP is a new form of employee remuneration 

program in Hungary introduced by the State, which 

ensures a favourable taxation for employers and/

or employees. Although the ESOP Organisation 

is an independent legal entity duly registered by 

the Company Registry, it does not qualify a busi-

ness enterprise as its existence does not serve a 

tangible economic purpose and, in this particular 

case, acts merely as an ”intermediary” between 

Waberer’s and its employees under Waberer’s 

Compensation and Rewards Policy. At the same 

time, the concept of the ESOP Organisation is out 

of the scope of IFRS 10 but within the scope of 

IAS 19 as it is another long-term employee benefit 

plan. Based on the definition in IAS 19, any reward 

extended by the ESOP Organisation qualifies as 

other long-term employee benefit. All employee 

benefit in the ESOP Organisation other than a 

short-term employee benefits, a post-employ-

ment benefit or a termination benefit. The partic-

ipants in the ESOP are middle managers and 

senior executives of the Group.

The Group reviewed the aims of the ESOP 

organisation and based on this assessment 

made provisions of EUR 1,214,636 for covering 

future benefits.

The Group made provisions of a sum of EUR 

971,580 for untaken employee holidays. Vaca-

tions for 2016 were taken in 2017. According 

to payroll records at December 31, 2017, leave 

benefits plus related taxes totalled EUR 612,610 

for which the Group has made a provision.

20. otHer lonG-terM lIabIlItIeS

december 31, 2016 december 31, 2017

Loans from non-related companies 0 6,448,045

Total 0 6,448,045
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Technical insurance provisions total EUR 

41,640,209 and include insurance reserves 

set aside at the end of the financial year for 

Wáberer Hungária Biztosító’s third-party insur-

ance contracts in accordance with the insur-

ance act. These reserves are as follows: 

reserves for unearned premiums 
Insurance premium prescribed in 2017 for the 

next financial year. 

outstanding claims reserve
This reserve is recognised on the basis of two 

articles related to loss events. First, it includes 

reserves created to cover claims not yet settled 

but reported in, or before 2017. For each loss 

event a loss reserve is created, which includes 

the balance of the damage claim costs related to 

settling the claim. Each loss reserve is reduced by 

the expected recoverable regress claims. 

Additionally, in accordance with insurance legis-

lation, the reserve also includes claim reserves for 

each sector created based on insurance run-off 

triangles, or earned premiums (in cases where 

the insurance company does not have data from 

the past three years). These claim reserves are 

created to cover claims that have been incurred 

but have not yet been reported.

other reserves 
The entity created cancellation reserves for 

liabilities relating to policyholders based on 

the percentages determined in the accounting 

policies: first, based on the age of outstanding 

receivables, and secondly, based on historical 

data on lapse of interest. 

In order to reduce the risks of its insurance 

contracts, the entity signed reinsurance 

contracts for the aforementioned technical 

reserves. Based on the reinsurance contracts, 

the proportionate amounts of technical 

reserves have been presented among long-

term financial assets.

21. teCHnICal InSuranCe 
provISIonS

22. otHer Current lIabIlItIeS and 
derIvatIve FInanCIal InStruMentS

december 31, 2016 december 31, 2017

Payments to personnel 9,932,133 11,147,940

Taxes 595,563 897,484

Accruals 70,378 179,292

Other liabilities 501,101 5,910,402

Derivative contracts 1,166,961 522,570

Insurance technical liabilities 536,691 508,165

Total 12,802,827 19,165,853
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On June 30, 2009, two of the Group’s subsid-

iaries received a loan of EUR 5 million with a 

term of 4 years from one of their main suppliers. 

In the hope of a fruitful co-operation, on June 

30, 2012, the loan was extended until June 30, 

2016, and then for another year. The contracts 

of Group management were extended for 

another three years and the scope of their 

contracts was extended to include the newly 

acquired Polish subsidiaries.

As a result of the above, liabilities related to the 

contracts expired in 2017 (EUR 6,359,057) were 

posted to short-term loans, and the year-end 

balance due to the prolonged contracts are 

presented among long-term liabilities.

The related borrowing costs are included in the 

fee for the regular monthly services supplied by 

the lender. 

Payments to personnel include yet unpaid 

wages payable to employees and related 

taxes presented among payroll expenses in 

the consolidated financial statements. 

Starting from August 1, 2013, the Group 

switched to group VAT payments, which 

resulted in a significant decrease in the net 

amounts of other receivables and other liabil-

ities. Group VAT significantly improved the 

Group’s liquidity. Differences arising from the 

year-end losses are presented among the 

liabilities arising from the derivative financial 

instruments. See note 11.

The significant increase in other liabilities 

reflects factored debtors of the acquired Polish 

subsidiary totalling approximately EUR 6 

million. Receivables are factored with recourse. 

Accordingly, debtors are presented until collec-

tion in gross against factoring liabilities.

 

Technical insurance liabilities include prepay-

ments by policyholders, other amounts paid 

in advance, other outstanding repair and 

replacement payable at December 31, 2017, 

and amounts payable to insurance brokers.

Liabilities from derivative contracts include 

revaluation losses as presented in Note 15.

23. SaleS revenue, MedIated 
ServICeS

Item Int.  
transport

 regional 
contract  
logistics 

other
Inter-

segment 
setoffs

total

Own fleet 
transportation revenues

354,820,645 39,724,144 0 (140,035) 394,404,754

Subcontractor reve-
nues

79,796,027 29,318,710 0 (1,036,314) 108,078,423

Other revenues 16,784,764 28,927,323 31,911,271 (7,754,723) 69,868,635

Inter-segment setoffs 
(–)

(7,979,410) (951,662) 0 8,931,072 0

Net income 443,422,026 97,018,515 31,911,271 0 572,351,812

2016

Item Int.  
transport

 regional 
contract  
logistics 

other
Inter-

segment 
setoffs

total

Own fleet transporta-
tion revenues

391,401,548 54,235,668 0 (71,000) 445,566,216 

Subcontractor reve-
nues

 98,080,908 34,670,716 0 (740,762) 132,010,862 

Other revenues  22,145,076 35,630 926 50,621,242 (11,592,821) 96,804,423 

Inter-segment setoffs 
(-)

 (11,463,535) (941,048) – 12,404,583 – 

Net income  500,163,997 123,596,262 50,621,242 0 674,381,501 

2017
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International transportation segment
Revenues from international transportation 

with own fleet increased by a notable 10.31% in 

2017. An important factor in this was the acqui-

sition of the Polish subsidiary which added 440 

trucks to the existing fleet. The Polish subsidiary 

was first included in the consolidation as of July 

1, 2017, and realised revenues of EUR 49 million 

by the end of 2017 in the own-fleet international 

transportation segment. In addition to inorganic 

growth, the Group also improved its internal 

performance, as a result of which the average 

number of trucks increased from 2,970 in 2016 

to 3,084 in 2017 (net the new Polish subsidiary) 

Organic growth helped increase volumes by 4% 

compared to 2016.

Loading ratio and mileage also improved. The 

combined effect of revenues per kilometre, 

loaded percentage and mileage output also 

increased revenue by 3%. The annual total 

mileage of the fleet used in international trans-

portation was nearly 420 million kilometres.

In this segment, the revenue from transporta-

tion with third-party vehicles increased by 6.3% 

on the previous year. 

For its international goods transportation oper-

ations the Group not only uses its own vehi-

cles but also employs subcontractors, along 

with other related services, which are sold 

on in unchanged form to its clients (such as 

ferry tickets and other crossing services, and 

motorway tolls). The aforementioned sales 

revenue is presented in revenues from non-reg-

ular business activities.

regional contractual logistics segment
Revenues from the regional logistics operations 

increased by 26.8% in 2017, well over the 15% 

increase in 2016. This increase was due to the 

group’s active market expansion strategy started 

in 2016 and continued in the reporting year. 

Within this segment, own-fleet transportation 

revenues increased over 36% on the previous 

year. In order to serve a larger market, the fleet 

increased by 14%, and the number of kilo-

metres driven increased by 22%, which reflects 

improved efficiency. The entire fleet reached an 

annual mileage record of 60 million kilometres.

A large number of subcontractors are involved 

in the road transport operations of the regional 

contractual logistics segment. These subcon-

tractors account for 39% of the segments, 

road transport revenues (a 22% increase within 

segment revenues, but a 3% drop within total 

revenues).

Apart from road transport services, the regional 

logistics segment also provides complex logis-

tics services to clients, including warehousing 

and other related services. Warehousing reve-

nues represent a key item within other reve-

nues. Warehousing revenues in 2017 exceeded 

EUR 23 million, which is 64% more than in 2016. 

In order to ensure warehousing capacity, in the 

past 18 months, Waberer’s-Szemerey Logisz-

tika Kft. signed rental contracts with two more 

significant property management companies in 

addition to the warehouse hub rented from BILK 

Logisztikai Zrt. and owned by a Group member, 

Közdűlő Invest Kft. The segment’s ware-

housing operations are carried out in the above 

described rented properties totalling more than 

160,000 square metres.

The Group entities supply various services to 

the domestic transport subcontractors, such 

as selling fuel, managing road toll payments 

and vehicle repairs. These services are supplied 

and charged on an ’as is’ basis and the related 

revenues are presented among revenues from 

non-core operations.

other segment
Insurance revenues include the revenues of 

Wáberer Hungária Insurance company from 

third-party insurance policies. The Group’s 

insurance company offers insurance solu-

tions related to domestic and international 

transportation, such as mandatory liability 

insurance, vehicle insurance, CMR and carrier 

indemnity insurance. The insurance company 

also offers services (car and asset insurance) 

to retail clients. In accordance with applicable 

Hungarian legislation, the Group’s insurance 

company does not offer life insurance services. 

The company’s revenues from insurance 

services increased by nearly EUR 18 million 

on the previous year. This was due partly 

to the fact that, in 2016, the company was 

only consolidated as of 1 April (9 months) as 

opposed to 12 months for 2017. Organic growth 

also contributed to a 22% increase in revenues 

on the previous year.
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Within salaries, allowances, contributions, the 

Group presents the payroll costs and related 

taxes of international drivers, service colleagues, 

and domestic storage colleagues.

Directly paid salaries increased by EUR 4 million 

on 2016, in which the acquisition of the Polish 

subsidiaries alone was key with an EUR 2.1 

million increase. Besides this an increased fleet 

calls for more staff  and the number of drivers 

(less the effect of the acquisition) increased by 

one hundred. Another increasing factor was a 

raise in gross salaries. 

Variable wages and taxes include driver 

bonuses and social security contributions. 

Despite an increased fleet and the Polish acqui-

sition, restructured driver bonuses and a 5% 

drop in social contributions resulted in an overall 

decrease in these costs.

 

The increase in direct pay approximated EUR 

8.5 million in 2017. The primary reason for the 

increase was the acquisition of the Polish 

entities, which added EUR 3.6 million. Other 

increasing factors were the increase in the 

number staff as the Group’s fleet expanded and 

an average 8% increase in compensation pack-

ages as approved by management

While the number of drivers in the Group’s inter-

national transportation segment was 4,170 in 

2016, it grew to 5,000 in 2017.

24. SalarIeS, allowanCeS, 
ContrIbutIonS
International transportation segment

regional contractual logistics segment

Item 2016 2017

Direct payroll costs and related taxes 29,195,695 32,613,791

 Salaries 21,505,660 25,557,328

 Variable wages and taxes 7,690,035 7,056,463

Benefits 46,338,645 54,831,706

Direct payroll costs and related taxes 75,534,340 87,445,497

Item 2016 2017

Direct payroll costs and related taxes 7,808,816 11,322,508

 Salaries 4,381,788 7,229,219

 Variable wages and taxes 3,427,029 4,093,289

Benefits 3,246,842 4,948,455

Direct payroll costs and related taxes 11,055,658 16,270,963

Payroll costs and related taxes reflect the 

wages, salaries and benefits paid to the Group’s 

domestic drivers, servicing personnel, and ware-

house staff, and the related taxes and social 

security contributions.

In order to ensure the revenue generating 

services (transportation and warehousing), 

the number of drivers increased by 21% on 

the previous year, and the number of ware-

house staff more than doubled in 2017. In view 

of a shortage of staff in the region, the Group 

effected a notable salary increase in the regional 

contractual logistics segment.

The number of staff in the regional segment was 

1,540  at the end of 2017.
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The fuel cost of international transportation 

increased by EUR 7.9 million on the previous 

year. This increase was due mostly (by EUR 6.6 

million) to the extra transportation capacity 

acquired as a result of the new Polish subsid-

iary. The rest (less than a EUR 1 million increase) 

was due to a 4% increase in average fuel costs 

Of the increase in road tolls in the international 

transportation segment, EUR 3.5 million was 

due to the acquisition of the Polish subsidiary. 

The increase in road tolls per motorway kilo-

metre was mitigated by the Group by using 

non-toll roads and cheaper routes. The signif-

icant increase in ferry costs (EUR 3.9 million) 

was, again, due to the Polish subsidiary, as its 

fleet heavily relies on the UK market. Other 

transit costs include parking fees and retro-

spective discounts on road tolls and ferry 

fares. 

despite a notable (over 2%) reduction in actual 

fuel consumption. 

Fuel costs in the domestic transportation 

segment increased by nearly 50% as a result of 

increased mileage, a 10% increase in fuel prices 

and a reduction in refundable excise tax. 

The significant increase in road tolls in the 

domestic transportation segment was due to 

increased mileage and changes in the struc-

ture of shipping services. Services used reflect 

the cost of packing, commissions, labelling, 

re-packing and other warehousing services 

supplied by third parties to support the Group 

complex logistics services.

25. Fuel CoStS
 2016  2017 

Fuel used for international transportation 95,890,574 103,811,079

Fuel used for domestic transportation 8,774,123 13,351,619

Inter-segment setoffs (10,956) (41,419)

Fuel costs 104,653,741 117,121,320

 2016  2017 

Transit cost of international transportation

of which: motorway 60,570,239 64,160,378

 ferry crossings 21,967,856 26,078,689

 services used 193,568 403,146

 other transit costs (2,146,759) 1,005,832

Transit cost of domestic transportation

of which: motorway 5,224,108 8,142,615

 ferry  crossings 36,777 5,725

 services used 8,122,935 11,032,475

 other transit costs 500,640 513,509

Inter-segment setoffs (240,365) (380,568)

Road tolls and transit costs 94,229,000 110,961,800

26. MotorwaY & tranSIt CoStS
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Wáberer Hungária Biztosító Zrt, the subsidiary 

acquired in 2016, covers its most significant 

risks with reinsurance contracts. Reinsurance 

coverage is 75% for international transport 

insurance (CMR and delivery), 50% for CASCO, 

housing and elements of other property insur-

The significant increase in repair and fitting 

costs was due to the increased fleet as a result 

of the acquisition of the Polish subsidiary.

ance, and 50% for third-party liability motor 

insurance. The reason for the significant 

increase in reinsurance costs was that the 

insurance company’s large risk exposure was 

minimised in view of a sustainable profit ratio.

Insurance costs include claims paid by Wáberer 

Hungária Insurance following its full consolida-

tion in 2016  not only to Group to members but 

also to third parties. 

 2016  2017 

Reinsurance costs 17,416,693 26,688,216

 2016  2017 

Repair, installation costs 12,385,218 15,997,198

Insurance costs and expenses 24,368,373 25,529,094

Direct rental costs 5,429,912 5,598,107

Other services 1,615,877 2,106,100

Vehicle weight tax and other transportation taxes 1,891,094 2,131,096

Other costs, total 45,690,475, 51,361,594

 2016  2017 

International forwarding 12,703,002 9 823,033

Regional contractual logistics 1,135,101 (35,882)

Other 10,530,271 18,006,428

Inter-segment setoffs 0 (2 264,485)

Total 24,368,374 25,529,094

27. reInSuranCe CoStS

28. otHer CoStS
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The significant increase in fines, penalties, late 

payment interest refund was due to the fact 

that Waberer’s Romania had disbursed EUR 

1,024 thousand under a former customs guar-

antee to the Romanian state dating back to 

2010. As a result of the related 7-year litigation 

process, the Group’s position was upheld and 

the disbursements were refunded.

Impairment losses on receivables have been 

reversed as other income and are recognised 

as other expenses. During the year, the Group 

introduced a monitoring sytem for reviewing 

individual receivables each month.

 2016  2017 

Indirect wages and payments 27,625,978 34,162,248

Other services 18,320,985 19,520,456

 Property maintenance, utilities and rent 3,835,331 4,831,169

 Specialists 5,153,175 4,590,384

 IT costs 2,142,945 2,815,770

 Communication costs 568,803 722,134

 Company cars 610,914 691,613

 Marketing costs 1,020,879 635,684

 Other costs 4,988,937 5,233,703

Selling, general and administrative costs 45,946,963 53,682,703

 2016  2017 

Provisions released 555,872 821,279

Compensation income 1,012,513 1,722,763

Fines, penalties, default interest refund 15,134 1,281,952

Employee refunds 1,245,972 993,503

Government grant 21,673 23,332

Reversed impairment loss on receivables 223,955 855,331

Reversed impairment loss on inventories 0 107,523

Return on deposits for insurance claim reserves 859,986 1,217,566

Other miscellaneous income 1,123,232 1,887,349

Total 5,058,337 8,910,958

29. IndIreCt CoStS

30. otHer InCoMe

The details of indirect costs are as follows:
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32. FInanCIal expenSeS
 2016  2017 

Interest income 94,945 97,853

Interest paid (4,311,568) (4,736,183)

Realised FX gain or loss (166,387) (214,210)

Unrealised FX gain or loss 29,193 1,144,694

Realised gain or loss on derivatives   1,205,383   (68,503)

Gain or loss on investments 182,834 230,608

Other (160,771) (9,256)

Total (3,126,371) (3,554,997)

Income and expenses related to claims 

comprise damage to vehicles and goods 

during transport and damage suffered during 

customs guarantee activities, as well as the 

associated insurance pay-outs. The majority of 

other income and damage-related expenses 

recognised under other expenses is connected 

to Waberer’s International Zrt., Euro-Unió 

Trans Kft. and to franchise companies. Reve-

nues from damage events exceed the expense 

related to damage as a result of self-funded 

repairs.

The amount of provision for insurance claims is 

booked as an expense and is presented among 

provisions.

Most of the change in penalties was due to 

two cases: (1) the French police retrospec-

tively fined all European carriers for speeding in 

the years 2014 to 2017  (EUR 303,000 at Group 

level); (2) EUR 337,000 tax penalty paid to the 

Romanian tax authority after a comprehensive 

tax audit involving the years 2011-2016. The tax 

audit also identified unpaid taxes which the 

Group challenged and filed for a review while 

concurrently securing a bank guarantee. The 

review must end in May 2018 and, unless it 

brings results, the Group is prepared to contest 

the initial decision of the tax authority in court 

on the grounds that the transfer pricing prac-

tice challenged  by the Romanian tax authority 

is against the EU’s principles.

31. otHer expenSeS

The following table shows the segment information of other income:

Years International 
transport

 regional 
contract  
logistics 

other
Inter-

segment 
offsetting

total 

2016 3,727,583 841,292 456,276 33,186 5,058,337 

2017 7,301,785 1,374,938 840,172 (606,297) 8,910,598

 2016  2017 

Repair and replacement paid 1,464,796 2,186,573

Provisions 888,781 605,410

Impairment on debtors 288,132 850,222

Penalties, fines 1,356,169 2,398,757

Impairment on inventories 228,461 0

Credit loss 17,914 22,538

Provisions for insurance events 4,425,637 5,477,393

Other miscellaneous expenses 1,949,616 1,511,332

Total 10,619,506 13,052,224

The following table shows the segment information of other expenses.

Years International 
transport

 regional 
contract  
logistics 

other
Inter-

segment 
offsetting

total 

2016 9,606,344 973,131 73,272 (33,241) 10,619,506

2017 10,391,091 2,565,058 96,076 0 13,052,225
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With the Group, Waberer’s International Nyrt., 

Waberer’s-Szemerey Logisztika Kft. and the 

acquired Link Sp. z o.o. had significant financial 

leases in 2016 and 2017. 

The amount of interest paid by the Group on 

financial leases did not change significantly 

(EUR 4,292 thousand in 2017 vs. EUR 4,272 

thousand in 2016). The Group’s daily average 

leasing portfolio increased by EUR 60.1 million 

as a result of the acquisitions in 2017 and the 

Group’s organic growth. The interest rates on 

the new trucks acquired in 2017 dropped by an 

average of 0.5% as a result of a 0.07% drop in 

basis rates (3-month EURIBOR and EONIA) and 

a 0.43% drop in interest margins. The average 

interest rate in 2017 was 1.67% as opposed to 

2.17% in 2016. 

The accounting records of most Group compa-

nies are maintained in EUR and so most trans-

actions are not subject to foreign exchange rate 

fluctuations at any time since all the Group’s 

revenues are earned and 70% of its costs are 

incurred in EUR. 

However the Group’s subsidiaries in Poland 

maintain their accounting records in PLN and 

so the records of their EUR leasing liabilities are 

subject to the fluctuations of the PLN exchange 

rate. The Group will seek to develop policies to 

mitigate the accounting impact of future move-

ments in the PLN, however Polish law does 

not permit adoption of the EUR as reporting 

currency.

Likewise the accounts of Waberer’s-Sze-

merey Logisztika Kft. continue to be prepared in 

Hungarian Forint, its functional currency, so any 

CHF and EUR rate fluctuations result in foreign 

exchange differences on lease balances and 

transactions, and these are then translated into 

EUR during consolidation.

Assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 

exchange are presented in Note 34. c).
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 2016  2017 

Profit before taxation under IFRS 14,043,553 23,175,240

Income tax expense 4,869,626 4,784,390

Expected tax (11.3% of pre-tax profit) 1,586,921 2,618,802

Difference 3,282,705 2,165,588

The difference between the tax payment liability based on the accounting profit and the actual tax 

liability is broken down in the following table:

Deferred tax on cash-flow hedges reflects the 

deferred tax on the fair value difference on the 

Group’s derivatives recognised directly in equity 

in a total of EUR 66,529 at December 31, 2017.

The difference between the tax payment liability 

based on the accounting profit and the actual 

tax liability is broken down in the following table:

dec. 31, 2016 dec. 31, 2017

Waberer’s International Nyrt. 207,061 0

Waberer’s-Szemerey Logisztika Kft. 1,815,815 358,114

Franchise companies 0 909,069

Wáberer Hungária Biztosító Zrt. 0 29,976

Deferred tax liability in the BS 2,022,876 1,297,159

dec. 31, 2016 dec. 31, 2017

Wáberer Hungária Biztosító Zrt. (196,171) 0

Waberer’s International Nyrt. (203,510) (1,635,505)

Delta Rent Kft. (2,258) (3,371)

Link Sp. z o.o. Not group member (443,271)

Franchise companies 0 (107,263)

Deferred tax assets in the BS (401,939) (2,189,410)

Deferred tax details:

Item International 
transport

 regional 
contract  
logistics 

other
Inter-

segment 
offsetting

total 

Interest income 322,621 6,287 0 (95,008) 233,900

Interest paid (3,702,621) (842,979) 0 95,008 (4,450,559)

Other financials 1,033,731 107,694 (51,138) 0 1,090,288

Financial Expense (2,346,235) (728,998) (51,138) 0 (3,126,371)

2016

Item International 
transport

 regional 
contract  
logistics 

other
Inter-

segment 
offsetting

total 

Interest income 173,254 11,148 479 (87,028) 97,853

Interest paid (4,426,235) (576,977) 0 87,028 (4,736,183)

Other financials 1,435,776 (19,177) (332,865) 0 1,083,734

Financial Expense (2,637,204) (585,006) (332,386) 0 (3,554,597)

2017

The Group treats Hungarian corporate tax and 

local business tax as income taxes, along with 

the corresponding foreign income taxes; the 

impacts of the different tax bases are presented 

in the breakdown of the difference between the 

expected tax and the recognised income tax.

Upon preparing the consolidated financial state-

ments for 2016, the Group reviewed the effec-

tive tax rate in view of the changes in corporate 

taxation in Hungary effective as of January 1, 2017 

(announced in December 2016), and determined 

an effective tax rate of 11.3% - which remained 

unchanged in 2017. No deferred tax calcula-

tion is prepared for the foreign subsidiaries as 

they have no such item, except for Link Sp. z o.o., 

Poland, acquired in 2017.

33. InCoMe tax expenSeS

 2016  2017 

Current income tax expense 5,862,249 7,128,624

Deferred taxes (992,623) (2,344,234) 

Total income tax expense 4,869,626 4,784,390

The income tax expense disclosed in the consolidated financial statements for the Group as at 

December 31, 2016 and 2017 comprised the following components:

The following table shows interest payments by segment:
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34. ManaGeMent oF FInanCIal rISkS
During its operations the Group is exposed to 

various types of financial risk. These risks can be 

classified into the following groups:

• credit risk

• liquidity risk

• market risk

The management of the Group’s financial risks 

was centralised at the finance department.

This section contains a brief description of how 

these risks impact on the Group’s exposures 

and what targets, processes and internal poli-

cies the Group has elaborated and applies to 

measure and manage individual risks.

The Group’s Board of Directors is responsible 

for setting the risk management guidelines 

and frameworks for the Group. Their task is to 

design and set up a standard risk management 

policy and strategy, and continuously monitor 

what risks the Group is exposed to. The Board 

of Directors is also responsible for regularly 

reviewing risk management policies and strate-

gies, as well as updating and modifying them if 

market circumstances change.

(a) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that the Group will incur a 

loss due to a client not complying with contrac-

tual terms and conditions. From the perspective 

of the Group this primarily means the non-pay-

ment risk of clients.

trade and other receivables 
There is not a high concentration of credit risks 

in the Group. The 10 largest clients account for 

20.9% of total revenue in 2016 and 21.39% of 

total revenue in 2017.

The Group drafted a credit risk management 

policy based on which a review is carried out 

on all new clients regarding their operations 

and public information available at the tax 

authority. Thereafter, the commercial loan limit 

is determined based on the system of external 

and internal evaluations. The Group does not 

ask for any collateral to secure individual trade 

receivables. 

The Group has developed long-term relation-

ships with clients, and losses are not common. 

The Group monitors existing clients on a monthly 

basis to check the size of existing exposures 

and matured items. If the set limits are reached 

or exceeded the system automatically blocks 

further transactions. The individual exposures 

are grouped according to the number of days in 

default and the legal status of invoices.

The scope of external services and service-pro-

viders used for risk management was widened 

to mitigate future risks. One segment of clients 

has loan insurance contracts, while a new 

service provider was brought in to help rate 

clients in Central and Eastern Europe more 

effectively.

There is centralised risk and receivables 

management for foreign subsidiaries once they 

join the central IT system.

With the higher headcount in Collections more 

emphasis is now placed on proactive client 

management. 

The calculation of impairment reflects an esti-

mate on the extent of the likely loss for the 

Group from exposures to clients. The majority 

of the impairment is made up from individual 

impairment charges on individually significant 
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items. The other part is the group impairment, 

which is recorded for incurred but as yet uniden-

tified losses in groups of similar assets. The 

allocation of group impairment is facilitated by 

historic loss figures.

(b) liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will be 

unable to settle its financial liabilities when they 

fall due. The purpose of liquidity management is 

to ensure sufficient resources for the settlement 

of liabilities when they fall due.

To manage liquidity, in 2011, the Group entered 

into an agreement with a factoring company 

whose services are used as required. In view 

of the Group’s outstanding liquidity position 

as at December 31, 2016, and December 31, 

2017, the Group did not have to use either its 

revolving loan or factored loan facility. Accord-

ingly, the Group had an available loan facility of 

EUR 29.04 million at December 31, 2017 and an 

unused factoring facility of EUR 5 million. 

With respect to the new asset purchase loans 

taken by the Group in 2014 and in 2016 as part 

of an export incentive programme, the lending 

banks specified the following financial cove-

nants.

Calculation of financial covenants for 2017:

Interest coverage  (eur million)

Total interest coverage 17.75

EBITDA 82.32

Net of the full interest 4.64

Minimum amount: 4.00

debt service (eur million)

Debt service ratio 1.19

Free cash flow 84.62

Full debt repayment 71.34

Minimum amount: 1.05

net debt service (eur million)

Debt coverage ratio 2.77

Net debt(1) 228.21

EBITDA 82.32

Maximum amount: 3.50

The table above shows that Waberer’s Group 

met all the three financial ratio requirements on 

December 31, 2017.

(c) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes in market 

prices, such as exchange rates, interest rates 

and share prices, will influence the Group’s 

results and the fair values of financial instru-

ments reported in the financial statements. 

The purpose of managing market risk is to 

control the exposure affected by market risks in 

a way that maximises the return achieved. The 

Group’s treasury department focuses on market 

risk management.

In terms of market risk the Group is primarily 

exposed to exchange rate risks as well as cash-

flow risks derived from changes to interest rates 

and the global fuel price. The Waberer’s Group 

is exposed to substantial market risks during 

its activity. The actual figures subsequently 

calculated generally differ from the exchange 

rates, interest rates, share, other security and 

commodity prices used during the planning. 

Transactions concluded for hedging purposes 

but not included in hedge accounting are 

designed to protect the Group from this uncer-

tainty, particularly from impacts adversely 

affecting planned cash flow. 

Besides, the Group uses a fuel price covenant in 

its transportation contracts in order to mitigate 

its exposure to fuel price fluctuations.

(i) exchange rate risk
Of all the market risks, the Group was less 

affected by exchange rate risk in 2017 as most 

of the Group’s revenues and expenses of the 

companies within the Group incurred in its func-

tional currency. At some Group members, the 

functional currency is RON and PLN, and it is 

HUF at the only domestic logistics company. 

Therefore, fluctuations in the RON/EUR, PLN/

EUR and HUF/EUR rates represent a currency 

risk for the Group. The ratio and volume of trans-

actions in foreign currencies and in the func-

tional currencies differ. Costs incurring in foreign 

currencies exceed the revenues earned in foreign 

currencies. Costs that incur in foreign curren-

cies and are not covered with corresponding 

revenues (natural cover) are held as an open 

FX position, the value of which changes along 

with the relevant FX rate fluctuations. Such FX 

expenses related to FX rate fluctuations repre-

sent uncertainty to the Group’s cash flows and 

 2016  2017 

Impact of different tax rates (local business tax) 3,909,325 3,969,653

Effects of permanent differences  
(penalties, levies)

196,010 213,105

Development tax allowance  
(permanent difference)

(225,066) (261,172)

Usage of losses carried forward (916,088) (1,582,876)

Other 318,524  (173,122)

Total 3,282,705 2,165,588
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are therefore addressed with FX hedges that 

qualify for hedge accounting (cash flow hedges) 

under IFRS. 

(ii) Interest cash flow risk
The Group pays interest on leases and loans. 

The interest payable generally comprises a 

reference interest rate and an interest premium. 

The reference rate changes constantly based 

on supply and demand on the interbank money 

market, central bank decisions and other 

factors.

Waberer’s Group does not enter into specula-

tive derivative contracts, but hedge accounting 

is not applied for any of the concluded contracts 

either given that it has yet to elaborate the 

documentation requirements and hedge effec-

tiveness testing system that is needed for this. 

The basic rule is still that trades may not focus 

on one partner and must be diversified.

(d) equity management
The Group aims to establish a strong equity 

position to retain the confidence of investors, 

creditors and the market and support the future 

development of its business activities. The 

Group continuously monitors returns and the 

level of dividends due to owners. 

The Group’s Board of Directors strives to strike 

a balance between the advantages of a strong 

equity position, security, and higher borrowings 

enabling higher returns. 

There was no change in equity management 

processes and methods during 2016 or in 2017.

Legal regulations applicable for the Group 

and its Hungarian subsidiaries prescribe the 

following provisions for equity:

To protect creditors, section 133(2) of Act V of 

2013 on the Civil Code prescribes the following 

in terms of equity compliance: “If a business 

association’s equity is not sufficient to cover 

the subscribed capital prescribed for its specific 

corporate form over two consecutive finan-

cial years, and the members fail to provide for 

the necessary equity within a period of three 

months after approval of the annual account for 

the second year, the business association shall 

be required to adopt a decision within sixty days 

of this deadline for its transformation. Instead 

of transformation the business association may 

opt for dissolution without succession or for 

merger.”

Except for the domestic franchise entities, all 

other domestic Group companies meet the 

statutory capitalisation requirements. With 

respect to the non-compliant franchise compa-

nies, on February 15, 2018, the Board of Directors 

decided to buy out all the minority shareholders 

and asked Group management to develop and 

implement the necessary equity rectification 

methods. 

In accordance with Government Decree 

261/2011. (XIII.7.) the professional conditions and 

licensing procedures of domestic and interna-

tional goods transportation, such activities may 

only be carried out in Hungary with a licence for 

transporting goods by road, which is subject to 

the Group verifying its reputation, professional 

suitability and appropriate financial back-

ground. 

The financial position is appropriate if the busi-

ness entity has the necessary equity to start and 

pursue its activities without any problems: 

i.  equity (wealth) for a vehicle (trailer) or for the 

first vehicle (trailer) is at least EUR 9,000 and 

for every additional vehicle (trailer) at least 

EUR 5,000 and 

ii.   the Group constantly meets its tax, customs 

duty and contribution payment requirements as 

well as its payment requirements to the trans-

port authority.

The Hungarian members of the Group engaged 

in road transportation activities have the 

required level of capitalisation.
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december 31, 2016 december 31, 2017

initial cost impairment initial cost impairment

Not yet due 79,983,882 0 105,710,080 0

overdue by 0-90 days 7,652,531 6,585 12,063,861 5,503

overdue by 91-180 days 246,421 78,816 878,442 114,879

overdue by 181-360 days 284,695 179,996 577,968 108,095

overdue 360 days  or more 1,857,011 1,632,625 2,683,426 2,343,824

Trade receivables 90,024,540 1,898,022 121,913,777 2,572,300

Impairment loss on trade receivables broken down by maturity:

Based on historic loss figures, the Group does 

not consider it necessary to record impairment 

loss on trade receivables that are not overdue 

or overdue by no more than 90 days, unless the 

given receivable is already subject to collection 

or the client is under liquidation. The majority 

of trade receivables balance is from financially 

sound clients.

35. FInanCIal InStruMentS
(a) Credit risk

Maximum exposure to credit risk of the Group is as follows:

december 31, 2016 december 31, 2017

Other investments 931,022 130,447

Trade receivables 88,126,518 119,341,477

Other current assets and derivative financial 
instruments

18,675,697 15,590,925

Cash and cash equivalents 31,665,305 58,997,190

Other financial investments – debt instruments 
– long term

26,306,728 37,705,654

Maximum credit risk exposure 165,705,270 231,765,693

Geographical breakdown of maximum carrying value of the Group’s credit risk exposure to 

customers:

 december 31, 2016 december 31, 2017

Domestic 38,627,352 49,742,503

EU countries 49,485,050 69,598,974

Non-EU countries 14,156 0

Maximum credit risk exposure 88,126,558 119,341,477

The maximum possible exposure to credit risk is the balance of trade receivables, which increased 

from 2014 to 2016 and from 2016 to 2017 as a result of an expanded fleet and acquisitions.
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(b) liquidity risk

Monetary liabilities broken down by maturity:

december 31, 2016

eur within  
6 months 6-12 months 1-2 years 2-5 years over  

5 years

Financial lease liabilities 31,227,490 34,644,610 52,644,966 108,621,453 977,770

Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0 0 0

Short-term loans 6,359,057 8,622,375 0 0 0

Trade payables 83,999,380 0 0 0 0

Other current liabilities 
and derivative financial 
instruments

12,802,827 0 0 0 0

Total 134,388,754 43,266,985 52,644,966 108,621,453 977,770

december 31, 2017

eur within  
6 months 6-12 months 1-2 years 2-5 years over  

5 years

Financial lease liabilities 40,774,940 40,653,926 91,871,107 112,343,857 2,541,665

Other long-term liabilities 0 0 6,448,045 0 0

Short-term loans 5,209,370 0 0 0 0

Trade payables 114,439,260 0 0 0 0

Other current liabilities 
and derivative financial 
instruments

19,165,853 0 0 0 0

Total 179,589,423 40,653,926 98,319,152 112,343,857 2,541,665

(c) Foreign exchange risk

Group exposures broken down by currency:

 
december 31, 2016

eur HuF other total

Trade receivables 64,958,306 22,216,149 952,063 88,126,518

Loans and borrowing (14,981,432) 0 0 (14,981,432)

Other long-term liabilities 0 0 0 0

Finance leases (219,661,364) (8,454,925) 0 (228,116,289)

Trade payables (65,634,739) (18,020,239 (344,402) (83,999,380)

Other financial investments - debt 
instruments - long term

0 (26,306,728) 0 (26,306,728)

Net position (235,319,229) (30 565 743) 607,661 (265,277,311)
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The Group’s receivables and liabilities were 

converted at the following year-end rates: 310.14 

HUF/EUR, 4.65886 RON/EUR, and 4.17135 PLN/

EUR. The business plan for 2017 was based on a 

projected rate of 310 HUF/EUR.

Remeasuring the open currency position as at 

December 31, 2017 in the event of a weakening in 

the exchange rate of 1 HUF/EUR would produce 

a foreign exchange loss of HUF 13.2 million. A 

reasonably probable foreign exchange fluctua-

tion in the range of 0.85%-1.52%  is estimated 

based on historic figures over a year.

The expected loss from the re-measurement 

of currency positions outlined above does not 

reflect the real foreign currency risk, since if the 

euro strengthens against the forint and the lei, 

the exchange gain on the Group’s sales revenue 

in euros compensates for any exchange loss on 

the currency positions.

The Group enters into derivative contracts to 

mitigate the exchange rate risk. As at December 

31, 2017, the positive fair value of derivative 

transactions based on remeasurements on the 

reporting date was EUR 1,763,853, the negative 

fair value difference was EUR 515,399. In 2016, 

the Group presented a total of EUR 3,140,287 net 

positive fair value difference and EUR 1,166,961 

negative fair value difference in its consolidated 

financial statements. 

december 31, 2017

eur HuF other total

Trade receivables 90,536,299 23,844,204 4,960,974 119 341,477

Loans and borrowing (5,209,370) 0 0 (5,209,370)

Other long-term liabilities 6,448,045 0 0 6,448,045

Finance leases (288,185,493) 0 0 (288,185,493)

Trade payables (87,901,021) (17,868,944) (8,669,295)  (114,439,260)

Other financial investments - debt 
instruments - long term

0 (19,165,853) 0 (19,165,853)

Net position (284,311,540) - 13 190 593 (3,708,321) (301,210,454)
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(d) Fair value of financial instruments 

The following table presents the fair values and carrying values of financial instruments for 2016 

and 2017:

eur 2016 2017

Fair value book value Fair value book value

Non-current assets - debt instruments 26,306,728 26,306,728 37,705,654 37,705,654

Non-current assets - equity instruments 17,994,385 17,994,385 5,663,729 5,663,729

Other non-current financial assets 931,022 931,022 130,447 130,447

Trade receivables 88,126,518 88,126,518 119,341,477 119,341,477

Other current assets and derivative 
financial instruments

16,529,614 16,529,614 15,590,925 15,590,925

Cash and cash equivalents 31,665,305 31,665,305 58,997,190 58,997,190

Total financial assets 162,877,875 162,877,875 237,429,422 237,429,422

Long-term loans 0 0 0 0

Finance lease liabilities 228,116,289 228,116,289 288,185,490 288,185,490

Other long-term liabilities 0 0 6,448,045 6,448,045

Short-term loans 14,981,432 14,981,432 5,209,370 5,209,370

Trade payables 83,999,380 83,999,380 114,439,260 114,439,260

Other current liabilities and derivative 
financial instruments

12,207,264 12,207,264 18,268,369 18,268,369

Other insurance technical provision  
- short term

6,963,110 6,963,110 3,864,798 3,864,798

Total financial liabilities 346,267,475  346,267,475 436,415,336 436,415,336

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities is 

always the same as their value recognised in the 

statement of financial position.

The fair values of financial instruments were 

determined as follows:

•   Fair  value  of  trade  receivables: discounted 

value of future cash flows of receivables 

based on the market interest rate on the 

reporting date. Due to the fact that the turn-

over of receivables is fast there is no effect 

of the discounting. As the debtor turnover is 

quick, discounting has no effect whatsoever.

•   Fair  value  of  derivative  transactions: deter-

mined using a measurement technique based 

solely on market inputs. 

•  Fair value of finance lease liabilities and loans: 

present value of future cash flows calculated 

based on the market interest rate on reporting 

date. The market interest rate used to discount 

finance leases is determined with reference to 

similar finance lease agreements.

•   Fair  value  of  trade  payables: future cash 

flows discounted to the reporting date. Due to  

the fact that the turnover of payables is fast 

there is no effect of the discounting.

(e) Interest rate risk

Fair value sensitivity review for fixed-
income financial instruments 
The Group generally does not have fixed-in-

come financial assets and liabilities which are 

measured at fair value through profit or loss, nor 

did it conclude interest rate swaps for hedging 

purposes, and so changes in the interest rate 

would not affect the Group’s profit or loss at the 

reporting date.
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Cash flow sensitivity review for floating 
interest financial instruments 
Based on the Group’s analyses a 10 basis point 

change in the EURIBOR would change the 

interest on leasing liabilities by EUR 228,116 and 

The details of provisions per category and  

any movements in provisions are presented in 

Note 16.

litigations 
The following table shows the provisions allo-

cated for legal actions against the Group, broken 

A number of protracted significant legal cases 

ended in 2017 as a result of agreements with 

the injured persons. The related expenses 

are presented among other expenses and 

the related provisions were concurrently 

released.  

       

The German Customs Authority launched an 

investigation for the purpose of the Minimum 

Wage Act (hereinafter MiLog Act) against 

a driver of one of the franchise companies. 

Considering that the investigation has not 

been closed, and there is no decision in the 

case, based on the available information that 

the Company complied with the MilLog regu-

lation, noprovision was made in the consoli-

dated financial statement.

On July 19, 2017 the Group has filed a lawsuit 

before the Munich District Court against 

the interest on loans by EUR 8,622. This change 

would not affect the Group’s profit for the year. 

This analysis assumed that all other factors 

(such as currency exchange rates) remained 

unchanged. 

down by years, and the litigated amount from 

the legal actions for which the Group did not 

allocate provisions (contingent liabilities) after 

deliberating on the information available. In 

these cases it is more likely the case will be won 

than lost, and so no cash outflow is expected. 

certain truck producers (MAN, Volvo/Renault, 

Daimler (Mercedes), Iveco and DAF). Based 

on the decision made by the Commission 

certain truck manufacturers mentioned 

above had engaged in a cartel between 

January 17 , 1997, until January 18, 2011, (in case 

of MAN only until September 20, 2010) and as 

such infringed Article 101(1) TFEU by coordi-

nating and exchanging information on gross 

prices, as well as the timing of the introduc-

tion of and the passing on to customers of the 

costs for emissions technology standards, 

and sharing of other commercially sensitive 

information concerning medium and heavy 

trucks in the EEA. The cartel overcharge is to 

be assessed and estimated by a competition 

economist, who has already been employed 

by the Group.

 2016 2017

litigated principal amount litigated principal amount

Provision pre-
sented

Contingent 
liability

 Provision pre-
sented

Contingent 
liability

Total 1,123,086 1,169,552 1,079,464  1,012,978  

36. provISIonS, ContInGent 
lIabIlItIeS and ContInGent aSSetS
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37. tranSaCtIonS wItH related 
partIeS
Members of the management

•  Ferenc Lajkó, CEO

•  Erdélyi Barna, General Deputy CEO

•  Zsolt Barna, Managing Director of Waber-

er’s-Szemerey Kft. and head of the regional 

contracted logistics business line;

•  Bence Nyilasy, Chief Executive Officer of 

Wáberer Hungária Zrt.;

•  Pawel Moder, CEO of Link Sp. z o.o.

Members of the Board of Directors:

name Status date of appointment

Stefan Delacher
independent non-operational  

(external) member 
31. 05. 2011– for  

an indefinite period

Miklós Bethlen
non-independent (delegated by the 
main shareholder) non-operational 

(external) member
31. 05. 2011 - 21. 12. 2017 

Csanád Dániel
non-independent non-operational 

(external) member
01. 08. 2013 - 31. 05. 2017 

Gerard van Kesteren
independent non-operational  

(external) member
29. 07. 2016– for an 

indefinite period 

Ferenc Lajkó
non-independent operational  

member
06. 03. 2017– for an 

indefinite period

Barna Erdélyi
non-independent operational  

member
06. 03. 2017– for an 

indefinite period

Dr Péter Lakatos
independent non-operational  

(external) member
06. 03. 2017– for an 

indefinite period

Robert Knorr
non-independent (delegated by the 
main shareholder) non-operational 

(external) member

21. 12. 2017– for  
an indefinite period

On December 31, 2017 the members of the Board of Directors held the number of shares indicated 

below:

Gerard van Kesteren 3,018 shares

Ferenc Lajkó 11,559 shares

Members of the Supervisory Board and their independence status and dates of appointment in 

2017:

name Status date and duration of appointment

Peter Michael Vincent Grace independent 15. 07. 2016– for an indefinite period

Gabriella Beregszászi independent 15. 07. 2016–31. 05. 2017

Sándor Székely, employees’ 
delegate

non independent 11. 05. 2017– for an indefinite period

Mária Kazuska Szalai,  
employees’ delegate

non independent 31. 05. 2017– for an indefinite period

Philip Marshall independent from 31. 05. 2017– for an indefinite period 

Gábor Béla Nagy independent 31. 05. 2017– for an indefinite period

Dr Zoltán György Bodnár independent 31. 05. 2017– for an indefinite period

Remuneration of senior management in key positions:

 2016 2017

Payroll 1,122,830 1,071,370

Benefits 610 0

Total 1,123,440 1,071,370

Transactions (purchases) with related parties outside of the Group:

 2016 2017

Bilk Logisztikai Zrt.
until May 31, 2016

2,624,455

Wáberer Hungária Biztosító Zrt.  
until the acquisition 

on March 31, 2016
6,166,817

Lászlótanya Kft.
until May 31, 2016

39,388

Közdűlő-Invest Kft.
until the acquisition 

on March 31, 2016
197,734

Invitel Zrt. 33,462

CEE Transport Holding B.V. 1,650,000 825,000

Total 10,711,856 825,000

The members of the Board of Directors receive 

EUR 50,000, the members of Supervisory 

Board are paid EUR 10,000 and the members 

of the Audit Committee receive EUR 5,000 for 

their work.

transactions with companies governed by 
the ultimate parent 
In 2016 a management fee of EUR 1,650,000 

was invoiced by the parent company, into the 

current year a management fee of EUR 825,000 

was invoiced based on a contract. The contract 

was terminated by the Board of Directors after 

the beginning of trading on the Budapest Stock 

Exchange.

Transactions with related parties were always 

carried out under normal commercial condi-

tions and at arm’s length prices, taking into 

account volumes, complexity of service, stand-

ards and seasonality.

transactions with the management and 
those exercising ultimate control 
During the previous year CEE Transport Holding 

BV gained control over Waberer’s International 

Nyrt. and also direct control over its franchise. 

As a result the former CEO-Chairman, owner 

György Wáberer retired and Ferenc Lajkó was 

appointed as a new CEO-Chairman in May 

2016. The former members of the management 

and their contracts were terminated during the 

current year, so transactions with the former 

management and the former exerciser of ulti-

mate control were discontinued. In the second 

half of 2016, the Group’s organisational struc-

ture was reshuffled and the key senior officers 

were appointed. There was no change in senior 

management in 2017.



122 // 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

annual report 2017

123

38. SubSequent eventS

Except for the matter below, there had been 

no economic event or management deci-

sions taken until the preparation of the finan-

cial statements as at December 31, 2017 which 

should have been presented as a subsequent 

event.

On February 21, 2018 the Board of Directors 

approved the changes to the franchise system 

submitted by the professional management 

about the buyout of the shares of the minority 

owners of the franchise subsidiaries. After the 

buyout the minority owners of the franchise 

companies will only fill director positions in the 

franchise companies.

BILK Logisztikai Zrt. and Lászlótanya Kft. were 

related parties until the former CEO-Chairman, 

owner György Wáberer sold his shares in 

Waberer’s International Nyrt. Wáberer Hungária 

Biztosító Zrt. and Közdűlő-Invest Kft. were 

related parties until Waberer’s International 

Nyrt. acquired and then consolidated them. 

 

In 2016, all but one of the contracts with the 

external related parties that existed prior to 

the acquisition were terminated by the Group in 

2016. Following discussions, the property rental 

contract with BILK Zrt. was extended with its 

parent company for a definite period. 

In 2016, CEE Transport Holding B.V., the parent 

company, lent professional support to the 

Group’s new governance function under a 

management contract until the public offering 

of Waberer’s International Zrt.


